Public Document Pack

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK WORKING PARTY
AGENDA
Venue:
Date:
Time:
Contact Officer:

Nicholson Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street,
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ
Tuesday, 21st November, 2017
4.30 pm
Chris Hoban
Tel: 01946 598439

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of the Meeting held on 30 August 2017 - To Follow

4.

Conservation Area Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document And
Sustainability Appraisal

5.

Conservation Area Appraisals

1 - 80
81 - 184

Membership: Councillors David Riley (Chair), John Bowman (Deputy Chair), John Dirom,
Allan Holliday, John Kane, Michael McVeigh, Brian O'Kane, Graham Roberts and
Graham Sunderland
Contacts:

Direct Dial:
E-mail:
Website:

01946 598439
chris.hoban@copeland.gov.uk
www.copeland.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
LDF 211117

CONSERVATION AREA DESIGN GUIDE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT AND
SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL

EXECUTIVE MEMBER:

Councillor Alan Holliday

LEAD OFFICER:

Chris Hoban

REPORT AUTHOR:

Charlotte Brown

PURPOSE OF REPORT
To inform Members of the minor changes that are proposed to the Conservation Area Design
Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) following the statutory consultation which
took place between Monday 10 July and Friday 18 August 2017, and recommend their
approval.
RECOMMENDATION
That Members consider and agree the minor changes made to the Conservation Area Design
Guide SPD and recommend that the Guide be presented at Full Council on 5th December 2017
with a recommendation that the Guide is adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document to
the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The Council commissioned a piece of work to promote and encourage good design in
the historic environment of its eight conservation areas of Whitehaven Town Centre,
Corkickle, Hensingham, Cleator Moor, St Bees, Egremont, Beckermet and Millom.

1.2

The Design Guide is aimed at providing owners, developers, agents and designers of
property and land within the Borough’s Conservation Areas with guidance, advice and
instructions on how to approach issues such as improvement, maintenance and
repair.

1.3

The Design Guide provides a definition of a Conservation Area and a brief outline of
the legislation covering Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings. It goes on to include
information on generic design, repair and maintenance principles and guidance;
individual characteristics and guidance for each conservation areas as well as useful
information, references and contacts.

1

Page 1

1.4

In June 2017, the Council approved the draft Conservation Area Design Guide for a sixweek consultation period between Monday 10th July and Friday 18th August 2017.

1.5

A number of minor amendments have been proposed to the draft Conservation Area
Design Guide SPD following the public consultation and the amended Design Guide
can be found at Appendix 1.

1.6

Appendix 2 shows all representations made along with the Council’s response to those
representations, whether any changes have been made to the Design Guide as a result
and if so, the nature of those changes made.

1.7

Appendix 3 shows the unchanged accompanying Sustainability Appraisal since its draft
form as no representation were received regarding the SA.

1.8

It is expected that the SPD will be formally adopted on 5th December 2017, Subject to
the LDF Working Party recommending to Full Council that the Guide is approved and
adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).

2.0

DRAFT CONSERVATION AREA DESIGN GUIDE SPD STATUTORY CONSULTATION,
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED AND AMENDMENTS MADE

2.1

SPDs are used to provide further detail and guidance on the implementation of policies
and proposals contained in the Copeland Local Plan.

2.2

SPDs are non-statutory documents which are not subject to an independent
examination and do not have Development Plan status. However, they are subject to
a thorough process of public consultation, in accordance with the Council’s Revised
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 2016 and must also be consistent with
national and local planning policies.

2.3

The Council embarked on a statutory public consultation exercise for a six-week period
between Monday 10th July and Friday 18th August 2017.

2.4

The form provided for comments applied a simple format inviting respondents to
indicate which page and section the comment related to, whether the comment is in
support, objecting to or simply making a comment and the detail of the comment
made.

2.5

A total of 13 representations have been received. The Conservation Area Design Guide
Working Group met on two separate occasions to discuss the representations received
and whether the Design Guide should be amended based on those representations.

2.6

As a result, a small number of minor changes have been made to the document and
these changes include:
2

Page 2







Adding preferred types of roof slate material to be used;
General formatting of the SPD;
Additions to list of contacts and useful links at appendix 3;
Additional ground surface photos at section 10;
Inclusion of removal of or works to trees at section 10.3 and appendix 2.

2.6

No comments related to the Sustainability Appraisal and the SA therefore, remains
unchanged.

2.7

Subject to LDF Working Party recommendation and Full Council approval, the Design
Guide will be adopted as an SPD as part of the Copeland Local Plan. The SPD will be a
material planning consideration for decision makers when determining planning
applications within or in close proximity to the boundary of conservation areas in
Copeland.

3.0

CONCLUSION

3.1

Members are being given the opportunity to consider a summary of representations
made and the subsequent proposed changes made to the final Conservation Area
Design Guide.

3.2

Members are asked to recommend that the Guide be presented at Full Council in
December 2017 with a recommendation that the Design Guide is adopted as a
Supplementary Planning Document to the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.

APPENDICES


Appendix One: Amended Conservation Area Design Guide Supplementary Planning
Document December 2017



Appendix Two: Statutory Consultation Comments Table



Appendix Three: Sustainability Appraisal

3

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 5

CONSERVATION AREA DESIGN GUIDE
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT DECEMBER 2017

Page 6
Photographs on front cover:
Clockwise from top left: Main Street, Egremont; Front Corkickle; Sandstone barn, Main Street, St Bees; Former YMCA restored as a foyer, Irish Street,
Whitehaven; Terraced houses, Main Street, St Bees.

FOREWORD BY
COUNCILLOR MICHAEL McVEIGH
HERITAGE CHAMPION, COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Borough of Copeland is home to many settlements that boast a wealth of heritage assets. We have many traditional buildings and street patterns that
contribute to the unique character of the Borough’s landscape. The centres of those towns and villages that have significant architectural and historic value
have been designated as conservation areas, giving these special places the additional protection they need and deserve.

Page 7

Copeland Borough Council has commissioned this Conservation Area Design Guide to help property owners, designers and builders understand the value of
the heritage within our conservation areas, and to ensure that repairs, reinstatements and alterations are undertaken in a way that preserves these important
assets.
As Heritage Champion, I fully endorse the design principles and guidance that this document sets out. We need to ensure our heritage is enhanced and
protected for the benefit of our residents and visitors, and for current and future generations to enjoy.

This document is available in different formats such as large print, braille, audio or in a
different language by calling 01946 598300.

CONTENTS
PAGE NO.

Introduction

1

Conservation Area Descriptions

2

Architectural Elements Covered
by this Design Guide

5

Page 8

1.
1.1
1.2
1.2.1
1.2.2
1.2.3
1.2.4
1.2.5
1.2.6
1.3
1.4
2.
2.1
2.2
3.
4.

Shopfronts and Advertising
Traditional Shopfronts
Fascias, Signage and Illumination
Fascias
Projecting Signs
Window Signs
Wall Signs
Lettering
Illumination
Security
Awnings
Windows and Doors
Windows
Doors
Walls and Wall Finishes
Roofs and Chimneys

5
6
7
7
7
8
8
8
9
10
10
11

Conclusions

23

Glossary of Architectural Terms

24

Bibliography

26

PAGE NO.

4.1
4.2
5.
5.1
5.2
6.
7.
8.
9.
9.1
9.2
10.
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4

Roofs
Chimneys
Dormer Windows and Roof Lights
Dormer Windows
Rooflights
Soil and Rainwater Goods
Paint Colours
External Equipment on Buildings
Lighting
Shopfronts and other Commercial
Properties
Residential Properties
Frontages and Garden Areas
Garden and Frontage Walls
Front Railings and Gates
Trees in Conservation Areas
Ground Surfaces

Appendices
1. Conservation Area Maps
2. Relevant Policies & Legislation
3. Contacts & Useful Links

13
13
14
15
16
17
19

20
21
21
21
22
22

28
36
39

INTRODUCTION
CONSERVATION AREAS
There are nine conservation areas in the
Copeland Borough Council area, of which
Beckermet, Cleator Moor, Corkickle, Egremont,
Hensingham, Millom, St. Bees and Whitehaven
are administered by the council. Ravenglass
conservation area lies within the Lake District
National Park and is administered by the Lake
District National Park Authority.

Page 9

Conservation areas are parts of our towns and
villages which are rich in historic buildings and
features. Rustic vernacular buildings are just as
much part of our heritage as classic architecture
and the conservation areas of Copeland have
both.
Conservation areas are defined in law as:
“Areas of special architectural or historic interest,
the character or appearance of which it is
desirable to preserve or enhance”
(s69 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990)
The designation of a conservation area
demonstrates a commitment by the local
planning authority to protect and enhance its
character. The character of a conservation area
depends upon the quality and interest of all of its
constituent parts: groups of buildings, individual
buildings and the streets and spaces between
them. Together they combine to create an area’s
special character, and therefore the purpose of a

conservation area is to conserve the quality of an
entire area, whilst being aware of the balance
and relationships between the various
component parts.
Under current legislation, conservation area
designation automatically brings the following
works under planning control (See Appendix 2 for
further details):
- demolition of buildings
- removal of or works to trees
- development that may be permitted elsewhere,
for example some house extensions.
Planning applications for development in
conservation areas are normally made in full,
rather than as outline applications. This is so that
the full impact of development on the character
of a conservation area can be properly assessed.
Please contact us for planning advice (see page
37 Contacts).

PURPOSE OF THE DESIGN GUIDE
Conservation areas are not intended simply as
obstacles to change, but to ensure that change is
managed sensitively.
The purpose of this Design Guide is to help
property owners, designers and developers to
achieve good, respectful design and thus protect
1

the heritage that we share. It provides examples
of authentic architectural components, that
contribute to the streetscape of the conservation
areas and demonstrate what should be retained,
and how new building elements should be
designed and constructed to sensitively make
their contribution whilst not harming the historic
environment.
This Design Guide has been adopted by Copeland
Borough Council as a Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) to guide future development
and assist the Council in managing change within
and in the setting of the eight conservation areas
it administers. The SPD will act as a material
planning consideration for decision makers when
determining planning applications within, or in
close proximity to, the conservation area
boundary.
It should be read in conjunction with the relevant
local and national policy documents outlined in
Appendix 2.
The descriptive text within the Architectural
Elements section of the guide provides the
context of the traditional architecture and design
that make our conservation areas special.
The design guidelines are summarised in bold
italics at the end of each section.

CONSERVATION AREA
DESCRIPTIONS

middle of the village as it meanders past the front
of the White Mare Hotel.

office, built in red sandstone, and the more
recently constructed Civic Hall.

Terraces of cottages in Beckermet.

Library in the central square of Cleator Moor.

The village largely consists of informal terraces of
traditional sandstone and rendered cottages,
interspersed with double fronted Georgian style
detached properties, and a number of farms with
traditional sandstone farm buildings within the
‘village envelope’.

Further imposing, predominantly rendered
buildings, face the square from across the
surrounding streets. The Phoenix Centre on
Jacktrees Road features a long iron framed glass
canopy.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE
ARCHITECTURE OF COPELAND

Page 10

The buildings of West Cumbria are predominantly
sandstone and frequently finished in render. A
very common feature is the use of stone
dressings around windows and doorways. Early
examples of rendered elevations are in lime
based mortar, usually with a smooth lime painted
finish in pastel or earth pigment colours.
Roughcast or harling was used more as a
protective finish on random coursed or rubble
stone masonry and examples of this can be found
on more ‘rustic’ buildings. Where the owner
wished their property to make a statement of
wealth or importance, the smooth render was
‘lined’ to imitate ashlar masonry.
Corporate and municipal buildings such as banks,
council offices, schools and railway buildings
tended to be built of dressed sandstone,
predominantly red from local quarries. In Millom
slate was also used as a building stone for banks
and other larger commercial buildings.
Roofing
materials
were
traditionally
Westmorland slate and later Welsh slate. More
recently many roofs have been replaced in clay or
concrete tiles.

BECKERMET
A village of rural character that grew up around
the confluence of two streams, Kirk Beck and
Black Beck, with the latter giving character to the

Phoenix Centre in Cleator Moor.
Sandstone cottages in Beckermet.

CLEATOR MOOR
Cleator Moor conservation area is centred upon a
formal square upon which stand the library, the
former council offices, now the town council
2

CORKICKLE
This is an extremely attractive and well
maintained conservation area with many fine two
and three storey Georgian town houses in
terraces.

EGREMONT

Town houses in Front Corkickle.

Holly Terrace in Hensingham.

MILLOM
The conservation area in Millom radiates out
from Market Square with its domed clock tower
and rendered buildings on either side.

Page 11

The walls are generally smooth rendered with
ashlar lining and finished in colourful pastel
shades with decorative white stone features –
porticos, window dressings, hood moulds and
quoins. Fine panels of railings guard house
frontages and entrance steps.

Egremont is a planned town with the wide Main
Street running on a north / south axis leading to
the Market Place close to Egremont Castle. Main
Street accommodates most of the town’s retail
and commercial businesses in two and three
storey buildings and is central to the town’s
conservation area. The streetscape is colourful
with many rendered elevations in a variety of
mainly pastel shades, interspersed with
prominent red sandstone properties.

Along Inkerman Terrace there are large Victorian
semi-detached properties and further impressive
terraces with frontages rising up from the main
road.
Main Street in Egremont.

The mature trees that line Main Street contribute
to the special character of this conservation area.

HENSINGHAM
The conservation area of Hensingham is centred
on the junction of Main Street with Egremont
Road. The most notable architectural features of
this conservation area are the terraces of fine
Georgian town houses rising up Main Street.
Inkerman Terrace in Corkickle.

3

Former Market Hall in Market Square, Millom.

Facing Market Square are imposing three storey
commercial buildings in slate masonry with
sandstone dressings.
The streets in the
conservation area mostly consist of terraces of
rendered shops and houses, with occasional
detached sandstone administrative buildings.
Many of the shopfronts retain their original
features, including pilasters, console brackets,
fascias and cornices.

One of the attractions of Millom’s conservation
area is the extent of grassland which relieves the
otherwise urban streetscape.

conservation area to the north of the village,
separated by flat open meadows and playing
fields.

St Bees School.

Park with avenue of trees on St Georges Road, Millom.

Page 12

WHITEHAVEN

ST BEES
This long linear village is attractive in appearance,
with terraces of colourful rendered cottages
ascending the sloping street, interspersed with
some fine town houses, with attractive
architectural detailing, and a small number of
village shops.

Terraces of cottages in St Bees.

The imposing red sandstone buildings of St Bees
School and St Bees Priory lie within the

proportioned, predominantly pastel coloured
rendered properties.

Three storey hotel in Church Street, Whitehaven.

The character of the architecture in the
Whitehaven
conservation
area
is
comprehensively described in the Whitehaven
Town Centre and High Street Conservation Areas
Character Appraisal:
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/a
ttachments/ldfwhaventcandhstconservationareac
a09.pdf
Whitehaven is a fine Georgian town, planned by
the Lowther family during the 17th and 18th
centuries. Sir John Lowther ruled that the houses
should be built in continuous rows with frontages
directly against the street and the number of
storeys restricted to three, although the actual
height of the buildings varied. The resulting
residential, commercial and administrative
buildings created a model town of well
4

The conservation area includes the long harbour
walls and harbourside maritime buildings.

Sculpture celebrating the maritime history of Whitehaven.

The south-east corner of the conservation area
has a curtilage of woods and open land around
Whitehaven Castle, which has been redeveloped
as individual apartments.

ARCHITECTURAL ELEMENTS

period, creating a vertical emphasis. The area
below the shop windows is called a stallriser.

1 SHOPFRONTS AND ADVERTISING

This illustration of a Georgian shopfront is based
upon 19 Roper Street, a double fronted shop with
a central shop doorway between shop windows
with small panes on either side.

1.1 TRADITIONAL SHOPFRONTS
The historic shopfronts in the conservation areas
of Copeland date from the Georgian and
Victorian periods.
The illustrations show examples of shopfronts in
their original form, so that when repair or
reinstatement of an historic shopfront is being
considered, it can be designed as an authentic
restoration of a period shopfront.

Page 13

Shopfronts from the Georgian period, 1714-1837
generally consist of a narrow fascia, protected
under a projecting cornice and pilasters at either
side of the shopfront. There is normally a capital
at the top of the pilaster, which appears to
support the fascia above. At the foot of each
pilaster, there is generally a plinth, projecting
slightly from the front and sides of the pilaster.

The illustration below of a shopfront from the
Victorian period, 1837-1901, demonstrates how
the glazing format was influenced by the
availability of larger panes of glass, where
windows were subdivided into two, three and
occasionally four vertical panes and the glazing
bars were replaced by thicker mullions to support
the heavier panes of glass. This framing was
often finished with curved heads. Decorative
console brackets or corbels, appearing to support
the fascia, became a regular feature, as did the
splayed recess for the shop doorway. The
illustration shows a single fronted shop, dated
1860, with its recessed entrance door on one side
of the shop window.

Typical Georgian Shopfront.

The shop windows were divided by moulded
wooden glazing bars, to incorporate the small
panes of glass that were available during this

19 Roper Street, Whitehaven, 1974.

The floor level of the shop is raised above street
level by approximately 600 mm, and the shop
doorway is accessed by four steps. A photograph
of 19 Roper Street taken in 1974 shows basement
windows set into the stallriser below the shop
windows.
There are other examples of basements
protruding above street level in Whitehaven. To
the right of the shop window is a doorway, also
with four steps, to access the residential
accommodation on the first and second floors.
This separate access to the upper floors is fairly
common.
5

Typical Victorian Shopfront.

Few of the surviving shopfronts are unaltered
through loss of historic architectural features or
by addition of modern features.
The most common loss of features is the removal
of glazing bars to allow large plate glass windows
to be installed, the removal of the vertical
pilasters at either side of the shopfront that serve
to frame it and the removal of the console
brackets (also sometimes referred to as corbels)
at the top of the vertical pilasters.

Loss of historic features: pilasters each side of shopfront
have been removed and the sign spoils the proportions of
the shop window instead of occupying the traditional fascia
above.

All historic shopfront joinery is to be retained
and repaired or otherwise reinstated in its
original form.

Page 14

The most frequent and intrusive modern addition
is the installation of much deeper fascia boards
with lettering or advertising which is out of scale
and character with the conservation area.
These changes reduce the attraction of a retail
area by presenting a mediocre appearance that
gradually diminishes its historic character. In
places where original shopfronts have been
retained, they make a valuable contribution to
the visitor’s and shopper’s experience.

Historic shopfronts where all the original features have been
retained.

A shopfront should relate to the architectural
characteristics of the building to which it
belongs, so that it forms part of the elevation
rather than a separate element. It should
correspond to the upper floors in proportion,
scale and vertical alignment and it should
respect the architectural style of the building.
The shopfront design should also reflect the
scale and proportion of the streetscape and
adjoining properties.

corporate image should be modified to suit the
particular location.

1.2 FASCIAS, SIGNAGE AND ILLUMINATION
1.2.1 Fascias
In the Georgian and Victorian periods the narrow
fascia, together with the pilasters on either side
and the sill and stallriser below the shop window,
framed the window, the view of the goods on
display and the entrance into the shop.
Generally, traditional shopfronts have a balanced
appearance and the narrow fascia boards
contribute to this.

This deep corporate brand sign replaces the original fascia,
cornice etc. and destroys the balance of the shopfront.

Deep fascia boards destroy this historical
continuity in a conservation area, particularly
where they are fixed over the narrow fascia of a
traditional shopfront and conceal the decorative
joinery around the original fascia. Visually these
deep fascia boards, which seek to attract the
shopper’s attention, upset the historic
proportions of the shopfronts by introducing a
strong horizontal band into the elevation, which
traditionally had a vertical emphasis.
National and regional retailers’ standard design
may be out of character with the conservation
area in scale, style and colour, in which case the
6

Corporate signage can be modified to conform to the
proportions and character of a conservation area.

Avoid deep fascia boards and lettering that is
out of scale or character with conservation
areas.

Signs suspended from a gallows frame should
be anchored to prevent them from swinging
in high winds, generating unwelcome noise.
Projecting box construction signs have no
historic precedent and should be avoided.

1.2.2 Projecting Signs
Projecting signs do have historic precedent and
can be a means of advertising a business at a
property which does not have a shop window.
Such signs are acceptable if simple principles are
followed to conform to the historic precedent.
Projecting signs should be limited to one per
business, should be proportionate to the scale
and design of the elevation and where
possible positioned above the entrance door.

Page 15

It is important that projecting signs should be
sited carefully, so as not to obscure views from
windows, or conceal any nearby projecting sign.

1.2.3 Window Signs
Window signs are not without precedent.
Grocers would sometimes advertise their
produce by writing on their shop windows in
whitewash.
Window signs on shop windows can be
acceptable in conservation areas, provided
that they are proportionate to the area of
glass upon which they are applied and that
they do not overwhelm the shop front.
Carefully designed individual letters or
shapes applied to glass may be acceptable if
they are of the highest quality.
Etched glass may also be acceptable provided
it is not used on historic glass.

Simple hanging sign with
wrought iron bracket,
anchored to prevent swinging.

Projecting box sign and
projecting sign illuminated
by bulky strip-lights.

Projecting signs should be supported on cast
or wrought iron frames and be constructed in
timber or metal sheet with painted lettering.

Window signs fill the shop windows, completely concealing
the shop interior and the merchandise within.
7

Discrete window signage that does not overwhelm the
shopfront and allows full visibility into the premises.

1.2.4 Wall Signs
Advertising on the wall surfaces of premises
varies from painting lettering directly onto the
masonry to fixing hoardings or superimposed
lettering onto the elevations. This may be an
option where a business is in a property which
does not have a shop window.
Painted wall signs - although there are historic
examples of painting signs onto masonry, doing
so now in conservation areas is likely to have an
adverse impact, unless the scale of the sign is in
proportion to the elevation upon which it will be
painted and it does not harm the appearance of
the building and those beside it.
Signboards and superimposed lettering - the
same principles apply to fixing these forms of
signage onto buildings. The signs themselves
become elevational elements in their own right
and should be sized and positioned to balance
with the door and window openings and any
other built feature in the elevation.

or projecting signs and this approach is preferred
in a conservation area.

1.2.6 Illumination
Careful consideration should be given to
illumination of fascias and signage which is
considered in section 9.1.

1.3 SECURITY

Busy wall signage distracting from an otherwise balanced
elevation.

Corporate brand signs with lettering that completely
disregards the location within a conservation area.

Traditional shopfronts often consist of smaller
panes of glass than modern shopfronts with the
panes often subdivided by mullions and transoms
and raised above street level by the existence of
stallrisers below the glass. This format can
contribute to shopfront security and reduce the
cost of replacing broken panes.

Page 16

Glass in ‘critical locations’ - in doors, beside doors
and close to ground level - is controlled by Part K
of the Building Regulations. In these critical
locations and where there is no historic glass,
installation of laminated or toughened glass will
be acceptable.
An example of wall signage that is balanced with the
arrangement of window and door openings.

Lettering that is respectful in style and proportion to the
elevation in terms of letter style and position.

Generally, the application of any signage
onto wall surfaces should respect the
symmetry of the elevation, by positioning it
above the entrance door to the premises or
aligning it with the window or door openings
in the elevation.

Signs consisting of individually mounted
letters can be acceptable if the depth of
superimposed letters is relatively shallow to
avoid looking too contemporary for its
historic setting.

1.2.5 Lettering
The design of any lettering should be an integral
part of the overall shopfront design. Historically
lettering was hand painted directly onto fascias

The lettering should be simple and legible
and of an established traditional letter style
or a style that reflects the nature of the
business that it is advertising, provided that it
respects the character of the conservation
area.
8

Larger areas of shop window glass and their
vulnerability to smash and grab have led shop
owners to resort to extreme security measures
including the installation of roller shutters over
their shop windows.

A brutal way to protect a business that is completely alien in
a conservation area.

Roller shutters have a negative impact in
conservation areas and there are alternative ways
to secure retail premises.
Any kind of external roller shutter is not
acceptable in a conservation area.
There are a small number of examples of metal
security gates, in decorative ironwork, guarding
recessed shop entrances in Market Place, James
Street and King Street in Whitehaven, with others
in Cleator Moor and Egremont. They have an
established presence in the respective
conservation areas and any replacement or new
gates will be acceptable, provided that they are
of a traditional appearance and are painted in an
historic colour.

1.4 AWNINGS
There are examples of various types of
retractable shopfront awnings in the retail parts
of the conservation areas of Whitehaven,
Egremont and Millom.
These are historic
features and it is important that they should be
retained.
Where new awnings are to be incorporated
into shopfronts, they should be constructed of
a durable fabric, in a straight format when
extended and retract into a wooden blind
box, recessed below the fascia.

Page 17

A short valance, hanging from the leading edge of
the awning and side curtains, much valued by
retailers wishing to protect their produce from
sunlight, is traditional and can be incorporated in
an awning installation.
There should be clear headroom of 2.4
metres below the fully extended awning to
avoid conflict with pedestrians and vehicles.

A more sensitive approach to shop
window security.

Historic security gate
at shop entrance.

Where additional security can be justified,
then open mesh grilles can be installed on the
inside of the shop window.
Security measures should be proportionate to
the level of risk in a given location and should
be designed to be unobtrusive.

A straight, canvas awning with lattice strut mechanism is a
traditional feature in a conservation area.
9

Dutch awnings, shaped like a pram hood, are
not traditional features and are not
acceptable in a conservation area.

A Dutch awning, although quite attractive, has no historical
precedent in a conservation area.

2 WINDOWS AND DOORS
2.1 Windows
Wooden sash windows became popular in the
early part of the 18th century and are the
predominant style of window in the Borough’s
conservation areas.

Page 18

Georgian windows are recognisable because the
glazing of the sashes was subdivided into small
upright panes by moulded wooden glazing bars.
In the Victorian period, larger panes of glass
became available and as a result glazing bars
became less essential, except in very large sashes,
but were sometimes used to decorative effect at
the head of the upper sash.
Casement windows, hinged on one side, have a
longer history than sash windows and historically
casement windows were installed in simple
vernacular buildings.
Where period windows survive, they should
be retained and repaired rather than
replaced.

Where historic glass exists, it should be retained
wherever possible.
Double glazing has generally been resisted in
conservation areas and listed buildings, on the
basis that thicker, non-traditional glazing bars are
required to secure the double glazed panes.
Much thinner double glazing is now available and
can be considered, provided that traditional thin
glazing bars can be retained.
Where this is not an option, in a multi paned
Georgian sash window for example, secondary
glazing, where a full sheet of glass is fixed in a
separate frame in the internal window opening,
can be installed, subject to approval.
UPVC windows, with their brilliant white, broad,
flat frames and internal or applied glazing bars,
have appeared in significant numbers in the
conservation areas of the Borough, collectively
creating an adverse impact. Their unorthodox
opening mechanisms make an alien appearance
in a conservation area.

Where sash and casement windows need repair,
this can be undertaken by a competent joiner.
Specialist firms exist that can upgrade old sash
and casement windows and increase their
thermal and acoustic performance by fitting
draught seals and weather strips.
Some historic window glass survives in the
conservation areas. These are panes of crown or
cylinder glass, the former recognisable by the
boss effect in the centre of the pane and the
latter by a slight rippling or distortion in the pane.

An example of a late
Georgian double hung
sash window.

A uPVC replacement window
with broad flat frames and an
alien opening light arrangement.

10

The use of mitred joints in the construction of
uPVC windows, rather than the vertical mortice
and tenon joints of timber sash windows, is
another example of why uPVC windows are
inappropriate in a conservation area.
Both uPVC sash windows and mock uPVC
sash windows are an unacceptable
alternative to traditional timber sash
windows.

2.2 Doors
Georgian entrance doors tended to have six
panels and Victorian entrance doors more
commonly had four panels. In both periods,
daylight was transmitted into the entrance hall
via a fanlight above the door. The entrance doors
themselves were rarely glazed. Fanlights were an
opportunity to make a statement in finer
properties, often with curved heads and intricate
patterns of glazing bars.
It is important to ensure that ironmongery on
entrance doors is authentic. Generally, entrance
door handles were round knobs in cast iron, often
facetted and painted black or later in brass. In
higher class properties, the knob was sometimes
sited centrally in the door leaf. Lever door
handles were not fitted to doors of these periods.
Door knockers and letterboxes, either painted or
brass, were generally sited symmetrically.

The use of uPVC and composite doors should
be avoided in conservation areas.

Example of Georgian portico.

Page 19

Decorative surrounds to Georgian and Victorian
entrance doors varied in complexity and
extravagance, depending on the status of the
property.
The revival of interest in the
architecture of Greece and Rome, known as the
Renaissance
period,
influenced
the
ornamentation around the door case by
incorporating classical elements as illustrated in
the drawing of the portico above.

A uPVC door looking
incongruous in a Georgian
door opening.

Example of period door
with central door knob.

Where a period door survives, it should be
retained and repaired rather than be
replaced.

3 WALLS AND WALL FINISHES
Walls in West Cumbria are mostly constructed in
sandstone, originally often finished in lime render
and after 1900 in cement render. It is now
recognised that lime ‘breathes’ where cement is
impervious and prone to cause damp problems.
Bricks were manufactured in Whitehaven and
were used increasingly in loadbearing walls in the
19th century.
The walls of Georgian and Victorian townhouses
and shops in the larger settlements of
Whitehaven, Egremont, Cleator Moor and Millom
were predominantly finished in a smooth lime
render, often referred to as stucco, and if the
property owner wanted to impress, then the
render was neatly incised with lines to imitate
fine ashlar masonry. The influence for this style
was Italian architecture of the 15th and 16th
centuries.

The exponential growth of the uPVC and
composite door industry and their attempts to
reproduce period doors is a threat to the
character of conservation areas.

Rusticated finish to ground
floor masonry, with deeply
incised horizontal lines.

11

Incised lining on stucco to
appear to be ashlar
masonry.

The ground floors of wealthier merchants’ houses
were finished with rusticated masonry, built with
large horizontal joints to emphasise both wealth
and strength.

Traditional wall types, including stone
ornamentation, should be retained, and not
‘modernised’ by replacing the wall finish with
materials having no local historical
precedent.

The appearance of this traditional building has been spoiled
by the retrospective application of roughcast render, which
protrudes beyond the sandstone dressings.
Hamilton Terrace in Corkickle is an example of one of the
finest terraces of houses in Whitehaven.

Page 20

The stonework of more rustic buildings in the
villages was sometimes left unrendered or
rendered in a roughcast or ‘harling’. Dry dashes,
where aggregate is thrown onto a wet base
render, became increasingly popular during the
20th century. Durite dash, consisting of
Canterbury Spar, and Barra Harl, made from
crushed cockle shells, although hard wearing, are
both unattractive and should not be used on
walls in conservation areas where these types of
render do not already exist.

Some buildings in the conservation areas,
churches, municipal buildings, banks etc. are built
in ashlar and coursed red sandstone. In Millom,
some of the equivalent municipal buildings are
built in slate with neat sandstone dressings.
There are also examples of predominantly red
facing brickwork in Millom and Cleator Moor, and
a brick not dissimilar to London Stock bricks in
Corkickle.
All these period wall types, with the exception of
the walls of rustic buildings, exhibit a variety of
classical ornamentation: window and door
surrounds, cornices, string courses, hood moulds
etc. Where these are performing a structural
function, they will usually be in natural stone,
with other more decorative features either in
carved stone or in cast stone, the latter more
likely being used on the less expensive properties.

12

This terrace of houses in Millom is decorated with brick
detailing. The second house from the left has been rendered
in an inappropriate dash finish burying the brick detailing.

4 ROOFS AND CHIMNEYS
4.1 Roofs
The original roofing material of West Cumbria is
Westmorland slate, which is laid in diminishing
courses. When the railway network reached
Cumbria Welsh slate was introduced, which is
lighter in weight and quicker to lay, as the slates
are of a uniform size and are laid in equal
courses. During the 20th century, clay and
concrete tiles were increasingly used and
although laid like slates, they are thicker and have
a more ‘manufactured’ appearance.

Page 21
Westmorland slate roof, with roofs on either side replaced in
tiles.

When any re-roofing is proposed, it should be
undertaken in a colour to match the existing
slate and laid in courses to match the
existing, (so where the existing roof is
Westmorland slate, any new slates should be
laid in diminishing courses to match the
existing).

Welsh slate roofs with roof on left replaced in tiles.

The roofs of the finer properties in the
conservation areas often include functional yet
decorative detailing at roof junctions, in the form
of ornamental clay ridge and hip tiles, stone
water tabling and bargeboards.
Victorian
buildings often incorporate attractive pierced or
carved timber bargeboards to adorn both the
roof verge at gable ends and gable dormers.
Further roof ornamentation is found in the
decorative finials at the ridge over gables and
dormer gables. These are constructed in moulded
clay, carved wood or stone.
All ornamental roof detailing must be
retained. When re-roofing takes place, these
components should be carefully uplifted, put
aside, repaired as necessary and reinstated
upon completion.

Finials and pierced ridge tiles.

4.2 Chimneys
Chimneystacks and the chimney pots on them are
prominent features of the rooflines in
conservation areas.
The shape, the height and the materials vary
according to the location and the type of
property. Early cottages often had only one stack
serving a single fireplace used for heating and
cooking. In contrast, grand houses had many
more fire places, each being served by separate
flues requiring larger chimney stacks with
multiple chimney pots.

Chimney stacks in St Bees conservation area.

Original decorative bargeboards on right hand gable.
Bargeboards to left are simple ‘plank’ replacements.
13

Existing stacks and pots should be retained in
order to maintain the historic appearance of
the roofline. Ventilation should always be
retained in redundant flues to prevent
condensation and subsequent damage to
internal finishes.

Simple village chimney
stack with two traditional
pots.

Chimneys stacks on
terraces often serve the
fireplaces in two houses,
so are quite substantial
with a large number of
pots.

This also ensures that even if not in use now,
there is the option in the future of using the
chimney stack for accommodating flues, for
either open fires or multi fuel stoves.

Page 22
Chimney stacks where pots have been removed appear
rather austere.

5 DORMER WINDOWS AND
ROOFLIGHTS
5.1 Dormer Windows
Dormer windows are traditional elements in
Victorian buildings, often being part of the
original construction to provide daylight into attic
rooms. There are other examples where dormer
windows have been added later to Victorian and
Georgian properties. The traditional form is a
relatively narrow double pitched roof, teeing
back into the host roof pitch, with lead lined
valleys at both intersections. The front wall of
the dormer is usually a continuation of the
masonry elevation upon which it stands and the
window in the front of the dormer is formed in
that wall. The side walls, known as cheeks, are
not normally constructed in masonry as there is
no load bearing structure below to support them.
The side walls are in a framed construction, either
incorporating windows to increase the
transmission of daylight into the room or clad in
lead or tile hung.

More ornate examples of chimney stacks and pots.

Retention or reinstatement of pots that match
those already on the building, or on neighbouring
properties, will also maintain the character and
appearance of the property and its surroundings.

Typical traditional chimney pots found in St Bees and
Whitehaven.

14

Traditional Victorian dormer
with lead clad cheeks.

Similar dormer with
glazed cheeks.

The addition of a dormer on a traditional
building within a conservation area, will need
to be justified and shall be to a traditional
design unless otherwise agreed.

5.2 Rooflights

Retrofitted dormer.

Page 23

In the second half of the 20th century broader, flat
roofed dormers, with wide front windows,
became popular as house owners extended their
accommodation into the roofspace. These have
no historical precedent and generally appear as
an imposition on the roofs of otherwise
traditional buildings, spoiling the roofline of the
terrace in which they have been constructed.

Rooflights were first introduced in the Georgian
period, but through the industrial revolution
became much more available and popular for use
in Victorian buildings. Mass produced rooflights
in the latter part of the last century became large
and often wider in format. Off the peg flashing
kits were available with these windows, which
raised the rooflight above the plane of the roof.
These modern rooflights do not reflect the
format of the early, period rooflights and look
incongruous in roofs in a conservation area.
So that rooflights could be more acceptable in
conservation areas, manufacturers started to
produce ‘conservation rooflights’. These reflect
the shape and size of the Georgian and Victorian
installations and the accompanying low profile
flashing kits, allow the windows to be fitted
reasonably flush in the roof plane.

A flat roofed dormer with horizontal timber cladding
‘perched’ upon a traditional roof pitch.

15

Conservation rooflight - small unit with vertical emphasis
and low profile flashing kit, sits flush in the roof plane.

In certain circumstances, conservation
rooflights can be permitted in a conservation
area, but standard units will not be
acceptable.
Wherever possible new
conservation rooflights should be sited in a
rear pitch or other inconspicuous position.

Soil and waste drainage arrived with the
incorporation of bathrooms and kitchen sinks
into these period properties, so many were
retrofitted and often by fixing the pipework
externally.

6 SOIL AND RAINWATER GOODS
Traditionally these external drainage goods were
constructed using cast iron components,
although some were constructed in lead.

Page 24

Rainwater pipes are always fixed to the exterior
of buildings and gutters usually fixed on cast iron
gutter brackets along the eaves. In the case of
finer period townhouses, gutters were often
concealed behind ornamental parapets, with the
rainwater discharging through openings in the
parapet wall, into hoppers at the head of the
rainwater pipes. The cast iron rainwater pipes
are fixed to the masonry wall using spikes driven
through eared sockets at the pipe junctions and
into wooden plugs set into the masonry.

Ornamental copper rainwater hopper, discharging into a cast
iron rainwater pipe.

Cast iron and lead drainage goods on the
exterior of buildings should be retained
wherever possible, and any replacement or
new installation should be in cast iron.
Whilst cast aluminium has often been
allowed as a substitute for cast iron, uPVC
drainage goods, including uPVC rainwater
pipes and gutters, moulded to appear like
cast iron, are not acceptable in a
conservation area.
Traditional ogee profile cast iron gutter, supported on
decorative cast iron gutter brackets.

Discretely sited
retrofit soil vent pipe,
with decorative
terminal.

This retrofit foul drainage
installation pays no regard to
the proportions of this period
elevation.

Where it is not possible to route drainage
pipework internally, the layout of the
external drainage pipework should be
carefully planned so that it creates minimum
impact on the balance of the elevation.
16

7 PAINT COLOURS
The smooth lime render on Georgian and
Victorian properties was painted in a pigmented
limewash. This not only decorated the building
but protected the lime render as well.
Generally, the main surface of the elevations is
painted in pastel or pale earth pigment colours
and the decorative stone features, window
surrounds, pediments, porticos, string courses,
hood moulds etc. are in a modestly contrasting
shade of the main surface.

Whitewashed walls with black painted quoins,
window and door surrounds are a popular
Cumbrian colour scheme, found on many
vernacular buildings such as farmhouses,
coaching inns and pubs. Whilst this is acceptable
on individual buildings like these, it is
inappropriate in a terrace of Georgian properties
painted in pastel shades, where it stands out and
therefore detracts from the appearance of the
building group as a whole.

Page 25

There are other examples where the stone
features are painted in off white. Lighter colours
for the stone features benefit the ornamentation,
as they clearly show the shadows, which
emphasise the stone modelling.

Where buildings share common decorative
features such as pilasters or porticos, a
common colour scheme using traditional
pastel shades should be adopted.

Bold colours, when applied to one part of a unified
elevation, can upset its balance.

Stone features of pubs and farmhouses are often painted
black, but this tends to obscure mouldings in the stone
features.

The main surface of the elevations is painted in pastel or
pale earth pigment colours.

The use of bold colours should be avoided.

Dark colours for stone features tend to bury
the modelling into a single visual block and
are consequently to be avoided.
Bold colours on walls and decorative features
create an imbalance in the composition of the
façades within a group of buildings and detract
from the appearance of the conservation area.

Stone features are often picked out in contrasting shade,
sometimes off white.
17

Before painting masonry surfaces, property
owners should ensure that the paint specified
is vapour permeable, otherwise the masonry
may be damaged. Only pigmented limewash
or mineral based exterior masonry paint
should be used on historic lime rendered
surfaces.
Facing brickwork in elevations should not be
painted.
The window frames of many Georgian buildings
were painted dark green, dark red, dark brown or
in grained varnish. However, those shades have
been discarded over the years in favour of off
white, which has generally become accepted.

Bright colours should be avoided on doors
and window frames.
Bright white is inappropriate for traditional
buildings and should be avoided.
Entrance doors should be painted in black,
dark or muted colours.
White railings in a group of white railings – any repainting
should be in white to maintain the balance of the group.

Rainwater goods should be painted the
colour of the background wall or black.
The shopfront colours harmonise with the colours of the
upper storeys, contributing positively to the street scene.

Page 26

An example of a muted colour, used on a front door.

Bright colours should be avoided
shopfronts and commercial buildings.

on

Colours should be chosen to fit in with the
colour scheme of the façade above.
Entrance doors should be painted in black,
dark or muted colours.

Darker colours may be preferable below the shop
window level (stallrisers) as they will be less likely
to show the dirt, with lighter shades used for
decorative features like pilasters and cornices.
Dark colours may be appropriate on some
non-domestic buildings such as warehouses
as part of an overall colour scheme.
Georgian railings and ornamental ironwork would
originally have been painted bronze green.
However, most are now painted black, which is
generally acceptable.
There are also a few instances of groups of white
painted railings along terrace frontages.

Bright colours on shopfronts, unrelated to the colour scheme
of the upper storeys, create an unbalanced street scene.

New and existing railings should be painted
bronze green or black. Groups of railings
painted in a single colour should be repainted
and maintained in that same colour.
18

When rainwater pipes are painted the same colour as the
wall upon which they are fixed, it reduces their impact.

8 EXTERNAL EQUIPMENT ON
BUILDINGS

Example of alarm incorporated into shopfront design.

Example of discretely located burglar alarm in corner on side
of building.

Page 27

Alarm boxes should be as small as possible,
discreetly located and painted to match the
background colour.
Satellite dishes litter this elevation in a conservation area.
Example of clutter on front of buildings.

Intruder and fire alarms, CCTV cameras,
equipment such as meter boxes and electric
cables, satellite dishes and TV aerials all
contribute to create a cluttered appearance,
which can often be unsightly in a conservation
area. If possible these should not be placed on
the front elevation.
When intruder alarms were first introduced, it
was thought that the alarm boxes should be
prominently sited and brightly coloured to deter
intruders. Any criminal investigating a potential
target will look carefully for alarm boxes, so they
do not have to be prominently sited or brightly
coloured.

Where possible satellite dishes should be mounted on a rear
elevation, but if this is facing the wrong way, then small units
can be sited towards the rear of a chimney stack.
Example of symmetrically sited alarm.

On new shop fronts the alarm should be
considered as part of the overall shop front
design.
19

Satellite dishes and TV aerials should be
located discreetly to avoid disturbing the
roofline or the rhythm and general
appearance of the building.

Some form of lighting is often required to ensure
vehicular and pedestrian safety, but it should be
carefully considered in conservation areas.

Where projecting signs are illuminated, care
needs to be taken to select the slimmest possible
strip-light fittings or carefully sited spotlights or
floodlights to avoid detracting from the street
scene during daylight hours.

Only minimal illumination will be allowed, in
order to protect visual amenity, reduce light
pollution and minimize energy consumption.

Internally illuminated box signs and fascias
are inappropriate in conservation areas and
will not be permitted.

9 LIGHTING

9.1 SHOPFRONTS AND OTHER COMMERCIAL
PROPERTIES
Great care is needed to avoid lighting units which
appear unsightly in daylight.

Page 28

Light fittings, where used, should be
concealed, e.g. a slim strip-light hidden
beneath a cornice, floodlights under eaves.

Over sized light fittings or over elaborate
brackets are not appropriate to illuminate
projecting signs within conservation areas.
An effective way to draw attention to the
entrance is to have a traditional style lantern light
fitting over or either side of the entrance.
Where fluorescent tubes are used to highlight a
wall sign they need to be very carefully sited, for
instance tucked in above any cornice over the
entrance door, so that they do not project out
excessively from the building.

Floodlighting tucked under bargeboards achieves the
objective of lighting the elevation, without the light fittings
themselves being conspicuous.

Public houses and restaurants that do most of
their business during the evening are particularly
prone to a proliferation of lighting arrangements,
often with bulky projecting floodlights on walls of
upper storeys, which detract from the
appearance of the building.

There is often sufficient internal shop lighting and
street lighting to illuminate the business and any
merchandise on display.

A few well chosen light sources will often create a
more effective solution without detriment to the
character of the conservation area.

Illuminating shop front signage for those
shops and commercial premises that are
open during the day is not encouraged within
conservation areas.

Projecting light fittings above first floor widows, further light
fittings at fascia level and strip lights either side of the
projecting sign.

The commissioning of a lighting consultant is
recommended where multiple light sources
are being planned and where floodlighting is
proposed, a mock-up of the proposed
arrangement should be set up for approval
prior to its installation.
Neon signs and flashing or pulsing LED lit
signs will not be permitted in the
conservation areas.

20

9.2 RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES
Where local street lighting is subdued, property
owners may wish to erect an entrance light.
These are most appropriately sited centrally over
the door and below any cornice or portico where
they exist. An alternative is a pair of coach lamps
either side of the doorway, provided the light
fittings are of a quality traditional design.

10 FRONTAGES AND GARDEN
AREAS
10.1 GARDEN AND FRONTAGE WALLS

Page 29

There are barely any frontage spaces in
Whitehaven town centre, as the building
regulations drawn up by the Lowther family for
the development of the town required properties
to be built hard up to the boundary with the
street. In the other conservation areas frontages
and front gardens do exist. The properties in
Front Corkickle, Foxhouses Road and Hensingham
have narrow frontages guarded by rendered low
walls, topped with railings.
In the other
conservation areas there are a variety of garden
and frontage walls, some with railings above and
some higher walls without railings. The faces of
these walls are either rendered or exposed
sandstone.

The negative impact of removing sections of
boundary walls to provide hard standing will
need to be carefully considered.
Also see 10.4 regarding surface finishes.

10.2 FRONT RAILINGS AND GATES
There are an unusually substantial number of
railings and gates in the conservation areas of
Copeland, some of them historic, suggesting that
this area fared better than others when railings
were harvested for their valuable metal during
the Second World War. Railings guarding the
frontages and steps of the townhouses make an
important contribution to the character of these
areas.

An appropriate traditional light fitting sited centrally above a
residential entrance.

Fittings should reflect the character of the
conservation area.
Bulkhead light fittings should be avoided.
Security and emergency lighting should be
discretely aligned with elements of the
building, such as the top of the ground floor
windows.

Groups of railings contributing to the conservation area.
Garden walls contributing to the conservation area.

Garden and frontage walls contribute to the
character of the conservation areas and they
should be retained and not replaced in a
different material.

21

The railings and gates range from original cast
and wrought iron to modern fabrications in mild
steel. The original and some replacement railings
follow traditional patterns, but some of the more
recent mild steel fabrications are to a modern
design, unrelated to traditional forms, like the

example of ‘hairpin’ railings and the gate
resembling a grating.

All traditional railings must be retained.
When new railings are to be installed or
existing railings are to be replaced, they
should be of a traditional pattern.
If located on a street frontage with other
historic railings adjacent, the design should
conform to that of its neighbours.

10.3
‘Hairpin’ railings are not a traditional installation.

Page 30
It is relevant to note that cast and wrought iron
fabrications can be repaired by a competent
blacksmith. Consideration should be given to
fabricating any new railings and gates in wrought
iron or cast iron, as these were the authentic
metals originally used. Spheroidal graphite iron
(SG iron) is a more durable development of the
original cast iron and is an acceptable alternative
to it. Mild steel should be avoided, even when
galvanised and powder coated, as it has a short
life compared to wrought and SG iron.

TREES IN CONSERVATION AREAS

Trees can make an important contribution in
Conservation Areas, and works to them are not
permitted without giving appropriate notice to
the local planning authority. Please see Appendix
2 for legal requirements.

10.4

A gate resembling a ‘grating’.

Concrete and tarmac are modern materials which
do not fit well in conservation areas. Concrete, in
particular, often becomes cracked and unsightly,
allowing weeds to grow through the cracks.
Natural sandstone flags contain textures and
colour variations that provide a more attractive
and authentic finish.

GROUND SURFACES

Pavings in frontages, although often partially
hidden behind the walls guarding the frontages,
do contribute to the character of a conservation
area. Historic paving materials are stone flags
and kerbs, brown glazed rope garden edging tiles,
stone steps, stone setts and cobbles.

An assortment of traditional paving materials adds rich
texture to the street scene.
22

Frontage with granite setts and natural stone flags.

Gravel can be acceptable when it is neatly
contained by rope garden edging tiles, other
stone paving or stone kerbs. The presence of
historic paving materials adjacent to gravel
surfaces, does reduce the impact of gravel as a
surfacing material in a conservation area.

Traditional rope garden edging tiles neatly contain and
delineate gravel from adjacent pavings.

Grass is used in frontages of properties in the
conservation areas and can add a softer
dimension against the harder surfaces of walls
and pavings. Grassed areas can be attractive if
neatly contained within a perimeter of rope
garden edging tiles, stone kerbs or pavings but
need to be regularly maintained by grass cutting.

CONCLUSIONS
This Design Guide has drawn attention to the
impressive range of heritage assets that lie within
the conservation areas administered by Copeland
Borough Council.
It has shown how the
combination of historic features, whether on
humble farm cottages, grand town houses or
their settings, are all equally important in
contributing to each conservation area’s special
character and distinct identity. It has indicated
why it is therefore important to retain these
historic features where possible, and where
alterations are necessary, it has explained how
these can be made sympathetically to avoid
harming the character and appearance of the
conservation areas.

Traditional pavings and edgings should be
retained wherever possible.
Any new or replacement pavings should be in
historically authentic materials.
Grass and gravel areas should be contained
within a traditional edging material and be
regularly maintained.

Page 31

Concrete and tarmac surfaces should be
avoided.

The guide will assist in ensuring that Copeland’s
conservation areas continue to provide an
attractive environment for living, working or
visiting, for many years to come.

Restored Dutch gabled listed building in Roper Street,
Whitehaven, with new windows, external render &
refurbished front door.
23

GLOSSARY OF
ARCHITECTURAL TERMS
Architrave

The moulded frame around a door
or a window.

Ashlar

Neatly dressed regular masonry with
flat external face and straight
joints.

Baluster

Balustrade

A short post or pillar in a series
supporting a rail and thus forming a
balustrade.

Box Sign

A projecting sign, with the sign board
being a narrow hollow box
construction, with the lettering
applied to the flat sides of the box.

Capital

The top part of a column.

Casement

Simple opening hinged window.

Cast Iron

Traditional material used for metal
fabrication, with a carbon content of
more than 2%.
A concrete masonry product, cast to
simulate natural cut stone.

Cast Stone

Durite Dash

Canterbury Spar in small pieces
thrown onto wet render to provide a
decorative and protective finish.

Eaves

The underside of the shallow
projection at the bottom of a roof
slope.

Façade

The frontage of a building facing
towards the street.

Fanlight

A window above a door, sometimes
semi-circular rather than square.

Fascia

The wide board over the shopfront
that carries the business name.

Finial

A formal ornament at the top of a
canopy, gable etc.

Console

Barra Harl

Crushed cockle shells thrown into
wet render to provide a decorative
and protective finish.

Coping

The protective top of a wall, parapet
or balustrade.

Gable

The triangular upper part of a wall at
the end of a ridged roof.

Bargeboard

Sometimes decorated, projecting
board placed against the incline of
the gable of a building and hiding the
ends of the horizontal roof timbers.

Corbel

A projecting block supporting a beam
or other horizontal member.

Glazing Bars

Cornice

Decorative, moulded projection
above the fascia, providing weather
protection and giving it a strong line
at the top of the shop front.

The horizontal and vertical members
that divide a window and hold the
glazed panes in place.

Hard Standing

A hard surfaced area, usually for
parking vehicles.

Harling

Roughcast render consisting of lime
mortar mixed with gravel and thrown
onto a wall surface.

Page 32

A railing supported by balusters or
ornamental posts forming a parapet
to a balcony, bridge or terrace.

Bay Window

Beam
Bed

A bracket that frames the end of the
fascia panel. Sometimes referred to
as ‘corbels’.

Window that projects from the main
plane of a wall, either with rounded
or canted sides.

Course

A horizontal structural element,
usually either timber or steel.

A continuous row or layer of brick or
stone set into a wall.

Dormer

Projection, built above the angled
slope of a roof, incorporating a
window or windows to light an attic.

Hip Tile

Tile covering the external angle
formed by the meeting of two
sloping roof surfaces.

Dry Dash

Aggregate (small stones) thrown
onto wet render to provide a
decorative and protective finish.

Hood Mould

A projecting moulding to throw off
the rain, on the face of a wall above
an arch, doorway or window.

The plane of the layers in
sedimentary
rock,
naturally
horizontal. Also used for the mortar
onto which a stone or brick is laid.

24

Hopper

A box, usually in cast iron, that is
fitted to the top of a rainwater pipe
to collect rainwater discharging from
roof outlets.

Jamb

The sides of a window, doorway or
other opening.

Lights

The areas of glass between the
mullions of windows.

Limewash

A simple matt paint made from lime
and water.

Pilaster

Traditional flat column, projecting
slightly, at either side of a shopfront.
Pilasters are designed with a base
and a capital, which supports the
console and fascia. They are usually
moulded and fluted.

Rubble

Irregular stones forming the base
below a paved surface, or when used
to construct a wall, the stones are
not laid in courses.

Sash

Type of sliding window.

Pitch

The angle of a roof slope.

Sill

The lower, horizontal part of a
window frame.

Plinth

The projecting base of a wall or
column, often chamfered at the top.

String Course

A roofed space, open or partly
enclosed, forming the entrance and
centrepiece of a building, often
supported on columns.

Horizontal projecting course on the
outside of a building, also sometimes
called a band course.

Stucco

A
smooth
plasterwork.

Portico

The horizontal beam spanning over
the top of an opening.

Mortar

Mixture of lime, sand and water for
joining bricks or stones.

Quoin

Brick or stones at the corners of a
building.

Transom

A visually strong horizontal member
that divides a window.

Mullion

A visually strong vertical member
that divides a window into separate
lights.

Random
Coursed

Irregular rectangular stones built into
walls in courses of varying heights.

Stallriser

Pantile

Curved profiled type of ceramic roof
tile, usually a flattened S shape in
section.

Render

Externally applied plaster or stucco
covering a wall.

Vertical surface giving protection at
ground level below the shopfront,
providing a solid base. Stallrisers are
made of stone, tile or wood and
provide a sill for the glazing.

Reveal

The sides of an internal opening of a
window or doorway.

Ridge Tile

Tile covering the horizontal line
formed by the junction of two
sloping surfaces of a roof.

Page 33

Lintel

Parapet

Pediment

Pigment

Low wall at the bottom of a roof
pitch or to guard the edge of a raised
level in a building.
Type of gable, either triangular or
segmented, at the head of an
ornamental stone surround to a door
or window opening.
Material used to colour paints and
mortars.

Rooflight

A window constructed in the slope of
a roof.

Roughcast

An external rendering of rough
material, usually applied in two
coats, onto which gravel, crushed
stones or pebbles are thrown before
the second coat is dry.
25

lime

render

or

Stone Dressing Stones worked to a finished face,
whether smooth or moulded and
used around the perimeters of
openings in a wall.
UPVC

A synthetic plastic polymer used for
making pipes and profile applications
such as doors and windows.

Wrought Iron

A
malleable
form
of
iron,
traditionally used for decorative
metalwork, which has a carbon
content of less than 0.08%.

BIBLIOGRAPHY
Revised Statement of Community Involvement
Copeland Borough Council 2016
Copeland Local Development Plan 2013-2028
Core Strategy and Development Management
Policies DPD Copeland Borough Council 2013
Copeland Local Development Framework
Whitehaven Town Centre and Harbourside
Supplementary Planning Document Copeland
Borough Council 2012

Pevsner Architectural Guides The Buildings of
England, Cumbria, Matthew Hyde & Nikolaus
Pevsner
Vernacular Architecture of the Lakes Counties
R.W.Brunskill
Looking at Whitehaven J Brian Crossland
Bygone Whitehaven Michael Moon

Page 34

Whitehaven Town Centre Heritage and Design
series:
Whitehaven Town Centre and High Street
Conservation Areas |Character Appraisal, Paul
Butler Associates 2009
Whitehaven Town Centre and High Street
Conservation Areas |Management Plan, Paul
Butler Associates 2009
Whitehaven Town Centre and High Street
Conservation Areas | Development Guide, Paul
Butler Associates 2009
Shopfronts in Whitehaven Design Guidelines
Copeland Borough Council 1992

26

CONSERVATION AREA DESIGN GUIDE APPENDICES
CONTENTS
PAGE NO.

Appendix 1 Maps
Beckermet
Cleator Moor
Corkickle
Egremont
Hensingham
Millom
St Bees
Whitehaven

28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35

Page 35

Appendix 2
Relevant Policies and Legislation
1.
1.1
1.2
2.
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5

Relevant Policies
Local
36
National
36
Relevant Legislation
Planning Permission
36
Listed Building Consent
37
Works to Trees in Conservation areas 37
Advertisement Consent
37
Building Regulations
38

Appendix 3 Contacts & Useful Links

39

BECKERMET

Page 36
28

CLEATOR MOOR

Page 37
29

CORKICKLE

Page 38
30

EGREMONT

Page 39
31

HENSINGHAM

Page 40
32

MILLOM

Page 41
33

ST BEES

Page 42
34

WHITEHAVEN

Page 43
35

APPENDIX 2
RELEVANT POLICIES AND
LEGISLATION
1. RELEVANT POLICIES
1.1 LOCAL

Page 44

Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 policies:
ST 1 Strategic Development Principles (specifically
criteria C)
ENV 4 Heritage Assets
DM 10 Achieving Quality of Place
DM 11 Sustainable Development Standards
DM 13 Conversion of Buildings to Residential Use
DM 14 Residential Establishments
DM 16 Replacement Dwellings
DM 18 Domestic Extensions & Alterations
DM 27 Built Heritage and Archaeology
DM 28 Protection of Trees
DM 29 Advertisements
Whitehaven Town Centre and Harbourside
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
(Adopted September 2012)
Whilst specifically intended for Whitehaven, some
parts of this document are relevant to all the
conservation areas covered in this Design Guide
(eg Design Principles in Section 2 and 7): in most
cases the principles apply equally or can be
adapted to relate to other conservation areas.

1.2 NATIONAL

Alterations to Residential Property

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
(2012):
Chapter 7 Requiring good design;
Chapter 12 Conserving and enhancing the historic
environment;

Conservation Areas are areas of special
architectural or historic interest and stringent
controls are in place to protect buildings within
those areas.

Department for Communities and Local
Government (DCLG) Planning Practice Guidance:
Conserving and enhancing the historic
environment (2014);
Design (2014).

2. RELEVANT LEGISLATION

Therefore, some alterations to residential
property which can normally be carried out as
permitted development, are restricted in
conservation areas, for example:




2.1 PLANNING PERMISSION
Shop Front Alterations
Planning permission is required for the alteration
or replacement of all shop fronts.
This includes altering the glazing, changing facing
materials, installing blinds or external shutters, or
enlarging the size of a fascia. Where any
alteration to a shop front is planned, Copeland
Borough Council should be contacted for advice
prior to commencing any work.
Alterations to other Commercial Property
Planning Permission will normally be required for
any external alterations to the building, including
those for change of use where the change of use
itself is permitted development.

36



the cladding of any part of a house, whether
it be the original house or any enlarged part
is not permitted development and requires
an application for planning permission;
installation of satellite dishes on a chimney,
wall or roof slope which faces onto, and is
visible from, a highway requires planning
permission;
New extensions that would otherwise be
classed as permitted development will in
many cases require planning permission in
conservation areas.

Government guidance is provided at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/syste
m/uploads/attachment_data/file/606669/17040
5_Householder_Technical_Guidance__April_2017_FINAL.pdf
The rules are quite complicated, and further
restrictions apply where properties are covered
by an Article 4 Direction.
Therefore all
householders are advised to contact the
development control team at Copeland Borough
Council prior to undertaking any alterations (see
page 37 Contacts & Useful Links).

Article 4 Directions
Certain types of extensions to buildings and
changes of use of buildings do not require full
planning permission from the council. These
forms of development are called permitted
development. An Article 4 direction is a special
planning regulation adopted by a Local Planning
Authority in all or part of their borough. It
operates by removing permitted development
rights from whatever is specified in the Article 4
direction.
The effect of these Article 4 directions is that
planning permission is required for these
developments that would otherwise not require
an application for planning permission.

Page 45

Many of the houses that are not already Listed
buildings in Whitehaven, Corkickle and
Hensingham conservation areas are included in
an Article 4 Direction. These are shown in yellow
on the conservation area maps in Appendix 1.
Demolition in Conservation Areas
Planning permission is usually required for
demolition of buildings in conservation areas
(unless they are less than 115 cubic metres in
volume), and for removal of most gates, fences,
walls and railings over a certain height. For
further details consult Copeland Borough Council
(see page 37 Contacts & Useful Links).

2.2 LISTED BUILDING CONSENT
In order to carry out work which affects the
character of a listed building, including
demolition, internal and/or external alterations
and extensions, it is necessary to obtain listed
building consent. This includes re-painting in a

different colour, installing blinds or shutters or
installing a security alarm or extractor fan.
Planning permission and building regulation
approval may also be required.
Any person carrying out or causing to be carried
out such works without obtaining listed building
consent, is guilty of an offence. They could,
therefore, be liable to a large fine and/or a period
of imprisonment and may also be made to
restore the work to its original appearance.
Ignorance of the listed status of the building in
question is not a valid defence.
All buildings within the curtilage of a listed
building will be deemed to be listed if they were
erected before 1948, and the need to obtain
listed building consent applies equally to them
(Curtilage is not strictly defined, but in practice it
includes any other building or outhouses in the
same group, as well as features such as walls and
gates).
For further information and advice on the care of
listed buildings see Copeland Borough Council’s
booklet ‘Love it or Lose it’ and Historic England’s
website (see page 37 Contacts & Useful Links).

2.3 WORKS TO TREES IN CONSERVATION
AREAS
Where there is no tree preservation order in
place, anyone proposing to carry out works to a
tree in a conservation area must give at least 6
weeks’ notice to the local planning authority. This
is known as a Section 211 Notice (under Section
211 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).
There are exceptions such as when the tree is
37

dead or dying or has become dangerous, or is
below a certain size. The work may go ahead
before the end of the 6 week period if the local
planning authority gives consent, but the notice
period gives the authority time to decide whether
to impose a tree preservation order on the tree.
Where trees are already covered by a tree
preservation order, apart from limited
exceptions, anyone wanting to cut down, top, lop
or uproot trees must first apply for permission
from the local planning authority by submitting a
standard application form.
Anyone planning to carry out work on trees in a
conservation area is advised to discuss their
proposals first with a qualified arboriculturist and
to contact Copeland Borough Council prior to
submitting a notice or application.
Historic England provides further advice on
conservation areas and trees.

2.4 ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT
Advertisement consent is needed for illuminated
signs, new fascias, projecting signs and extra large
signs above ground floor level. Further details
can be found at:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements .
The regulations are quite complex, so anyone
planning to alter or install new signs on their
premises are advised to contact the Council’s
development
control
team
prior
to
commissioning any signs (see page 37 Contacts &
Useful Links).

2.5 BUILDING REGULATIONS
Building Regulations approval is required for new
shop fronts, roofs, windows and doors when any
alterations would affect the building’s structural
stability, means of escape in the event of a fire,
thermal performance, or access for the disabled.
For advice on Building Regulations issues, call
Copeland Borough Council’s building control
service (see page 37 Contacts & Useful Links).

Page 46
38

APPENDIX 3
CONTACTS & USEFUL LINKS
COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Cumbria
CA28 7JG
www.copeland.gov.uk
www.facebook.com/Copelandboroughcouncil
twitter @copelandbc

Planning

Page 47

Development Control
Tel: 01946 598421 or 598419
Email: devcontrol@copeland.gov.uk

Building Control
Building Control
Telephone: 01946 598409/598413
Email: building.control@copeland.gov.uk

Conservation & Listed Buildings
Conservation Officer
Telephone: 01946 598426

Love It or Lose It:
A practical guide to maintaining older properties,
along with guidance for owners of listed buildings
and buildings in conservation areas, produced by
the Whitehaven Townscape Heritage Initiative.
http://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/a
ttachments/love_it_or_lose_it.pdf

PLANNING PORTAL

HISTORIC SCOTLAND

The national online planning application service,
with planning and building regulations
information.
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/

Advice:
https://www.historicenvironment.scot/adviceand-support/

HISTORIC ENGLAND
The public body that looks after England's
historic environment.
Historic England
North West Office
3rd floor Canada House
3 Chepstow Street
Manchester
M1 5FW
Telephone: 0161 2421416
Email: northwest@HistoricEngland.org.uk
https://historicengland.org.uk
Historic England publishes an extensive range
of expert advice and guidance to help you
care for and protect historic places:
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/

The National Heritage List for England
(NHLE)
The official register of all nationally protected
historic buildings and sites in England.
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/

THE SOCIETY FOR THE PROTECTION OF
ANCIENT BUILDINGS
http://www.spab.org.uk
Advice:
http://www.spab.org.uk/advice/

THE INSTITUTE OF HISTORIC BUILDING
CONSERVATION
www.ihbc.org.uk

ANCIENT MONUMENTS SOCIETY
www.ancientmonumentssociety.org.uk

THE GEORGIAN GROUP
https://georgiangroup.org.uk
Advice:
https://georgiangroup.org.uk/pages/adviceleaflets

THE VICTORIAN SOCIETY
http://www.victoriansociety.org.uk
Advice:
http://www.victoriansociety.org.uk/publications/

continued on next page
39

REGISTER OF ARCHITECTS ACCREDITED IN
BUILDING CONSERVATION
www.aabc-register.co.uk

RIBA CONSERVATION REGISTER
www.architecture.com/knowledge-andresources/resources-landing-page/find-aconservation-architect

CONSERVATION ACCREDITED REGISTER FOR
ENGINEERS (CARE)
www.careregister.org.uk

Page 48
40

Prepared on behalf of Copeland Borough Council
by
Countryside Consultants
December 2017
This document has been produced with financial assistance from the
Whitehaven Townscape Heritage Initiative and its partners

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028

Conservation Area Design Guide Supplementary
Planning Document

Consultation Report

November 2017

Page 51

Introduction
Copeland Borough embarked undertook a statutory public consultation exercise to hear
views on the draft Conservation Area Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document for a
six-week period between Monday 10th July and Friday 18th August 2017.
A total of 13 representations were received, with the main comments relating to:
•
•
•
•
•

Adding preferred types of roof slate material to be used;
General formatting of the SPD;
Additions to list of contacts and useful links at appendix 3;
Additional ground surface photos at section 10;
Inclusion of removal of or works to trees at section 10.3 and appendix 2.

The Council has amended the draft Conservation Area Design Guide, based on the comments

received and will adopt the document as a Supplementary Planning Document at the
meeting of Full Council in December 2015.
The full list of responses received and the Council’s response to them can be found in the
table on the following page.

Page 52

Organisation
St Bees Parish
Council

Page
12

Section
Slate Roofs

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting
Making a
Comment

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

P12 - Slates. Too prescriptive. Agree that slates should
be replaced with slates - but there are also Kirby,
Buttermere, ETC. Too many slate roofs have been
replaced by tiles and no enforcement action taken.

CBC Response:
Representation acknowledged and text modified.
Proposed Change:
(P.12) 'When any re-roofing is proposed, it should be
undertaken in a colour to match the existing slate and laid
in courses to match the existing, (so where the existing roof
is Westmorland slate, any new slates should be laid in
diminishing courses to match the existing).'

Page 53

Organisation
Beckermet with
Thornhill Parish
Council

Page

Section
Throughout

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting
Objecting

Page 54

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

Please see attached. RESPONSE TO BECKERMET
CONSERVATION AREA PROPOSALS. The Parish Council
has discussed the current consultation about changing
the requirements in conservation areas. A number of
residents have also made comments, and these have
been incorporated.
1 • People feel that you should have contacted the
properties in the area directly, rather than relying on the
system that you have used.
2 • There has been very little support for the proposals
to change the requirements in the Beckermet
Conservation Area.
3 • Whilst there are some interesting buildings in the
village, it is hardly very special and does not warrant the
suggested extra restrictions. Restrictions should be
proportionate. The examples of the bad practice that
you cite with which we agree could have been stopped
by CBC, using the existing arrangements.
4 • The village has already evolved, and should be
allowed to continue to do so. There is concern that
people may be deterred from making reasonable
developments (or even moving in) by the extra cost,
uncertainty, and bureaucracy. The area could then
deteriorate.
5 • In these days when you can get PVC that looks quite
similar to wood, the restrictions on PVC are particularly
unwelcome. Likewise, it should be reasonable to replace
sash windows with other types.

CBC Response:
• 1 The public consultation was widely advertised on the
Council's website, Facebook and Twitter accounts. It was
also highlighted by the local press and websites such as
Cumbria Crack. Town / Parish Clerks were provided with
posters giving details of the consultation and public drop in
session in their areas, for display on public notice boards. As
well as public drop in sessions in each area, an officer also
attended each town/parish council meeting during the
consultation period.
It would be impracticable and expensive to contact every
property owner in every conservation area in Copeland.
• 2 No changes to requirements in conservation areas are
being proposed
• 3 The recent independent character appraisal concludes
that Beckermet is still worthy of its conservation area
designation, although its special character has been
threatened by unsympathetic alterations to traditional
buildings, hence the need for a formal Design Guide.
Although CBC has certain 'enhanced' powers within its
conservation areas, these are limited. This document,
therefore, is intended to reinforce local and national
planning policy and to encourage the protection and
enhancement of the character and appearance of the
Council's conservation areas.
• 4 Conservation areas are about managing change, and
change is acceptable where it does not detract from the
special character and significance of the area.
• 5 Apart from the poor appearance and detailing of pvc
windows and doors, the overall environmental burden
across several factors has been shown to be significantly
higher for pvc than wood. Traditional joinery makes an
important contribution to the heritage interest and

6 • Also, the cost of Westmoreland or Welsh slate is
quite prohibitive when compared with other slates that
are available.

Organisation

Page

Section

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

7 • As long as things are done sensitively, alternatives
such as new methods of construction, new construction
materials, and improved energy efficiency should be
allowed.

significance of historic buildings. Historic England is
opposed to the removal or alteration of such architectural
features, and recommends that they should be retained
and repaired or ultimately replicated if beyond practical
repair.
Proposed Change:
• 1-5 No change proposed.
CBC Response:
• 6 Representation acknowledged and text modified.
Proposed Change:
• 6 (P.12) 'When any re-roofing is proposed, it should be
undertaken in a colour to match the existing slate and laid
in courses to match the existing, (so where the existing roof
is Westmorland slate, any new slates should be laid in
diminishing courses to match the existing).'
CBC Response:
• 7 Conservation areas are about managing change and
change is acceptable where it does not detract from the
special character and significance of the area.
• 8 Conservation areas are about managing change and
change is acceptable where it does not detract from the
special character and significance of the area.
• 9 Comment noted.
• 10 Although the Council has no power to do this unless
the works are unauthorised, the Design Guide is intended
to encourage owners to make sensitive changes.
• 11 Comment noted. Grants are not generally available but
this document may help to attract grant programmes in the
future.
Proposed Change:
• 7-11 No change proposed.
CBC Response:Representation comment noted.
Proposed Change:No change required.

8 • Many of the properties have already changed from
their original state. What matters is that changes blend
in; not that they should always remain as before.

Page 55

9 • The ambiance of the village may become determined
by the nearby presence of nuclear reactors. It seems
strange to worry about retaining the look of the village,
when councils are encouraging the construction of the
nuclear station.
10 • There has been concern that there may be pressure
to backfit the new requirements in some areas. E.g.
reposition satellite dishes, change building
arrangements. A statement on this subject is needed.
11 • There is no mention of whether grants would be
available to offset extra costs.

Millom Town
Council

All

Supporting

No further comments.

Organisation
Historic England

Page

Section

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

Comments

Page 56

Thank you for consulting Historic England, we do not
need to be consulted in respect of design guide SPDs.
However, having visited Whitehaven on the 28th July
and briefly discussed the guide with Copeland staff, I
offer the following general advice. I would also like to
commend Copeland Council for producing such a
document with a view to raising design standards.
1. The SPDs current presentation would benefit from
being given more space, key messages would be clearer
if each architectural element was given its own page.
2. i. Your design guide SPD does not adequately describe
what constitutes good quality new design, specifically
guiding the appropriate scale, height, layout, and
massing of new development in your conservation
areas, including their gap sites.
2. ii. Reference ought to be made to NPPF Section 7
which requires "good design" and sets out national
policies to achieve this. It is important for your SPD to
inspire and encourage innovation and originality; it
should not impose specific forms of development or
styles. At present the guide focusses, arguably too
heavily, on local historic buildings features in
conservation areas and not sufficiently upon urban
design principles and policies to help guide new
development to address Copeland's growth agenda.
Historic England advocates the use of Conservation
Principles and Constructive Conservation to help
manage change in historic places, please see our
guidance at:
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/constructiveconservation/ . Given your aspirations for Whitehaven
marina, I also commend our recent guidance:
https://historicengland.org.uk/imagesbooks/publications/heritage-works/

CBC Response and Proposed Change

CBC Response:
Commendation welcomed.
CBC Response:
1. Representation comments accepted.
Proposed Change:
1. New format with main headings at top of columns will be
incorporated into the final design and layout.
CBC Response:
2.i. The purpose of the guide is to ensure that the ‘repair,
re-instatement and alterations’ to buildings are sensitively
undertaken.
Proposed Change:
2.i. No change proposed.
CBC Response:
2.ii. Reference is made to NPPF Section 7 in Appendix 2, and
reference to HE advice is referenced in Appendix 3 Contacts
and Useful Links.
Proposed Change:
2.ii. No change proposed.

Organisation

Page

Section

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

Page 57

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

3. Have you considered providing hyperlinks to specific
architectural advice alongside the relevant section? For
example, Historic England published "Traditional
windows, their care, repair and upgrading" in Feb 2017:
https://historicengland.org.uk/imagesbooks/publications/traditional-windows-care-repairupgrading/, this could usefully sit in your section 2
"Windows and Doors". We have also produced guidance
on thermally upgrading traditional windows and doors:
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/technicaladvice/energy-efficiency-and-historicbuildings/windows-and-doors-in-historic-buildings/.See
also "Making Changes to my Property":
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/yourhome/making-changes-your-property/types-ofwork/alter-my-windows/.The Victorian Society,
Georgian Group and Ancient Monuments Society all
provide specific elemental design guidance that could
usefully be referenced in the appropriate sections with
hyperlinks.
4.i. It would help the owners of heritage assets seeking
to alter or extend properties if the SPD were to signpost
them to local sources of conservation expertise such as
NW or Cumbrian conservation accredited architects
(https://www.aabc-register.co.uk/) and CARE engineers
(www.careregister.org.uk/)

CBC Response:
3.Hyperlinks to advice are already included in Appendix 3
(apart from the Ancient Monuments Society).
Proposed Change:
3.Ancient Monuments Society added to list of Contacts and
Useful Links in Appendix 3:
'ANCIENT MONUMENTS SOCIETY
CBC Response:
4.i. Representation comments accepted.
Proposed Change:
4. i. Links to AABC, RIBA and CARE registers added in
Appendix 3:
'REGISTER OF ARCHITECTS ACCREDITED IN BUILDING
CONSERVATION
www.aabc-register.co.uk
RIBA CONSERVATION REGISTER
www.architecture.com/knowledge-andresources/resources-landing-page/find-a-conservationarchitect
CONSERVATION ACCREDITED REGISTER FOR ENGINEERS
(CARE)
www.careregister.org.uk'

Organisation

Section

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

4. ii. You might also consider listing specialist
conservation contractors and suppliers of locally
distinctive materials or goods in your area; one way to
do this may be to produce one or two case studies that
have been delivered locally and to refer to those
involved during the project and the services they
provided; another might be to consider sponsorship of
the Design Guide, with a view to also widening its
circulation. 5. The Ground Surfaces section could be
improved significantly by providing additional images
and explanatory text. It is currently lacking examples of
traditional local pebble stone, flagged and cobbled
surfaces. You might also consider signposting customers
to local quarries and explaining where specialist surface
laying skills might be obtained. Many of Copeland's
terraced streets contain stone surfaced ginnels or
snickets, these could be referenced alongside other
associated locally distinctive features.

4.ii CBC Response:Representation comment noted, but
there is no organisation currently providing accredited
registration for contractors and suppliers.4.ii Proposed
Change:No change proposed.5. CBC
Response:Representation comments accepted.5. Proposed
Change:Section 10 expanded slightly to include extra
photographs.

Natural England

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our
statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for
the benefit of present and future generations, thereby
contributing to sustainable development.
Natural England has no comments to make on this
document at this time.
We would be happy to comment further should the
need arise but if in the meantime you have any queries
please do not hesitate to contact us.

CBC Response:
Representation Comment noted.
Proposed Change:
No change required.

Environment
Agency

Thank you for consulting with us on your:
COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL DRAFT CONSERVATION
AREA DESIGN GUIDE - SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING
DOCUMENT
I can confirm that on this occasion we have no
comments to make.

CC Response:
Representation comments noted.
Proposed Change:
No change required.

Historic England

Page

Page 58

Organisation
Ramblers Lake
District Area

Page

Section
10.1

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting
Making a
Comment

Comments
I appreciate that this is a document giving advice about
possible changes to architectural features in different
conservation areas of the Borough. However, single
mature trees and groups of trees can contribute to the
setting of buildings in conservation areas by providing a
framework for the townscape and softening it. They
also give a link to the countryside beyond the built - up
area. Perhaps there could be a mention of the control
over works to trees in conservation areas. (Section 211
notices giving 6 weeks' notice of works to trees).

CBC Response and Proposed Change

Page 59

CBC Response:
Representation Comment noted but there is already
mention of control over works to trees in Appendix 2
Relevant Policies & Legislation. However amendments to
main text proposed to make this clearer.
Proposed Change:
Reference made to Appendix 2 in Introduction:
'Under current legislation, conservation area designation
automatically brings the following works under planning
control (See Appendix 2 for further details):
- demolition of buildings
- removal of or works to trees
- development that may be permitted elsewhere, for
example some house extensions'.
The following addition is also now made in Section 10 of the
Guide:
'10.3 TREES IN CONSERVATION AREAS
Trees can make an important contribution in Conservation
Areas, and works to them are not permitted without giving
the appropriate notice to the local planning authority.
Please see Appendix 2 for legal requirements.'

Organisation

Page

Section

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

N/A (private
individual)

Page 60
Millom Town
Council

32

Supporting

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

My house is within the Beckermet Conservation Area. I
am supportive of the concept of conservation areas. I
agree generally with the advice given in the draft SPD
and the conclusion of the SA and, as a lay person in
these matters, have no detailed observations to
make.However, there are some general comments I
wish to make:1. From the many examples in the Guide
of bad practice, it seems to me that the objective of
preserving the vernacular architecture of Copeland is in
danger of becoming a lost cause. Even where planning
permission is required (eg shop fronts), control of
alterations seems to have been inadequate over a
number of years.2. As the successful implementation of
the Guide relies so heavily on the voluntary cooperation
of property owners, I suggest that more needs to be
done to encourage and help them, such as:(i) giving
each property owner in conservation areas and builders
a copy of the SPD when finally adopted and, as some of
the aims of the SA are to enhance the historic
environment, encourage leisure and tourism, and
sustain the local economy, with the result that others,
including residents and workers, are benefiting from the
actions of property owners in conservation areas,(ii)
waiving planning application fees(iii) setting up a fund to
reimburse property owners for the extra cost of
complying with the Guide
Millom Town Council would like to fully support the
Design Guide; preserving the heritage of the borough is
extremely important alongside maintaining the current
shop fronts and town centre areas.

CBC Response:Representation Comments noted.1. The
Guide, as an SPD, will provide more substantial support
when deciding future planning applications and on
enforcement of unauthorised works.2.i) This document and
the Love it or Lose It pamphlet are available to download as
the Council
is moving towards being paperless, but
copies are available from the Council on request2.ii)
Planning application fees are set by national
government2.iii) Grants are not generally available but this
document may help to attract grant
programmes in
the future. Proposed Change:No change proposed.

CBC Response:
Representation comments accepted and welcomed.
Proposed Change:
No change required.

Organisation
Canal & River
Trust

N/A (private
individual)

Page

Section

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

Comments

Page 61

Thank you for your consultation in relation to the Draft
Conservation Area Design Guide SPD. The Canal & River
Trust (the Trust) do not own or manage any waterways
within the area that would be covered by the policy
document. The Trust therefore have no comments to
make on the draft.
We do not need to be consulted further on the
document.
I am a member of the Cumbria Vernacular Buildings
Group. As such I have an interest in how older buildings
are preserved and used. I am also a member of the
Beckermet with Thornhill Parish Council. However the
objections expressed below are my personal thoughts.
Some objections to the new draft guide, Copeland
Design Guide for Conservation Areas:
1. If restrictions are to be placed on individual house
owners then grants should be available to offset the
additional expenses involved. My understanding is that
no such grants are available to property owners within
conservation areas - the restrictions placed on them for
the ‘public good’ ought to be minimized.
2. The new guide appears to preclude the replacement
of sliding sash windows [which are notoriously difficult
to seal against draughts] and most people would prefer
to install modern high performance window systems
[which can maintain the visual appearance of the
originals].
I am prejudiced against plastic windows, but wood high
performance windows of appropriate design should be
acceptable in conservation areas. The expense of
repairing old sliding sash windows, which will never be
sealed satisfactorily nor meet modern insulation
standards, cannot be justified.
3. Older buildings have always throughout history been
modified to new uses, and incorporated new materials

CBC Response and Proposed Change
CBC Response:
Representation comments noted.
Proposed Change:
No change required.

CBC Response:
Representation comments noted.
1. No changes to requirements in conservation areas are
being proposed. Grants are not generally available but this
document may help to attract grant programmes in the
future.
2. The use of high performance timber sliding sash windows
is acceptable providing they maintain traditional details and
construction. Other forms of high performance window do
not replicate the elegance, opening pattern or detail
appearance of traditional sliding sash windows and their
use is therefore discouraged. The use of double glazing can
be considered conditionally.
Replacing an otherwise sound or repairable sash window is
contrary to Historic England's guidance and policy.
Most joinery firms are able to retrofit draught proofing into
existing sash windows.
3. Improvements in construction methods and materials are
not precluded from conservation areas provided that they
are sympathetic to the character of the conservation area.
Proposed Change:
1,2 & 3: No change proposed.
CBC Response:
4. Representation acknowledged and text modified.
Proposed Change:
4. (Page 12) 'When any re-roofing is proposed, it should be
undertaken in a colour to match the existing slate and laid

Organisation

Page 62

Egremont town
council
Egremont town
council

Page

3

Section

3Egremont
Details

Supporting,
Objecting or
Commenting

Comments

CBC Response and Proposed Change

and construction methods. How many stately homes,
castles, or medieval halls, were built in a single phase?
Improvements in construction methods and materials
should not be precluded from conservation areas.
4. Roofing materials; Slate sourced from Spain is much
cheaper than Lakeland slate and has been used instead
of greenslate for conservation buildings. [Eg barns in
Beckermet.]. The new guide appears to preclude this
option.
5 Whilst the new guide may have relevance for top
quality conservation areas, its strict application to
conservation areas of mixed ages of housing [such as
Beckermet] is not appropriate.

in courses to match the existing, (so where the existing roof
is Westmorland slate, any new slates should be laid in
diminishing courses to match the existing).'
CBC Response:
5. Mixed ages of housing is often a factor in helping to
create the character of the conservation area where it has
evolved over time as in Beckermet and St Bees. The guide is
particularly relevant to these conservation areas in an
attempt to halt the continuing erosion of character that has
taken place over recent years.
Proposed Change:
No change proposed.

All the Egremont details are present and correct.

CBC Response:Representation comments
accepted.Proposed Change: No change required.

Egremont town council fully supports the whole
document.
All the information contained applies to the Egremont
towns conservation area and the town council continues
to ensure that building owners and businesses based in
market place and around the castle area comply with
the statutory rules and regulations that protect
conservation zones.
Egremont town council feels very strongly that special
feel and look of the building facades and roof tops must
be fully maintained and the council feels that this
document in its entirety will help in its endeavours to
attract both new businesses and building development
within our historic market town as well as help attract
more tourism and visitors to the town.
We thank all involved in its creation and find nothing
within the document counter to or opposing the
balance of new whilst maintaining the past.

CBC Response:
Representation comments accepted and welcomed.
Proposed Change:
No change required.

COPELAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

Conservation Area Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Document

Sustainability Appraisal

November 2017

Page 63

Page 64

CONTENTS
NON TECHNICAL SUMMARY ...............................................................................1
1.0

INTRODUCTION..........................................................................................2

2.0

INFORMATION ...........................................................................................4
INCORPORATING SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL INTO POLICY
DEVELOPMENT ..........................................................................................4
THE SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL FRAMEWORK ......................................5
APPRAISING THE AIM OF THE CONSERVATION AREA DESIGN GUIDE
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT
.....12

3.0

CONCLUSION............................................................................................13

Page 65

Page 66

NON TECHNICAL SUMMARY
The European Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive requires that a Sustainability
Appraisal (SA) is undertaken for any Local Development Document that is produced by a Local Planning
Authority. The purpose of this Sustainability Appraisal is to identify in general terms whether the
Conservation Area Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is likely to move the area
towards or away from greater sustainability in the long term.
The aim of the Conservation Area Design Guide SPD is to help property owners, designers and
developers to achieve good, respectful design and to protect Copeland’s heritage.
The SPD advises on ten areas of design including for shopfronts and advertising; windows and doors;
walls and wall finishes; roofs and chimneys; dormer windows and roof lights; soil and rainwater goods;
paint colours; external equipment on buildings; lighting and; frontage and front garden areas.
The results of the SA of the SPD are predominantly positive, where SA objectives are relevant. This SA
has demonstrated that the Conservation Area Design Guide SPD has performed well in sustainability
terms. By raising awareness and providing practical solutions for improving development standards
in conservation areas the SPD will improve and protect the heritage we share.
The aim of the SPD has been assessed against a set of 17 Sustainability Objectives:
SA Objective
Abbreviation
1
2

Biodiversity
Landscape & Conservation

3

Water Resources

4
5

Climate Change
Flood Risk

6

Energy

7
8
9

Land Quality
Air Quality
Waste & Recycling

10
11

Services & Facilities
Health & Wellbeing

12
13

Education & Skills
Sustainable Economy

14

Leisure & Tourism

15

Housing

16

Retail

17

Transport

SA Objective (High Level Objective)
To conserve and enhance biodiversity in Copeland.
To protect and enhance place, landscape and buildings of historic,
cultural and archaeological value.
To maintain and enhance the water quality of Copeland’s inland and
coastal water and coasts and to sustainably manage water resources.
To promote adaptation to climate change.
To reduce flood risk in Copeland from surface water, rivers, estuaries and
sea level change.
Increase energy efficiency in the built environment and promote the use
of renewable energy sources.
To promote and improve land quality in Copeland.
To improve air quality in Copeland.
To minimise waste production and increase re-use, recycling and
recovery rates.
To improve access to services and facilities in Copeland.
To improve physical and mental health and well-being of people and
reduce health inequalities in Copeland.
To improve education, skills and qualifications in the Borough.
To support a strong, diverse, vibrant and sustainable local economy to
foster balanced economic growth.
Support the sustainable development of the sustainable leisure and
tourism industry.
To improve access to a range of good quality housing that meets the
needs of the Copeland community.
To maintain, enhance and develop a diversity of retail services in the
Borough.
To enhance and develop sustainable transport networks in Copeland.

Page 67

1

Source: Copeland LDF Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report – prepared by Scott Wilson (September 2009)

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This Sustainability Appraisal (SA) accompanies the Copeland ‘Conservation Area Design Guide’
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The purpose of this SA report is to identify, in
general terms, whether the SPD is likely to move the Conservation Areas either towards or away
from greater sustainability in the long term.

1.2

There are nine conservation areas in the Borough of Copeland each with their own unique
characteristics. These conservation areas include Beckermet, Cleator Moor, Corkickle,
Egremont, Hensingham, Millom, St. Bees and Whitehaven. Ravenglass conservation area lies
within the Lake District National Park and is administered by the Lake District National Park
Authority.

1.3

The Conservation Area Design Guide SPD is principally designed to preserve and enhance the
historic character of buildings within conservation areas and where replacement is necessary,
encourage high standards of traditional design and materials. The guide is targeted at property
owners, designers and developers and, once adopted, will be used as a material planning
consideration for planning officers and Planning Panel members when determining relevant
planning applications.

1.4

A Sustainability Appraisal (SA), which is now integrated with Strategic Environmental
Assessment (SEA), is a statutory requirement for the preparation of Development Plan
Documents. The UK Strategy for Sustainable Development (1999), SEA Directive (2001),
Regulations (2004) and ODPM Guidance (2005) advise that the principal topics of concern in
any sustainability appraisal will be whether the development proposals would achieve:





Social progress that recognises the needs of everyone,
Effective protection of the environment,
Prudent use of natural resources and
Maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and employment.

Page 68

2

1.5

The Government’s guidance on the Sustainability Appraisal process advocates a 5
approach to undertaking the SA.

stage

1.6

The SA has been carried out on the draft Conservation Area Design Guide Supplementary
Planning Document which was subject to a six-week formal consultation period between
Monday 10th July and Friday 18th August 2017.

1.7

Following this formal consultation period and due to there being no representations received
regarding the SA itself, the Council has not made any amendments to the SA since being in its
draft form.

1.8

The SA and modified Design Guide is now available to the public via the Council’s website
[www.copeland.gov.uk] since the Conservation Area Design Guide has been adopted as an
Supplementary Planning Document.

1.9

The SA will be monitored via the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) which is required to be
produced annually by the Local Planning Authority. The indicators identified in the
sustainability framework will be monitored as and when necessary through the annual
monitoring process.

Page 69

3

2.0 INFORMATION
INCORPORATING SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL INTO POLICY DEVELOPMENT
2.1 When considering the flow chart above, the SEA Directive requires the production of an
Environmental Report that provides certain information. Table 1 below outlines the
information requirements and demonstrates how these have been met in the Sustainability
Appraisal documentation that has been prepared.
Table 1: SEA Directive Environmental Report Information Requirements
Environmental Report Requirements

Document

An outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan or
programme and relationship with other plans or programmes.

Chapters 2-11, 14 and
Appendix 1 of LDF
Sustainability Appraisal
Scoping Report.
Chapters 2-12 of LDF
Sustainability Appraisal
Scoping Report.
Chapters 2-12 of LDF
Sustainability Appraisal
Scoping Report.
Chapter 2 of LDF
Sustainability Appraisal
Scoping Report.

The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and
the likely evolution thereof without implementation of the plan or
programme.
The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly
affected.
Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the
plan or programme including, in particular, those relating to any
areas of particular environmental importance, such as areas
designated pursuant to Directives 79/409/EEC (The Birds Directive
– now superseded by Directive 2009/147/EEC) and 92/43/EEC
(Habitats Directive).
The environmental protection objectives, established at the
international, Community or Member State level , which are
relevant to the plan or programme and the way those objectives
and any environmental considerations have been taken into
account during its preparation.
The likely significant effects on the environment, including on
biodiversity, population, human health, fauna, flora, soil, water,
climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage (including
architectural and archaeological heritage), landscape and the
interrelationship between the above factors.
The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible
offset significant adverse effects on the environment of
implementing the plan or programme.
An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with,
and a description of how the assessment was undertaken including
any difficulties (including technical deficiencies or lack of knowhow) encountered in compiling the required information.
A description of the measures envisaged concerning monitoring in
accordance with Article 10.
A non-technical summary of the information provided under the
above headings.

Page 70

Chapters 2-11and Appendix
1 of LDF Sustainability
Appraisal Scoping Report.
This SA document.

This SA document.
Conclusion of this SA
document.
This document – SA
Framework – Table 2.
This SA document.

4

THE SUSTAINABILITY APPRAISAL FRAMEWORK
2.2 The Sustainability Appraisal is based around the Appraisal Framework in Chapter 15 of the
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (September 2009) which accompanies the Core
Strategy and Development Management Policies Development Management Plan (DPD). The
Framework provides a balanced assessment of potential environmental, social and economic
effects relevant to Copeland. It is based on an objectives-led approach whereby the potential
impacts of a plan are appraised in relation to a series of objectives for sustainable
development.

1

2

Table 2: Sustainability Appraisal Framework for Copeland’s Local Development Framework
Indicators that will be used to
SA Objective SA Objective (High
Locally Distinctive subMonitor the Effects of the LDF
Abbreviation
Level Objective)
criteria
Policies and Allocations
Biodiversity
To conserve and
 Number of developments
To ensure that
enhance
including landscaping
development does not
biodiversity in
schemes to benefit
impact upon the condition
Copeland.
biodiversity;
of sites of biodiversity
interest including SSSI and  Change in habitats and
species rated priority in the
other local and national
designations.
Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP);
 Number of developments
To protect Natura 2000
including schemes to protect
sites from the adverse
and/or enhance existing
impacts of human activity,
biodiversity;
pollution and coastal
 Loss of designated habitat.
erosion.
To Promote biodiversity
provision and
enhancement within new
development and seek to
link these to existing
species and habitats.
Landscape & To protect and
 Number of planning
Protect and enhance
Conservation enhance place,
permissions refused on the
features of historical and
landscape and
basis of design;
archaeological importance
buildings of
 % of new development
which contribute to the
meeting BREEAM standards;
historic, cultural
cultural and tourism offer
and archaeological of the borough, including
 Number of derelict
value.
properties;
the Lake District National
 % of Grade 1 and 2*Listed
Park.
Buildings at Risk;
Ensure that all new
 Number of parks with Green
development meets high
Flag status;
standards in terms of the

Number of up to date
quality of design, safety,
Conservation Appraisals;
security, and accessibility
and relates well to existing  Number of refusals due to
impact on landscape
development and the
character/ designation;
public realm.
 Permissions granted within an
area of landscape
designation;

Page 71

5

SA Objective
Abbreviation

3

4

5

Water
Resources

Climate
Change

Flood Risk

SA Objective (High
Level Objective)

To maintain and
enhance the water
quality of
Copeland’s inland
and coastal water
and coasts and to
sustainably
manage water
resources.

To promote
adaptation to
climate change.

To reduce flood
risk in Copeland
from surface
water, rivers,
estuaries and sea
level change.

Locally Distinctive subcriteria
Protect, conserve and
enhance the character and
quality of all landscapes
and townscapes in the
borough, especially those
that contribute to local
distinctiveness, such as the
unique maritime history of
Copeland.
Promote sustainable
design and construction
measures that reduce
water consumption and
result in decreased run-off
of polluted water
(including during
construction phase).
Encourage the allocation
and location of new
development where water
abstraction can occur
sustainably.
Ensure efficient use and
management of water
resources throughout the
borough.
Promote new
development that
minimises the emission of
greenhouse gases.
Seek to provide a built
environment and green
infrastructure network
that will minimise the
impacts on humans and
the environment
associated with climate
change.
Ensure new development
incorporates SUDS.
Avoid development in
areas of flood risk and
mitigate any residual flood
risk through appropriate
measures including
through design.

Page 72

Indicators that will be used to
Monitor the Effects of the LDF
Policies and Allocations
 Number of Tree Preservation
Orders (TPO) made;
 Loss of TPOs;
 Number of S106
enhancements resulting from
planning applications;
 Number of Listed Building
enforcement actions.
















% of main river water quality
classified as good or fair
(chemical or biological) under
the general quality
assessment;
Daily domestic water use (per
person);
Number of applications
including Sustainable
Drainage Systems (SUDs);
Number of beaches with Blue
Flag status.

Provision of renewable energy
in new development;
% of development meeting
Code for Sustainable Homes
standards;
Number of planning
applications including on-site
renewables.

Number of approvals contrary
to Environment Agency (EA)
advice on flooding;
Number of approvals
incorporating EA advice on
flood mitigation guidelines.

6

SA Objective
Abbreviation

SA Objective (High
Level Objective)

Locally Distinctive subcriteria

6

Energy

Increase energy
efficiency in the
built environment
and promote the
use of renewable
energy sources.

7

Land Quality

To promote and
improve land
quality in
Copeland.

Promote high sustainable
design and construction
standards for housing and
non-housing development,
in order to ensure that
Copeland meets the
government target for all
new residential
development being zero
carbon by 2016.
Clear guidelines and
support for the use of
renewable energy sources
in new and existing
developments.
To protect and enhance
soil quality in Copeland.
Develop brownfield sites
where these can support
wider sustainability
objectives (e.g. reduce
travel by car, improve the
public realm, avoid loss of
biodiversity interest,
gardens etc.).
Ensure new development
will not result in
contamination of land and
promote the remediation
of existing contaminated
sites.
Seek to reduce the
amount of CO2 emissions
attributable to the
transport sector.
Reduce the number of
journeys made by car in
order to reduce the high
levels of nitrogen dioxide
in areas of traffic
congestion in the borough.
Consider and mitigate the
impacts on air quality that
might result from specific
developments, including
major infrastructure
projects.

8

Air Quality

To improve air
quality in
Copeland.

Page 73

Indicators that will be used to
Monitor the Effects of the LDF
Policies and Allocations
 Energy efficiency – the
average Standard Assessment
Procedure (SAP) rating of
social housing (1 highly
inefficient – 100 highly
efficient);
 Provision of renewable energy
in new development.
















% of development on
greenfield sites;
(Ha) contaminated land
reclaimed as open
space/natural green space or
for development;
% of contaminated land
reclaimed in total;
% of new development on
brownfield sites;
% of development on
protected open space.

Estimated traffic flows for all
vehicle types (million vehicle
kilometres);
% of development outside Key
Service Centres (KSC) and
Local Service Centres (LSC);
CO2 emissions;
NO2 emissions;
Respiratory related health
issues.

7

SA Objective
Abbreviation

9

Waste &
Recycling

10 Services &
Facilities

11 Health &
Wellbeing

SA Objective (High
Level Objective)

To minimise waste
production and
increase re-use,
recycling and
recovery rates.

To improve access
to services and
facilities in
Copeland.

To improve
physical and
mental health and
well-being of
people and reduce
health inequalities
in Copeland.

Indicators that will be used to
Monitor the Effects of the LDF
Policies and Allocations

Locally Distinctive subcriteria
Seek to promote
opportunities for
incorporating clean and
emission free technologies
in new development.
Reduce the proportion of
waste that goes to landfill
in the borough.
Promote the integration of
waste management
facilities to enable efficient
recycling and energy from
waste as part of new
developments.
Ensure the safe storage of
radioactive waste in the
borough.
Support the adaptive
reuse of buildings where
appropriate.
Provide improved physical
access to services and
facilities on foot, cycle and
by public transport,
particularly in rural and
deprived areas.
Secure economic inclusion
in the most deprived
wards in the borough i.e.
access to jobs.
Ensure that issues of both
rural and urban
deprivation are considered
in development proposals.
Support the adaptive
reuse of buildings where
appropriate.
Maintain accessible
healthcare facilities
throughout Copeland.
Promote healthy and
active lifestyles through
encouraging walking and
cycling as well as the
provision and
improvement of sporting,
recreational and
community facilities in

Page 74



























Volume of household waste
collected per person per year
(kg per head);
Number of new
developments incorporating
recycling facilities;
% household waste collected
which is recycled/composted;
Number of derelict
properties.

% of rural households within
set distances (either 4km or
2km) of key services;
% of development in KSCs and
LSCs;
Number of households within
30mins of key service centres
by public transport;
Number of planning
applications refused on
accessibility grounds;
% of the population within 20
mins travel time of different
sports facility types;
Number of households (or
proportion of population)
with access to broadband.
Doctor/Patient ratio;
Length of cycleway
created/maintained;
% adults taking part in sport;
Number of developments
with restrictions of opening
hours/noise reduction
measures;
Number of visits to leisure
centres;
Design out Crime layouts
8

SA Objective
Abbreviation

SA Objective (High
Level Objective)

Locally Distinctive subcriteria
Copeland.

12 Education &
Skills

13 Sustainable
Economy

To improve
education, skills
and qualifications
in the Borough.

To support a
strong, diverse,
vibrant and
sustainable local
economy to foster
balanced economic
growth.

Reduce crime and the fear
of crime, by adhering to
‘designing out crime’
principles in all new
development.
Improve linkages between
higher education providers
and local employers.
Encourage educational
and training opportunities
for all sectors of the
population, particularly
amongst deprived
communities.
Retain existing jobs and
create new employment
opportunities.
Promote major
employment in
Whitehaven and Key
Service Centres that can
provide access to an
available workforce.
Provide a positive planning
framework for exploiting
new opportunities in
tourism, creative and
knowledge based
industries and the energy
sector, including
renewable energy
technologies.
Maximise opportunities of
the nuclear sector
(decommissioning and
potential new build) offer,
building on skills and
expertise in Copeland.
Provide support for
economic development
that is appropriate for
rural locations, including
small businesses or home
based working.

Page 75

Indicators that will be used to
Monitor the Effects of the LDF
Policies and Allocations
included in application;
 % households with one or
more person with a limiting
long term illness;
 Childhood obesity figures.






















The percentage of pupils in
schools maintained by the
local authority achieving five
or more GCSEs at grades A*-C
or equivalent;
% of the population whose
highest qualification is a first
degree (or equivalent);
% of the population with no
or low qualifications;
Levels of NVQ attainment.
Amount of land supply
available for B1, B2 and B8
uses;
Gross floor space of
completed retail and leisure;
Gross floor space of
completed B1, B2 and B8;
Amount of employment land
lost to residential
development per financial
year (in hectares);
Economic activity rate for
males and females of working
age (expressed as a % of all
people of working age);
Office of National Statistics
(ONS) Annual Population
Survey;
Proximity of jobs from
residences;
% change in the number of
VAT registered businesses;
Unemployment rate % (male
and female);
Gross Value Added (GVA) £
per capita.

9

SA Objective
Abbreviation

14 Leisure &
Tourism

15 Housing

16 Retail

SA Objective (High
Level Objective)

Support the
sustainable
development of
the sustainable
leisure and tourism
industry.

To improve access
to a range of good
quality housing
that meets the
needs of the
Copeland
community.

To maintain,
enhance and
develop a diversity
of retail services in
the Borough.

Indicators that will be used to
Monitor the Effects of the LDF
Policies and Allocations

Locally Distinctive subcriteria
Seek to attract
employment and training
programmes specifically
targeted at maintaining
and increasing the
proportion of young
people in the borough.
Improve the quality of
supporting infrastructure
for tourism in the
borough, such as
accommodation, leisure
and cultural facilities.
Encourage the use of the
boroughs natural and
cultural features for
tourism development,
within their environmental
limits.
Ensure that all new
development meets the
lifetime homes standards,
in order to meet the needs
of an ageing population.
Seek to develop mixed
income communities and
flexibility of tenure and
housing type in the
borough.
Co-ordinate housing
provision with investment
in employment and
community services to
ensure that settlements
meet the needs of their
communities.
Provide decent good
quality and affordable
housing for all including
intermediate and key
worker housing in line
with housing targets.
Protect the shopping and
community services
function of Key and Local
Service Centres
Reduce the number of
vacant retail properties in

Page 76





















Visitor numbers;
Tourism expenditure in the
borough;
Tourism expenditure per
head.

% of households rated unfit;
Number of unfit dwellings
demolished;
Number of affordable homes
completed;
Number of people on housing
waiting lists;
% of housing development
incorporating community
green space/ children’s play
areas;
Average house price;
Income to average house
price ratio;
% of new homes meeting
Lifetime Homes standard;
% of new homes scoring good
or very good on Building for
Life Standard.

Retail hierarchy and ranking;
Number of vacant premises;
New business start-up /
closure rates;
Number of new business
support initiatives or events;
10

SA Objective
Abbreviation

17 Transport

SA Objective (High
Level Objective)

To enhance and
develop
sustainable
transport networks
in Copeland.

Locally Distinctive subcriteria
Whitehaven and the other
smaller service centres in
Copeland.
Improve the quality of the
public realm in order to
improve the attractiveness
of the service centres to
new investment.
Improve the provision and
quality of bus and rail
services in Copeland,
particularly in rural areas.
Develop and maintain
safe, efficient and
integrated transport
networks within Copeland,
with good internal and
external links.
Reduce car dependency by
providing services and
facilities accessible by a
range of modes of
transport.
Promote a pattern of
development which
reduces private vehicle
dependency in the
location of homes, jobs,
leisure and community
services.

Indicators that will be used to
Monitor the Effects of the LDF
Policies and Allocations
 Number of street scene
improvement schemes.










Methods of travel to work;
Vehicle ownership;
Distance travelled to work;
Number of road accidents;
% of development located in
KSC and LSC;
Number of households within
30 minutes of KSC by public
transport;
Length of cycleways
created/maintained (km).

Source: Copeland LDF Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report – prepared by Scott Wilson (September 2009)

2.3

The 17 criteria in the SA Framework are applied below to the aim of the SPD document.

2.4

The Local Plan policies that the SPD relates to have already been subject to their own higher
level Sustainability Appraisal and this is not replicated here.

APPRAISING THE AIM OF THE CONSERVATION AREA DESIGN GUIDE
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT
2.5

The Conservation Area Design Guide aims to help property owners, designers and developers
to achieve good, respectful design and thus protect the heritage that we share. The guide
provides examples of authentic architectural components, that contribute to the streetscape
of the conservation areas and demonstrate what should be retained, and how new building
elements should be designed and constructed to sensitively make their contribution whilst
not harming the historic environment.

2.6

Table 3 provides an overview of the likely effects of the SPD on each of the SA Objectives.

Page 77

11

Table key:
++
Strongly positive
~
Neutral, no obvious effect
-Strongly negative

1
2

Table 3: Appraisal of the SPD
Sustainability
Impact
Objective
Biodiversity
~
Landscape &
++
Conservation

3
4
5
6

Water Resources
Climate Change
Flood Risk
Energy

~
~
~
-

7
8
9

Land Quality
Air Quality
Waste & Recycling

~
~
+

10

Services & Facilities

+

11
12

Health & Wellbeing
Education & Skills

~
+

13

Sustainable
Economy

+

14

Leisure & Tourism

+

15
16

Housing
Retail

~
+

17

Transport

~

+
?

Positive
Negative
Uncertainty, impacts not predicted

Evidence for judgement

No direct impact anticipated.
The distinctive and unique heritage will be protected
and enhanced with respectful design which considers
the unique characteristics of each conservation area.
No direct impact anticipated.
No direct impact anticipated.
No direct impact anticipated.
The guide encourages retention of original windows
which would not be as efficient as new double glazed
windows yet the guide does state that thermal
performance can be improved with the addition of
draught seals and weather strips.
No direct impact anticipated.
No direct impact anticipated.
The guide supports the adaptive reuse of buildings
where appropriate with an emphasis on good and
respectful design which encourages repair rather than
replacement.
The guide supports the adaptive reuse of buildings
where appropriate with an emphasis on good and
respectful design which encourages repair rather than
replacement.
No direct impact anticipated.
The guide will work towards educating users on the
importance of protecting the historic environment. It
may also provide opportunities for the development of
skills by local builders to work on historic buildings.
The guide will work towards enhancing the historic
environment making Copeland’s conservation areas
attractive to visitors, workers and residents, and thereby
keeping the borough’s centres vibrant.
The guide will work towards enhancing the historic
environment making Copeland’s conservation areas
attractive to visitors, workers and residents.
No direct impact anticipated.
The guide will work towards enhancing the historic
environment which will enhance and make more
appealing the setting of the conservation area, including
shopfronts and signage.
No direct impact anticipated.

Page 78

12

Page 79

13

3.0

CONCLUSION

3.1

The Sustainability Appraisal Objectives are designed to cover a wide range of Local
Development Framework (LDF) Documents. These objectives are detailed within Table 2:
Sustainability Appraisal Framework for Copeland’s Local Development Framework of this
document.

3.2

By considering the table appraising the aim of the Conservation Area Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) it is concluded that the aim of the Design Guide SPD
is socially, economically and environmentally sustainable.

3.3

There is one identified negative impact around energy efficiency whereby the Guide SPD
encourages retention of original windows which would not be as efficient as new double
glazed windows yet the guide does state that thermal performance can be improved with the
addition of draught seals and weather strips.

3.4

The aim of the Design Guide SPD has a strongly positive impact upon the Landscape and
Conservation sustainability objective and has positive impacts on Waste and Recycling;
Services and Facilities; Educations and Skills; Sustainable Economy; Leisure and Tourism and;
Retail sustainability objectives.

3.5

The results of the appraisal indicate that compared to a ‘no plan’ scenario, the development
of the Conservation Area Design Guide SPD is a positive addition to the LDF in helping to
ensure that development is sustainable in the Borough.

3.6

The results of this Sustainability Appraisal identify no recommendations for improvement.
The SPD provides guidance and advice that will help to improve the quality of the built
environment in the Borough’s conservation areas.

Page 80

14

Agenda Item 5
LDF 211117

CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISALS

EXECUTIVE MEMBER:

Councillor Alan Holliday

LEAD OFFICER:

Chris Hoban

REPORT AUTHOR:

Richard Majewicz

PURPOSE OF REPORT
To inform Members of the purpose and role of Conservation Area Appraisals (CAAs) which
support the Local Planning Authority in fulfilling its statutory obligation to protect its
conservation areas from development that would harm their character, and to support a case
of mitigation to protect the conservation area from any harm arising because of the
development of Moorside.
1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Local planning authorities have a statutory duty to identify those parts of their area
that merit conservation area status and, once designated, to periodically review
them.

1.2

The designation of a conservation area gives the Local Authority the responsibility to
protect its conservation areas from development that would harm their character. The
Local Planning Authority (LPA), therefore, needs to know what makes up an area’s
special character and this is identified in a character appraisal, the preparation of
which normally precedes designation.

1.3

Of Copeland’s eight conservation areas, however, the only appraisal undertaken in
recent years is that of Whitehaven’s Town Centre, which was carried out by
independent consultants in 2009 and resulted in the re-designation of the Town
Centre Conservation Area following its amalgamation with the High Street
Conservation Area.

1.4

Three CAAs have been produced covering Beckermet, Whitehaven Corkickle and
Whitehaven Town Centre conservation areas. All three CAAs can be referred to in
appendices one to three of this report.
1

Page 81

2.0

THE NEED FOR ADDITIONAL APPRAISALS

2.1

Recent proposals to site a new nuclear power station at Moorside to the immediate
south of the conservation village of Beckermet has given rise to concerns that without
a character appraisal for the conservation area.

2.2

The LPA required further necessary information about the special architectural and
historic interest of the settlement to be able to put forward a case of mitigation to
protect the conservation area from any harm arising because of the development of
Moorside.

2.3

The development of Moorside could also have an impact on land immediately to the
south of Whitehaven town centre, where proposals have been put forward to site
ancillary accommodation for the workforce needed to construct the power station and
associated infrastructure.

2.4

This area of land is overlooked by the Corkickle Conservation Area and the southern
part of the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area, as such, these two areas also
need to be appraised to record their special and individual characteristics in order to
protect them from any development which may be considered harmful.

3.0

PREPARATION OF APPRAISALS AND PUBLIC CONSULTATION

3.1

Due to the lack of staff resources and the need for transparency, tenders were sought
from independent heritage consultants with the required level of experience, and the
successful tenderer had previously completed some 16 appraisals both in Cumbria and
in and around Aberdeen.

3.2

The appraisals were prepared following a detailed assessment of each of the
settlements using Historic England’s 2016 guidance on the production of
conservation area character appraisals.

3.3

Although LPAs are not committed to publicising the production of appraisals,
nevertheless once the draft appraisals had been completed and press notices
issued, a public consultation was held in Beckermet.

3.4

Due to the lack of suitable facilities, the residents of Corkickle and the southern part
of Whitehaven Town Centre were given the opportunity to view the documents
instead at the Council’s Service Centre, on the Council’s media sites and in
Whitehaven’s library.
2

Page 82

3.5

The feedback ewe received was limited to a few responses from some of Beckermet’s
residents.

3.6

The draft documents were subsequently reviewed and finalised and are now
available on the Council’s website. They will form part of a suite of documents
which will help to guide both officers and councillors in deciding the outcome of
future planning applications and assist developers in considering what impact their
proposals may have on a conservation area’s wider character.

3.7

The documents will also help to better inform residents when commenting upon
proposed developments that may affect their conservation area.

4.0

CONCLUSION

4.1

Members have been informed of the purpose and role of Conservation Area
Appraisals (CAAs) which support the Local Planning Authority in fulfilling its statutory
obligation to protect its conservation areas from development that would harm their
character and to support a case of mitigation to protect the conservation area from
any harm arising because of the development of Moorside.

APPENDICES


Appendix One: Beckermet Conservation Area Appraisal



Appendix Two: Corkickle Conservation Area Appraisal



Appendix Three: South Whitehaven Area Appraisal

3

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 85

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal
August 2017

Contents

1

Introduction
1.1
Background
1.2
What is a Conservation Area?
1.3
What is the Purpose of this Document?

Page 4

Location, History and Development
2.1
Location and Setting
2.2
Historic Development
2.2.1 Origins
2.2.2 Development History

Page 6

Character
3.1
Built Environment
3.1.1 Architectural Quality and Built Form
3.1.2 Materials
3.1.3 Uses
3.2
Public Realm
3.2.1 Views/Vistas/Glimpses
3.2.2 Roads and Paths
3.2.3 Boundaries
3.3
Natural Environment
3.3.1 Open Spaces
3.3.2 Water
3.3.3 Trees

Page 13

4

Key Characteristics

Page 25

5

Summary of Issues

Page 26

2

Page 86
2

3

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4
Plan 1
Plan 2
Plan 3

Gazetteer of Statutory Listed Buildings
and Features
Planning Policy Context
Bibliography
Contacts

Page 28

Beckermet Conservation Area
Boundary
Building Quality
Landscape Analysis

Page 3

Page 29
Page 31
Page 32

Page 33
Page 34

Acknowledgements
We are grateful to the staff at the Cumbria Archives
& Local Studies Centre (Whitehaven) who permitted
the reproduction of several of the plans within this
document and to the work of Beckermet Local
History Group.

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

This document has been prepared by:

Plan 1 - Beckermet Conservation Area Boundary
Key
Conservation Area Boundary

Page 87
Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

3

1

1.1

Introduction

Background

Page 88

Within the local authority area of Copeland
Borough Council there are currently eight
conservation areas ranging from one of the
earliest and most complete post medieval
planned towns in England to rural agricultural
villages centuries old. Each conservation area
is unique with its own distinctive character
and pattern of development. Together their
differences all contribute to creating the
identity of modern Copeland. The historic
environment helps us create a sense of place
and provides a context for everyday life. It is
dynamic and able to adapt and respond to
changing needs. Conservation areas however
need to be actively managed to keep their
flexibility, without losing their special qualities.
This guidance seeks to demonstrate how
we wish to protect our historic environment
whilst allowing for change to keep these areas
economically and socially vibrant for today’s
and tomorrow’s residents.
Beckermet is a good example of a west
Cumbrian agricultural village with its linear
layout and abundant vernacular buildings,
most of which were built by the mid nineteenth
century. The development of the village is
steeped in farming, which can be seen in the
farm buildings and field layout. The use of local
red sandstone and roof slates give Beckermet
its cohesion and identity.

4

Beckermet was designated as a conservation
area on 10 July 1979, however there is no
record of an assessment of the village’s
historical or architectural significance having
been undertaken at that time. This character
appraisal sets out to do this and concludes that
Beckermet is still worthy of its conservation
area designation and that no changes to its
boundary are required at this time.

1.2

character. It is not only individual buildings
or groups of them that are of architectural or
historic interest in a conservation area, but also
the spaces between them such as the streets,
open spaces and the public realm. All these
elements combine to create an area’s special
character. Planning is directed at conserving
the integrity of an entire area and being mindful
of the balance and relationships between its
various component parts.

What is a Conservation Area?

Conservation areas are defined in law as:
“Areas of special architectural or historic
interest, the character or appearance of
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”
(s69 Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990)
Conservation areas embrace the quality
and interest of an area as a whole, rather
than individual buildings within it. They are
designated by local planning authorities,
like Copeland Borough Council, who have a
statutory duty to identify those parts of their
area that merit conservation area status
and, once designated, to periodically review
them. The designation of a conservation area
demonstrates a commitment by the local
planning authority to protect and enhance its

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Implication of Conservation Area Status
Under current legislation, conservation area
designation automatically brings the following
works under planning control:
• Demolition of buildings;
• Removal of, or works to, trees;
• Development that may be permitted
elsewhere e.g. some house extensions.
Planning applications for development in
conservation areas are normally made in
full rather than as an outline application.
This is so that the impact of development
on the character of a conservation area can
be assessed in detail. Please contact us for
planning advice (see Appendix 4: Contacts).

Planning in conservation areas is not only
governed by primary legislation, but by
national and local policies such as the National
Planning Policy Framework and Copeland
Local Development Framework. Appendix 2
outlines the current conservation area policy
context.

1.3 What is the Purpose of this
Document?

Page 89

As we are required to protect conservation
areas from development that would harm their
character, we need to know what makes up
an area’s special character. Essentially this is
what a conservation area character appraisal
does. It defines and evaluates key attributes
such as individual buildings and groups;
street patterns, views and open spaces that
contribute towards the special architectural
and historic interest of the settlement. The
area’s special features and changing needs
are assessed through a process that includes
researching its historical development and
carrying out a detailed townscape analysis.
The character appraisal also provides
an opportunity to reassess the current
conservation area boundaries to make certain
that they accurately reflect what is of special
interest.

We will use this character appraisal as
background material when considering
planning applications and appeals. Appraisals
are also used by developers in considering
what impact their proposals may have on a
conservation area’s wider character. They
are of use to residents as well – out of
general interest in their local area and when
commenting on proposed development that
may affect a conservation area. Residents
also have a major role to play in protecting
and enhancing the character and appearance
of a conservation area by keeping properties
regularly maintained and retaining original
features.
This appraisal has been prepared following
a detailed assessment of the village using
Historic England’s guidance (2016) on the
production of conservation area character
appraisals. It analyses Beckermet’s special
architectural and historic interest and should
be read in conjunction with the plans at the
back showing building quality (Plan 2) and a
landscape analysis (Plan 3). Whilst every effort
has been made to highlight those features
that contribute towards the special character,
it is not possible, or desirable, in a document
like this to record everything. Where buildings,
views or open space are not specifically
mentioned it should not be assumed that they
are of no visual or historic interest.

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

5

2

2.1

Location, History and Development

Location and Setting

Page 90

Beckermet is a small village on the confluence
of two streams that meet in its centre - the
Black Beck and the Kirk Beck, which ultimately
feed into the River Ehen. It is located less
than two miles inland from the Irish Sea and
less than a mile to the west of the A595. It lies
almost mid-way between Egremont in the north
and Gosforth in the south-east with the nearest
large town being Whitehaven, 8 miles away.
Sellafield nuclear plant lies approximately
2 miles to the south and the Lake District
National Park lies to the east.
Unusually it was historically covered by no less
than three parishes - St John’s Beckermet;
St Bridget’s Beckermet and, in only a very
small part, Haile. The Parishes of St John’s
and St Bridget’s were separated by Kirk Beck
and the two parts of the village were known
respectively as Little and Great Beckermet.
Since 2011, when the parish boundaries
were redrawn, the village now fully lies within
Beckermet Parish that has a total population
of 1,619 (2011 Census).

Carlisle

M6

Workington
Copeland Council
Boudary

Whitehaven
St Bees Head

Beckermet
Sellafield

Egremont

Gosforth

Kendal

Millom

Location of Beckermet
6

Lake District National Park

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Page 91

The underlying geology of the area is Permo
Triassic red sandstones, mostly St Bees, which
extends between Whitehaven and Sellafield.
The brown sandy soils largely comprise
drift deposits of glacial till (boulder clay) or
fluvio-glacial sands and gravel that provides
moderate quality agricultural land. Most of the
village lies between 15 and 40 metres above
sea level. Beckermet is secluded in a valley
and its historic core appears almost folded
into the surrounding landscape. Indeed, the
extent of the Conservation Area is hardly
discernible from a distance until the descent

into the village centre. Although it lies close to
Sellafield nuclear plant, this complex is only
visible from the higher parts of the village.
Despite the Lake District National Park being
close by, it is again only visible from the
elevated areas of Beckermet.

View looking south across from Morass Road towards Sellafield

View looking east from Braystones Road towards the Lake District
Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

7

2.2
2.2.1

Page 92
8

Historic Development
Origins

The derivation of the name Beckermet is said
to have come from the “meeting of the becks”.
The “stream where the hermit lives” has also
been suggested as “bekkr” is Norse for stream
and “hermite” Old English for hermit. By 1722
the name Beckermet had a settled spelling
and the pronunciation emphasises the second
syllable.
The coastal plain has long been settled and
archaeological evidence has concluded that a
Neolithic settlement once stood by the nearby
Ehenside tarn. A Viking hoard of 20 silver
artefacts was discovered in a Beckermet field
in 2015. Fragments of spiral crosses found at
St John’s Church have been dated to 7001000AD. It is thought that there may have
been a Celtic monastery on the site as early as
650 AD and the very fact that the church was
built on a mound may suggest pre-Christian
habitation. Grave slabs dated 1230-1300 and
archaeological evidence of an early medieval
church all confirm that Beckermet has existed
for a considerable time. Given the geography
and history of West Cumbria, it seems likely
that there was a close association with the
early Christian church in Ireland. The naming
of one of the Parishes after the Irish saint, St
Bridget, may be due to the religious influence

of Irish missionaries in this area. It is thought
that St Bridget’s Church was originally the
site of a C7 nunnery and that the existing
church dates from C13. St John’s Church was
appropriated to the monks of Calder Abbey
by 1262 and remained in their care until the
dissolution of the monasteries in 1536.

Early stone carvings,
St John’s Church

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

2.2.2

Development History

The very pattern of farms and houses reflect
Beckermet’s historical development that,
until the early C20, was one of a village
dominated by agriculture with working farms
and labourers’ cottages. The ownership and
land management of the two major Parishes
however has left differing spatial imprints on
the village. After the Norman Conquest, land
in St John’s Parish was given by William de
Meschines to the Le Fleming family, whose
seat was the now ruined Caernarvon Castle
to the north of the village. St Bridget’s Parish
was held by the Barons of Egremont where the
farms were smaller and scattered along Main
Street separated by access tracks leading
down to Black Beck to allow stock to be
watered.
Rural lowland Cumbrian communities used
an infield system where land was manured
annually and in constant agricultural use rather
than the three-field rotation approach adopted
further south that entailed leaving fields fallow
for a year. This infield system was common
in the wetter parts of the north of England
and Scotland where the lack of drier land
meant that it was uneconomic to leave a field
fallow. The resultant pattern of long narrow
fields that can still be seen to the south of
East Croft reflect these old farming methods.
Because there was no rotation, enclosure of

these infields took place early on with hedges
or stone walls being built on the “rigg” or
ridge between the furlongs of cultivated land.
Traditionally many of these fields would adjoin
the road, forming visual breaks between the
various farms and cottages such as the field
on Morass Road to the north of Barwickstead
Farm.

kept as sheep and pigs could be
fed over winter. Indeed, the area
was once known for its bacon.
The number of working farms
decreased dramatically and by
mid C20 only 12 were left and, by
2009, there were 6 and today only
2 remain.

Page 93

Oats, which were suited to the cold, wet
climate, were the staple diet until agricultural
innovations in the C19 enabled wheat, barley,
turnips and potatoes to be grown. Growing
root vegetables in turn allowed livestock to be
Working farm Townhead barn

Field between Barwickstead and Hunter Rise Morass Road

Access track to Black Beck

Converted barn - 1-3 Hunter Rise

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

9

Page 94
1st OS edition 1867

The modern day spatial layout of Beckermet
Conservation Area, and indeed most buildings
within it, can be clearly seen on the 1st OS
plan of 1867. The second OS survey of 1900
shows the railway to the west of the village.
By the end of the C19 a few more substantial
properties had been built on the edge of the
village such as Mayfield and Yourity (1884).
By 1926 Holyoake Terrace, the former Coop and Post Office on Brookside had been
added together with The Villas, Ingleberg

10

2nd OS edition 1900

(1900) and the Reading Rooms of 1923 on
Sellafield Road. Very little has been added
since then although the buildings themselves
have undergone alterations over successive
ownerships, reflecting changing needs and
tastes. Brooklyn Place on Brookside stands
out as the one late C20 property within the
Conservation Area itself.

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Like most small, relatively isolated rural
villages, Beckermet would once have been
largely self-sufficient and had a wide number
of trades and small businesses. The smithy
was attached to the White Mare PH which
had a seed merchant within it. A boot and clog
maker was also nearby. Uses have changed
over time – the Royal Oak PH was once the
middle cottage in a row of originally thatched
cottages. The Post Office opened in 1842 and
was located at East Croft for a considerable

Page 95

OS edition 1926

period although it is now closed. Beckermet
had its own policeman by the late C19 who
resided in Rifle Terrace. The Co-op opened
in 1913 and comprised not only the shop, but
also the manager’s house and the row of nine
cottages at Holyoake Terrace dated 1911.
The Co-op closed in the 1970’s with the shop
becoming a book shop before finally closing in
1984. Except for the pubs, the one remaining
trade on the main street is the garage opposite
Brooklyn Place.

White Mare Public House

St John’s Church has long held long a central
place in the spiritual and community life of
Beckermet and continues to do so. The current
church building dates from 1879, replacing one
built in 1811 that proved structurally unsound.
This in turn replaced a medieval church whose
font is in the graveyard. The church of St
Bridget, also known as the Low Church or Old
Church, that served the parish of Beckermet
St Bridget is half a mile outside the village in
open farmland. The village has had a school

in various locations since 1798. The current
school on Mill Lane opened in 1964 replacing
a now demolished one, dating from 1858, on
what is still known as School Green. Adult
education was served by the erection of the
Reading Rooms in 1923.
Beckermet had a railway station to the west
of the village on the Egremont to Sellafield
extension line build in the 1860’s. The line
closed in 1935 to passenger traffic and to

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

11

workmen’s trains in 1965. A cycle path now
runs along the old railway line between
Beckermet and Sellafield.
In 1903, the Beckermet Mining Company was
set up to exploit the Cumberland and Furness
iron ore field and it employed many village
men. The company was based to the north of
Beckermet and it closed in 1973.

Page 96

The biggest impact on Beckermet, however,
was the construction of the nearby Windscale
nuclear plant that began in 1947 as part of the
British nuclear weapons programme of the
late 1940’s. The neighbouring Calder Hall, the
world’s first commercial nuclear power station,
was opened in 1956. In 1981, the Windscale
and Calder Hall works were renamed Sellafield
as part of a reorganisation of the site. The
nuclear industry has provided employment for
local people who might otherwise have left
Beckermet. It has also led to a big increase in
the village’s population with several new, late
C20 residential developments lying just outside
the Conservation Area. In the 2011 census
Beckermet Parish as a whole had a population
of 1,619.

Top: Royal Oak Public House
Bottom: Garage - J W Jacques & Co
12

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

3

3.1

Character

Built Environment

3.1.1 Architectural Quality and Built Form
(see Plan 2 on page 33)

Page 97

Beckermet has developed over the centuries
and its current spatial layout derives from
a mixture of natural features, such as the
two becks, and the pattern of land tenure.
Buildings are strung out along the main road
running through the village – Morass Road
and Main Street with Braystones, Sellafield
and Mill Roads coming off it. The use of
local sandstone and slate, together with
predominantly two storey buildings, does give
the Conservation Area a cohesion and identity
despite the varying architectural styles.
Beckermet Bridge is not only the meeting
point of Black Beck and Kirk Beck, but also
the link between the Parishes of Beckermet
St John’s and Beckermet St Bridget’s. Being
linear in layout, the village has no obvious
centre although the immediate area around
Beckermet Bridge, such as the White Mare PH
and School Green, has the sense of being the
hub. This is in part because the area around
the bridge is a more open than elsewhere in
the settlement. Although St John’s Church
is close to this nexus, it stands slightly apart
because of its elevated position and access
from further north along Morass Road.

In general, the farmhouses are set back
slightly from the road. There are several
examples based on the longhouse
arrangement with the barn and house forming
one continuous building, traditionally separated
internally by a cross passage. This building
form is very old and was commonly used in the
medieval period. It remained prevalent right
up to the early C19, but is usually associated
in Cumbria with the C17 and C18 when the
area became more peaceful and prosperous
and there was widespread building and rebuilding in stone. These buildings face the
road, often with a small area in front of them.
This contrasts with the more hierarchical C19
arrangement whereby the house is physically
separated from the barns and ancillary
buildings. Townhead, and the prestigious
farm complex of Berwickstead, built in 1858,
exemplify this later style.

Whilst there are only two listed structures
(see Appendix 1), the clear majority of
buildings make a positive contribution to
the architectural and historic significance
of the Conservation Area as shown on
Plan 2 on page 33. Identifying them as
making a positive contribution is not
a reflection of them necessarily being
visually attractive or even in sound
structural condition. A building can
make a positive contribution because
of its historical or architectural interest,
even though this may not be obviously
apparent at first sight. No buildings have
been identified as making a negative
contribution.

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

13

Page 98
14

Traditional farmhouses with attached barn - Beck Brow

and

Brooklyn Place – date stone 1722, altered 1883

C19 farmhouses with separate barn - Barwickstead

and

Townhead

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

As elsewhere in the county, the biggest wave
of agricultural development occurred in the
late C18 to late C19 and there are plenty of
buildings from that era in Beckermet. There are
a number of large barns that are either still in
use, dilapidated or have been converted into
residential use.

Cottages dating from before the mid C19 are
usually terraced and front the road with little
or nothing in the way of forecourt and with
gardens at the rear. Like the farms of the
period, the buildings originally had a high wall
to window ratio. Most window openings have
been subsequently enlarged (see image of
Brooklyn Place). The more prestigious late
C18 and early/mid C19 properties however
showed their owners’ wealth with large, multi-

paned sash windows and significantly greater
head room heights. Still fronting the road,
the social hierarchy is shown by the house
being set back within a stone walled boundary
and front garden. The group of houses on
the east of Morass Road, Elm Cottage,
Beech House, Holly House and Coney Garth
House, are good examples of this ordered
architecture. The Parish of Beckermet St
John’s has a far greater number of higher

Page 99
Barn on Main Street in use

Converted barn on Hunter Rise
Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

15

status buildings than does St Bridget’s, which
may be due to land ownership patterns. Roofs
were typically constructed of graduated slate
without dormers, although there are some
later buildings with dormers. Chimneys are an
important feature on all houses right up to the
mid C20.

Page 100
16

By 1900 there were some very substantial
houses in Beckermet set back in their own
grounds, such as Yourity (1884) and Ingleberg
(1900) built by two brothers John and Thomas
Robley. These designed properties were
architecturally diverse and reflect a variety of
influences. All houses, whether as detached or
terraced, feature a strong vertical emphasis,
to which the sash windows make a major
contribution. This contrasts with the horizontal
emphasis of traditional vernacular buildings,
such as Rose Cottage.

Terrace with small forecourt

Painted quoins and window surrounds Coney Garth House

Croft Lodge in Beckermet St Bridget’s

Dormers - Townhead Cottage

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

3.1.2

Materials

Page 101

Holyoake Terrace 1911

Yourity 1884

Given the underlying geology of St Bees
sandstone, it is hardly surprising that most
of the older buildings are constructed of this
stone. Historically, the sandstone came either
from Beggar Ghyll or Bank End Quarries, to
the south and north respectively of Egremont.
St Bees is a fine grained and consistently
textured sandstone and is very workable as
a building material. When wet the mica in
the stone gives it a sparkling effect. Up until
greater mechanisation in quarrying in C19, the
stone was hand worked with sandstone ashlar
blocks being used only for the more prestigious
buildings.

Ingelberg 1900

Rose Cottage

St John’s Church - sandstone

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

17

Page 102

Most of the vernacular buildings were built
of random sandstone and typically covered
with a lime render and lime washed to make
them more weather resistant. The annual
lime washing of agricultural buildings also
helped to disinfect them. By contrast the door
and window surrounds were often of dressed
sandstone although many of these have been
painted over the years. Many houses now
have a cementitious render on them that can
make them look more modern than they are.
The high ratio of wall to window is often an

indication that the building underneath the
render is older than may at first be supposed.
Today many of the rendered houses are
brightly painted adding liveliness in some
cases, such as a simple terrace. In others,
such as Barwickstead, that was designed
as a single house and subsequently subdivided, the differing colours detract from
its architectural composition. Some later
properties, such as Leabank, used sandstone
and render to create architectural detailing and
interest.

tooled sandstone blocks - East Croft
18

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Most roofs are formed of traditional Lakeland
slates. The steep roof pitches of many
properties suggest that they were once
thatched. Several barn roofs have been
replaced with corrugated iron.
There have been many changes to buildings
over time. The change in farming patterns
has led to many farms no longer being in
productive use, which has had profound
implications for the former farm house and
associated barns. Most have been converted

Painted render - Croft Terrace

to residential use, but sometimes in an
unsympathetic way that has left little of the
building’s original character. There are many
uPVC replacement windows on properties,
however it is less the material than the design
and size of the windows that detracts from the
character of the Conservation Area.

Page 103
Barwickstead

Unpainted sandstone window surrounds Barwickstead

Steep roof pitch - The Crosses

Design using sandstone and render - Leabank

Traditional graduated slate roof

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

19

3.1.3

Uses

Page 104

Whilst most buildings within the Conservation
Area are residential, there are still a few
working farms, two pubs, a garage with fuel
pumps, a motorbike parts supplier and a
church. The use that dominates Beckermet,
however, is the nearby Sellafield nuclear plant
and many residents work there. Sellafield also
generates demand for mid-week, temporary
accommodation as well as through rush hour
traffic. At the time of writing there is a proposed
major development of a new nuclear power
station, ‘Moorside Power Station’, that would
be in close proximity to Beckermet.
Satellite dishes – Croft Terrace

Restyled traditional farmhouse – Midtown Cottage
20

Garage on Main Street

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Disused farm buildings - Barwickstead

Farm opposite East Croft

3.2

Public Realm
(see Plan 3 on page 34)

3.2.1 Views/Vistas/Glimpses
The topography of Beckermet, with the village
nestled well down in a slight valley, means
that there are few long-distance vistas within
the Conservation Area itself. It difficult to see
the historic core of the village from a distance.
Please see Plan 3 on page 34 for a detailed
analysis. There are long views along Morass
Road and Main Street.

Page 105

The two sharp bends in the road between Croft
Lodge and The Villas leading on to Beckermet
Bridge, coupled with the tunnelling effect

View eastwards from Mill Lane

between St John’s Church and Beck Brow
that are both bounded by higher stone walls
and on raised ground, visually accentuate the
division between the parishes of St John’s and
St Bridget’s. Beckermet is not a planned village
so there are no formal set pieces with views
terminating on a grand building or similar.
The one building that could be described as
a landmark is the Church of St John’s and
this is largely due to its elevated position in
the village. Even this, however, cannot be
seen from a long distance. Glimpses play
an important role, such as the tracks from
Brookside and East Croft leading down to
Black Beck.

Walls between St John’s Church and Beck Brow

Glimpse off Main Street

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

21

3.2.2

Roads and Paths

Page 106

The main road through Beckermet is Morass
Road leading on to Main Street (East Croft
and Brookside). Mill Lane, Braystones Road
and Sellafield Road lead off it. There is little
in the way of pavement anywhere in the
Conservation Area. The traffic pattern is
variable, however there is increased traffic
during the Sellafield rush hour. The chicane
over Beckermet Bridge acts as a natural speed
deterrent and the bridge itself is a significant
historic feature in the road layout. The village

Paths are mostly unbound surfaces as would
be expected in the countryside. Forecourts and
yards have a variety of treatments from tarmac
to traditional cobbles.

Cobbled field boundary wall

Main Street east of Beckermet Bridge
22

no longer has a bus service although the
bus shelter and stops remain. The Hadrian’s
Cycleway runs through the village and is well
used, particularly during the summer.

Hadrian’s Cycleway

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Cobbled farmyard - Barwickstead

3.2.3

Boundaries

One of the most striking aspects of
Beckermet’s boundary walls is the use of
materials. The field boundaries are generally
constructed of cobbled sandstone and are
often banked. Elsewhere in the village cobbled
boundary walls can be found particularly on
older properties. Local sandstone also features
in formal boundary walls, sometimes carved as
at Barwickstead.

John’s Church and Beck Brow are particularly
striking and create a sense of narrow
enclosure.
Wall copings are basic on simple field
boundaries becoming more elaborate on
house boundary walls, which increases with
the higher the status of the house.

Page 107

Walls are also evidence of past buildings
where the front wall is all that remains with
window and door openings blocked up with
stone. The high stone walls that bound St

Random stone wall with tooled coping stones

Banked cobble boundary wall

Sandstone and render wall - Barwickstead

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

23

3.3
3.3.1

Natural Environment

3.3.2

Page 108

The confluence of Black and Kirk Becks has
always been a key factor in Beckermet’s
history and life. This is particularly so in
Beckermet St Bridget’s with its series of tracks
leading down from Main Street to the stream
giving access to water for both humans and
cattle in the past. The visual liveliness and
sound of water is particularly noticeable by
Beckermet Bridge and School Green. The
streams are of great ecological value although
they do flood on occasions causing damage to
nearby properties.

Open Spaces

The dedicated open space of School Green
occupies a central site in the village, next
to Beckermet Bridge. It has a children’s
playground and is used for informal recreation.
The Conservation Area also has other private
land that helps to create breaks in the urban
form. Most noticeable are the gardens
opposite East Croft bounded by traditional
boulder walling and the field that comes down
to Morass Road. In Beckermet St John’s there
are several houses with large front gardens
that also reinforce the village’s open quality.
Historic land cultivation patterns are still
evident in the long narrow fields to the south of
Greenacres.

Gardens – opposite East Croft

3.3.3

Trees

There are a great many trees in the
Conservation Area, which help reinforce its
rural character. There are no street trees, but
trees surround the village in field boundaries,
in private gardens and School Green. Being
mostly deciduous, the changing leaves of the
trees underscores the passage of the seasons
and offers different views and glimpses over
the year.

School Green

24

Water

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

4

Key Characteristics

• Early origins, thought to date back to C7
• Historic development pattern reflecting
land ownership and tenure
• Remaining evidence of historic land
cultivation patterns
• Confluence of two streams – Black
and Kirk Becks that divided the former
Parishes of Beckermet St John’s and
Beckermet St Bridget’s

Page 109

• No defined village centre, but open area
around Beckermet Bridge acts as such
Black Beck

• Main building period – late C17 to 1919
• Most properties make a positive
contribution to the Conservation Area (see
Plan 2 on page 33)
• In general buildings face the road, front
elevation on

• Unbroken graduated roofs in local slate.
Dormers on some later buildings
• Rendered houses, some brightly painted
• Wide range of buildings and architectural
styles from vernacular agricultural farms
and attached barns to later higher status
detached properties.
• Cohesion and sense of place deriving
largely from consistent palette of building
materials – sandstone, render and local
slate
• Sandstone boundary walls, many cobbled
• Extensive tree coverage
• Historic tracks from East Croft and
Brookside leading down to Black Beck for
watering cattle

• Social hierarchy evidenced by back of
pavement building line in lower status
properties to more prestigious, later
properties set well back in gardens
• Widespread use of local sandstone,
particularly St Bees, as a building material

Beckermet Bridge

• Houses are mostly two storeys with
chimneys

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

25

5

Summary of Issues

• Potential major development at Moorside
and its implications for the Conservation
Area.

Page 110

• Several barns and disused farm buildings
are in poor structural condition, especially
roofs. Partial collapse and loss of these
structures is likely to occur over time
without intervention. Re-use of some of
the redundant barns may be problematic
due to farm layout.
• Very high number of pre-1919 properties
that contribute to the historic and
architectural character of the Conservation
Area. Unsympathetic alterations to
traditional buildings have undermined this
particularly with regard to size of window
openings and design.

We are keen to protect the heritage that we
share. To that end, we have commissioned
a Conservation Area Design Guide that is
intended to help property owners, designers
and developers achieve good, respectful
design. This is anticipated to be adopted as
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
in winter 2017/18. We will use the SPD, this
appraisal and any funding opportunities that
might present themselves in the future to
work in partnership to enhance and celebrate
Beckermet Conservation Area.

Disused agricultural buildings - Main Street

• Flooding
• Integrating new proposed residential
development on the field fronting Morass
Road with the Conservation Area. Any
development brief for this site should
retain a sense of openness at the site’s
juncture with Morass Road.
• Guidance re paint colours for rendered
buildings and window/door surrounds.
Potential to be a community project.
Unsympathetic conversion - Main Street
26

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Field meeting Morass Road

Appendices

Page 111
Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

27

Appendix 1

Gazetteer of Statutory Listed Buildings and Features

List entry
number

Building name/
number

1336063
1086593

Date of
listing

Date of
construction

Location

Grade

Church of St
John the Baptist

Morass Road

II

14/07/1989

1878-9

Font north of St
John’s Church

Morass Road

II

14/07/1989

Date uncertain,
probably medieval.

Page 112
28

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Notes

Appendix 2

Planning Policy Context

The general thrust of national and local
planning policy is that the historic environment
is a precious resource that should be
conserved. Once lost, it is gone forever. Policy
recognises, however, that historic buildings
and areas are, and always have been, subject
to alteration and adaptation over time and that
the greater the significance of an historic asset,
the more it should be conserved.

Page 113

To manage change effectively local planning
authorities, such as the Council, need to
understand what is important about a building,
structure or area. A character appraisal helps
us appreciate what is significant about a
conservation area so that we can assess
the impact of a development proposal on
that significance. This appraisal will be used
as background material when considering
planning applications and appeals.

National planning policy regarding
conservation areas can be found in:

Policy ENV4 – Heritage Assets

• Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (s 69-76)

The Council’s policy is to maximise the
value of the Borough’s heritage assets by:

• National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (2012) paras 126 -141 and

A Protecting listed buildings, conservation
areas and other townscape and rural
features considered to be of historic,
archaeological or cultural value

• National Planning Policy Guidance
(NPPG) – Conserving and enhancing the
historic environment (2014).
This is reflected at local level in:
• Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028:
Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2013)
Local Plan Policies ENV4 Heritage Assets
and DM27 Built Heritage and Archaeology
are of direct relevance to the Conservation
Area. The Council has also commissioned
a Conservation Area Design Guide that is
intended to help property owners, designers
and developers achieve good, respectful
design. This is anticipated to be adopted as
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in
winter 2017/18.

B Supporting proposals for heritage led
regeneration, ensuring that any listed
buildings or other heritage assets
are put to an appropriate, viable and
sustainable use
C Strengthening the distinctive character
of the Borough’s settlements, through
the application of high quality urban
design and architecture that respects
this character and enhances the
settings of listed buildings
Policy DM27 supports this policy, setting
out the Council’s approach to development
which affects built heritage and
archaeology.

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

29

Policy DM27 – Built Heritage and
Archaeology

Page 114

A Development proposals which protect,
conserve and where possible enhance
the historic, cultural and architectural
character of the Borough’s historic sites
and their settings will be supported.
This will be particularly relevant in the
case of:
i) Scheduled Ancient Monuments
ii) Conservation Areas
iii) Listed Buildings and structures
iv) Non-listed buildings and structures
or landscape features of local heritage
and archaeological value
v) Surface and below ground
archaeological deposits
B Development proposals which have
a significant adverse effect on a
Scheduled Ancient Monument or
its wider site or setting will not be
permitted
C Development within Conservation
Areas will only be permitted where it

30

preserves or enhances the character
or appearance of the area and, where
appropriate, views in and out of the
area. The Council will pay particular
attention to:
i) How new development respects the
character of existing architecture and
any historical associations, landscape
features, open spaces, trees, walls and
quality of townscape
ii) The impact of any proposed works
to trees with regard to policy DM28
iii) The design of any proposals for new
or altered shopfronts and / or signage,
which should be an integral part of the
design and avoid the use of internally
illuminated signage
D Development which affects Listed
Buildings or their setting will only be
permitted where it:
i) Respects the architectural and
historic character of the building
ii) Avoids any substantial or total
demolition, or any demolition that is
not related to proposed development
affecting the building

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

iii) Does not have a significant adverse
effect on the setting or important views
of the building
iv) Involves a change of use to all
or part of the listed building which
contributes to the conservation and
overall economic viability of the
building, and where the use can be
implemented without any adverse
alterations to the building
E Any development proposal which
is considered to affect an existing
or potential site of archaeological
importance will be required to be
accompanied by an archaeological
assessment. Where archaeological
deposits are evident, below ground or
on the surface, evidence should be
recorded and where possible preserved
in-situ. Proposals for development
where archaeological interest has been
established will not be approved until
evidence has been provided that the
risk of archaeological disturbance has
been adequately investigated and has
been minimised. Planning permission
will not be granted if the impact on
potential archaeology is unacceptable.”

Appendix 3

Bibliography

Copeland Borough Council

Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028: Adopted Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2013)

Historic England

Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (2016)
Advice Note 7: Local Heritage Listing (2016)
Historic Farmsteads: Preliminary Character Statement - North West Region (2006)

Page 115

Brunskill R W

Vernacular Architecture of the Lake Counties (1974)

Beckermet Local History Group

Beckermet: A Tale of Two parishes, a Quarter and a Tail (2009)

Pesvner N

The Buildings of England: Cumberland and Westmorland (1967)

Websites used
Heritage Gateway

http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/

Church of England Church Heritage
Records

https://facultyonline.churchofengland.org

Historic England Archive

http://archive.historicengland.org.uk/default.aspx

Historic England Pastscape

http://www.pastscape.org.uk/default.aspx

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

31

Appendix 4

Contacts

For any further information please contact:
Copeland Borough Council
Market Hall
Market Street
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

Page 116
32

Tel:

01946 598 300

Email: info@copeland.gov.uk
Twitter: @copelandbc
Web:

www.copeland.gov.uk

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Plan 2 - Building Quality

Key
Conservation Area boundary
Positive townscape quality
Listed Building

Page 117
Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

33

Plan 3 - Landscape Analysis
Key
Conservation Area boundary
Important spaces
Urban green spaces
Landmark
Long vistas
Deflected views
Glimpses
Views

Page 118

Incline

34

Historic track to Black Beck

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Page 119
Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

35

Page 120

Beckermet Conservation Area Character Appraisal
August 2017

Copeland Borough Council
Market Hall
Market Street
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG
Tel:
01946 598 300
Email: info@copeland.gov.uk
Twitter: @copelandbc
www.copeland.gov.uk

Page 121

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal
August 2017

Contents

1

Introduction
1.1
Background
1.2
What is a Conservation Area?
1.3
What is the Purpose of this Document?

4

Location, History and Development
2.1
Location and Setting
2.2
Historic Development

6

Character
3.1
Built Environment
3.1.1 Architectural Quality and Built Form
3.1.2 Materials
3.2
Public Realm
3.2.1 Views/Vistas/Glimpses
3.2.2 Roads and Paths
3.2.3 Boundaries
3.3
Natural Environment
3.3.1 Open Spaces
3.3.2 Trees

10
10

4

Key Characteristics

26

5

Summary of Issues

26

2

Page 122
2

3

Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4
Plan 1
Plan 2
Plan 3
Plan 4

Gazetteer of Statutory Listed Buildings
and Features
Planning Policy Context
Bibliography
Contacts

28

Corkickle Conservation Area
Boundary
Corkickle in Context
Building Quality
Landscape Analysis

3

30
32
33

6
34
35

21

Acknowledgements
25

We are grateful to the staff at the Cumbria Archives
& Local Studies Centre (Whitehaven) who permitted
the reproduction of several of the plans within this
document and to John Pritchard for kindly allowing
the use of some photographic images.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

This document has been prepared by:

Plan 1 - Corkickle Conservation Area Boundary
Key
Conservation Area Boundary

Page 123
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

3

1

1.1

Introduction

Background

Page 124

Within the local authority area of Copeland
Borough Council there are currently eight
conservation areas ranging from one of the
earliest and most complete post medieval
planned towns in England to rural agricultural
villages centuries old. Each conservation area
is unique with its own distinctive character
and pattern of development. Together their
differences all contribute to creating the
identity of modern Copeland. The historic
environment helps us create a sense of place
and provides a context for everyday life. It is
dynamic and able to adapt and respond to
changing needs. Conservation areas however
need to be actively managed to keep their
flexibility, without losing their special qualities.
This is where this guidance comes in. We
are committed to protecting our historic
environment whilst allowing for change to keep
these areas economically and socially vibrant
and meaningful for today’s and tomorrow’s
residents.
Corkickle was designated as a conservation
area on 29 August 1969 and was one of
the first in Copeland. Although it has a high
number of listed buildings, there is no record of
an assessment of its historical or architectural
significance having been undertaken at that
time. This character appraisal sets out to do

4

this and concludes that Corkickle is still worthy
of its conservation area designation and that
no changes to its boundary are required.

1.2

What is a Conservation Area?

Conservation areas are defined in law as:
“Areas of special architectural or historic
interest, the character or appearance of
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”

elements combine to create an area’s special
character. Planning is directed at conserving
the integrity of an entire area and being mindful
of the balance and relationships between its
various component parts.
Implication of Conservation Area Status
Under current legislation, conservation area
designation automatically brings the following
works under planning control:

(s69 Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990)

• Demolition of buildings;

Conservation areas embrace the quality
and interest of an area as a whole, rather
than individual buildings within it. They are
designated by local planning authorities, such
as Copeland Borough Council, who have a
statutory duty to identify those parts of their
area that merit conservation area status
and, once designated, to periodically review
them. The designation of a conservation area
demonstrates a commitment by the local
planning authority to protect and enhance its
character. It is not only individual buildings
or groups of them that are of architectural or
historic interest in a conservation area, but also
the spaces between them such as the streets,
open spaces and the public realm. All these

• Development that may be permitted
elsewhere e.g. some house extensions.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

• Removal of, or works to, trees;

Planning applications for development in
conservation areas are normally made in full
rather than as an outline application. This is so
that the impact of development on the character
of a conservation area can be assessed in
detail. Please contact us for planning advice
(see Appendix 4: Contacts).
Planning in conservation areas is not only
governed by primary legislation, but by national
and local policies such as the National Planning
Policy Framework and Copeland Local
Development Framework. Appendix 2 outlines
the current conservation area policy context.

1.3 What is the Purpose of this
Document?

Page 125

As we are required to protect conservation
areas from development that would harm their
character, we need to know what makes up
an area’s special character. Essentially this is
what a conservation area character appraisal
does. It defines and evaluates key attributes
such as individual buildings and groups;
street patterns, views and open spaces that
contribute towards the special architectural
and historic interest of the settlement. The
area’s significant features and changing needs
are assessed through a process that includes
researching its historical development and
carrying out a detailed townscape analysis.
The character appraisal also provides
an opportunity to reassess the current
conservation area boundaries to make certain
that they accurately reflect what is of special
interest.
We will use this character appraisal as
background material when considering
planning applications and appeals. Appraisals
are also used by developers in considering
what impact their proposals may have on a
conservation area’s wider character. They
are of use to residents as well – out of
general interest in their local area and when
commenting on proposed development that

may affect a conservation area. Residents
also have a major role to play in protecting
and enhancing the character and appearance
of a conservation area by keeping properties
regularly maintained and retaining original
features.
This appraisal has been prepared following a
detailed assessment of Corkickle using Historic
England’s guidance (2016) on the production
of conservation area character appraisals. It
analyses it’s special architectural and historic
interest and should be read in conjunction with
the plans at the back showing building quality
(Plan 3 on page 34) and a townscape analysis
(Plan 4 on page 35). Whilst every effort has
been made to highlight those features that
contribute towards the special character, it is
not possible, or desirable, in a document like
this to record everything. Where buildings,
views or open space are not specifically
mentioned it should not be assumed that they
are of no visual or historic interest.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

5

2

2.1

Location, History and Development

Location and Setting

Plan 2 - Corkickle in Context

Page 126

Corkickle is a linear suburb of Whitehaven
lying approximately half a mile to the south
east of Whitehaven town centre. The principle
roads within it are the main Egremont road, the
A5094, and the secondary Foxhouses Road.
To the north lies Midgey Wood; to the west a
housing estate and the railway line and in the
south east the Conservation Area is bounded
by the A595 Workington to Barrow road.
Corkickle is set on a hillside orientated
towards the south west from which there are
outstanding views towards the town centre and
sea beyond and to the Woodhouse area on the
opposite side of the Pow Beck Valley.

2.2

Historic Development

Origins
It is said that the name Corkickle is derived
from “cor” meaning a corpse and “kickle” a
circle and refers to ancient remains of a stone
circle found at the present site of Whitehaven
Castle. Legend has it that the stones were
the bodies of enchanted warriors, hence the
corpse circle and modern day Corkickle.
Key

6

Conservation Area Boundary

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

South Whitehaven Conservation Area

Development History
Although there was a medieval Manor of
Corkickle, the development of that part of
Corkickle covered by the Conservation Area
owes much to the Lowther family’s estate
management. There are records of coal pits
in Corkickle in the early C17, but the story of
Corkickle as it is known today only starts in the
late C18.

The development of Corkickle is inextricably
linked to that of Whitehaven itself, which is
one of the first post medieval planned towns
in England. Please see Whitehaven Town
Centre Conservation Area Character Appraisal
for more information. As Whitehaven grew
in prosperity in the C17 and C18, so did its
population. There was a very rapid rise in
the number of inhabitants in the C18, which

peaked at approximately 16,000 by 1785.
The pressure for development intensified
and led to new “backhouses” being built in
the courtyards to the rear of existing houses
and the consequent loss of gardens. Houses
were being subdivided to accommodate more
people. Living conditions deteriorated and
prosperous merchants and sea captains began
to look elsewhere to live.

Page 127
Conservation Area as seen from the harbour (J Pritchard)

Conservation Area as seen from Coach Road (J Pritchard)
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

7

“CORKICKLE, a village in Preston-Quarter township, St. Bees
parish, Cumberland; on the Whitehaven and Furness railway, in the
southern vicinity of Whitehaven. It has a station on the railway.”
John Marius Wilson Imperial Gazetteer of England and Wales
1870-72

Page 128

Lowther Street leads from the harbour to Whitehaven Castle, or The
Flatt as it is locally known, and from there it leads south-eastwards uphill
and was the turnpike road to Egremont. Rising past the Corkickle Rope
Works to the east of Coach Road, the air was cleaner, there were views
to be had and, above all, there was space to build and yet still be close
to the business hub of the town centre and harbour just over half a mile
away. Corkickle formed part of the Lowther family’s Whitehaven estates
and they saw the opportunity to sell off parcels of land adjoining the
main road to Egremont to build prestigious houses for the merchant and
professional classes who no longer wished to remain in the cramped
and increasingly squalid town centre. Effectively the Whitehaven suburb
of Corkickle is late C18/early C19 ribbon development.
John Wood’s plan of 1830 shows the road layout as it is today in the
Conservation Area. Front and Back Corkickle are largely developed
except at the southern end. Waterloo Terrace and several other late
C18 properties on Foxhouses Road and the Retreat are also depicted.
There is no development at all on the east side of what is now Inkerman
Terrace except for Corkickle Brewery, which was built in 1774. During
the mid C19 there was rapid development in the area. By the first OS
plan of 1867, Hamilton Terrace, Victoria Terrace, Kelswick House and
some of Inkerman Terrace had been built.

8

John Wood’s plan 1830

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Page 129
1st OS edition 1867

The largest change to the Corkickle landscape
was the coming of the Whitehaven, Cleator
and Egremont Railway to link the mines inland
with the Whitehaven and Furness Junction
Railway and harbour. Corkickle station opened
in 1855, at the southern end of the 1,219m
Bransty Rail Tunnel from Whitehaven station
that ran under the grounds of Whitehaven
Castle. By the end of the C19 most of the
properties within the Conservation Area had
been built right up to the modern A595.

2nd OS edition 1900

By 1926 there was a school where Ghyll
Bank House stands today and in the inter
war period many “motor houses” or garages
were built in the area. The former allotment
gardens immediately to the west of Foxhouses
Road were developed for post war housing,
which altered the setting of the properties
on Foxhouses Road and Inkerman Terrace.
Many of the larger houses in the Conservation
Area were subdivided in the post War period.
Garlieston House, a former large detached villa

off Front Corkickle, was demolished in 1997
and the site redeveloped for housing in the
early C20 (Garlieston Court and Mews). The
primary use in Corkickle, however, has always
been residential and continues to be so. There
are now a few bed and breakfasts and hotels.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

9

3

Character

3.1

Built Environment

The Conservation Area has some outstanding
architecture, predominantly spanning a
hundred years from the late C18 to the late
C19. The buildings are virtually all large
residences of the upper middle classes - sea
captains, merchants and professionals. They
were designed to impress and sited to take
advantage of the exceptional views towards
the sea or westwards. Whilst the houses have
many common attributes, they show a range of
architectural styles that nevertheless create a
cohesive and attractive whole.

3.1.1 Architectural Quality and Built Form
(see Plan 3 on page 34)

Page 130

Corkickle Conservation Area is unusual in
that a very high proportion of its buildings
are listed. There are 26 listed entries that
encompass many individual buildings
(see Appendix 1). Most unlisted buildings
nevertheless make a positive contribution
to the architectural and historic significance
of the Conservation Area as shown on
Plan 3 on page 34. A building can make
a positive contribution because of its
historical or architectural interest, even
though this may not be apparent at first
sight.

Front and Back Corkickle

A building that is described as making
neither a strong positive or a negative
contribution, i.e. is neutral, should
nevertheless be considered to contribute
to the Conservation Area. No buildings
have been identified as making a negative
contribution.
Doorway 17 Front Corkickle

10

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

These streets run uphill, parallel to each other
converging at their south-eastern end on the
corner site now occupied by Bethany House.
Although Back Corkickle is the main road to
Egremont, this residential terrace deliberately
turns its back on this major thoroughfare,
with its front elevation orientated south
westwards to take advantage of the views.
The houses are separated from their gardens
by the narrow road of Front Corkickle so that
the long gardens also enjoy a good aspect.
Originally this road was paved with wooden
setts to reduce the noise of workers’ clogs.
Small forecourts, that were enclosed by cast
iron railings, face Front Corkickle. The terrace
has been developed piecemeal since the late

C18. The individual styles and designs lend
a quirky charm to the street. Most houses are
three storeys, some with sub-basement levels
and others with dormers. Painted render and
stucco with a variety of architectural detailing
predominate, but mostly reflecting classical
simplicity. Door surrounds in particular are
varied from the rounded to the pedimented.

Page 131

The Georgian terraced houses numbered
1-4 (inc) are narrower with a side door, one
window on the ground floor and two on the
first floor. In general, as the street rises
upwards, the houses begin to become larger
and slightly more ostentatious with central
doorways, flanked by windows either side and
three windows on first floor. Numbers 5-6 (inc)
show this expressed in Georgian architectural
language whereas the adjoining number 7,
dated 1874, expresses it with ornate Victorian
exuberance. The late Georgian no 8, with its
large porch and cast iron balconies, is followed
by other Georgian two storied properties. The
terrace culminates in the splendid three storied,
five bayed large mid C18 number 12.

7 Front Corkickle

8 Front Corkickle

The building line changes to back of pavement
in the next terraced block (nos 14-19 inc) after
the lane that links Front and Back Corkickle.
Numbers 15-19 are three storied classical
buildings that date from the early C19 with
the later addition of the Victorian two storied

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

11

occupies the corner site where Front and Back
Corkickle meet and is a landmark visible from
the length of Inkerman Terrace.

Page 132

The varying changes in architectural styles
that share common building lines in a terraced
arrangement simultaneously gives Front
Corkickle a clear identity whilst expressing
an individual and lively character. This is
enhanced by the varying colour palettes used
to paint these rendered buildings. Whilst they
are clearly prestigious buildings, they are
not intimidating. The quiet narrow street with
gardens on the opposite side has an intimate
quality. Back Corkickle lies at the rear of these
properties and is, however, quite another
story as the road is very heavily trafficked
with only a few buildings fronting it. The main
view into Whitehaven on this stretch of the
road therefore consists of rear elevations,
outbuildings and high boundary walls.
Back of pavement building line - Front Corkickle

number 14, which is of a wholly different
composition with its rough cast and dormer
windows.
Bethany House is the former late Victorian
vicarage for St Nicholas Church, which was
destroyed by fire in 1972. It is built of stone
and, unlike the other properties on Front
Corkickle, was not designed to be rendered. It
12

Victoria Terrace is a stuccoed terrace of 3
larger houses leading south-westwards off
Front Corkickle whose views are orientated
north westwards towards the sea.
The land to the east of Back Corkickle slopes
steeply upwards and has some handsome
brick built houses that date from the late C19
- the detached Shrubland and the terrace
of three properties designed to read as one
architectural whole (Dellcroft/Glenfield/Moss
Bank).

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Varying building heights - Front Corkickle

An early C21 residential development
(Garlieston Court and Mews) was built on the
site of the former Garlieston House, a C19 villa
that was demolished in1997. This small estate
has been designed to be sympathetic to the
surrounding Georgian buildings.

Page 133

Bethany House

boot scraper

Top: 1883 – Building plans for Dellcroft, Glenfield and Moss Bank, Back Corkickle
Bottom: as constructed with Shrubland to left.
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

13

Hamilton Terrace and Tower House

Page 134

Corkickle or Tower Brewery was built by
Thomas Piele in 1774, passing through various
ownerships with the last operator being J W
Armstrong. Its use as a brewery ceased in
1932 and the buildings were subsequently
used for various manufacturing purposes,
including ropes and upholstery filling. Now
extended, Tower House is in residential use.
Sited above the junction of Inkerman Terrace
and Foxhouses Road, the tower forms a local
landmark visible from distance.
The listed late Georgian Hamilton Terrace was
named after one of the former brewery owners,
John Hamilton. This impressive terrace shows
classical proportions and symmetry. The
porticoes are a significant feature as they give
a vertical emphasis to the terrace and create
a sense of ordered rhythm. The scored stucco
plaster work at ground floor level, the urns at
roof level and plaster pillars at either end of the
terrace add to its imposing, ordered presence.
Set slightly above the road behind low walling
and railings the terrace accommodates the
change in slope levels by having a subbasement level at its northern end.

Tower House

Hamilton Terrace
14

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Inkerman Terrace

Page 135

All the properties on Inkerman Terrace lie on
the elevated east side of the road and the
majority are semi-detached. They are set
above the main road behind a front garden and
stone boundary walls. The space in front of
the houses diminishes significantly as the road
rises and the houses become smaller (nos 1930). The larger properties (nos 1- 18 inc) are
designed both to see and be seen. Only a few
properties at the south eastern end of the road
are shown on the 1867 first OS edition, but all
are present by the second edition of 1900.
Nos 1-2 are a pair of mid/late C19 listed two
storey semi-detached properties with ground
floor bay windows and paired doorways. The
first-floor arched windows are striking. There
follows a series of three pairs of semi-detached
properties (nos 3-8) that have a very different
architectural language with Gothic influences.
Three storeys in height with steeply sloping
front gabled projections that serve to intensify
the slender verticality of these large semis.
Even the chimneys are tall and the painted
barge boards elongate the buildings still
further. They have ground floor bay windows
and paired doorways. The render of each of
the six properties is painted in different colours
with contrasting colours on the quoins. The
architectural themes of nos 3-8 are picked up
in nos 9-10 and 11-12. Whilst both these semi-

detached units have a slightly different style
they nevertheless share the steeply sloping
projecting front gables, painted barge boards
and tall chimneys. Nos 11-12 are unusual in
that they do not have painted render, but are of
stone. As a whole, Nos 1-12 have a powerful
presence particularly as they are clearly visible
from a long distance, seeming to march up the
hillside.
The access road to Ghyll Bank House provides
a break in the street pattern as the road turns
eastwards up the hill. Nos 13 -18 again are
three pairs of semi-detached properties, but of

1-2 Inkerman Terrace

a completely different style. Although mid C19,
they show a classical restraint and have more
in common with the Georgian properties
elsewhere in the Conservation Area. Two
storied with paired portico doorways and
decorative window drip moulds. The four
semi-detached properties, nos 19-26, also
have paired doorways and decorative drip
moulds although they are smaller properties.
The late C19 terrace of four properties at
the south-eastern end of this road also
has decorative plaster door and windows
surrounds.

3-8 Inkerman Terrace

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

15

Page 136
16

Steep gables of 1-12 Inkerman Terrace viewed from a distance (J Pritchard)

11-12 Inkerman Terrace

25-30 Inkerman Terrace

17-18 Inkerman Terrace

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

On the southern side of Inkerman Terrace are
three individual detached properties of different
styles and ages from the inter-war Mechlin to
the 1882 Glennard.
The Retreat

Page 137

The row of three colourful listed late Georgian
properties is set apart down a lane, The
Retreat, and the properties have a mainly
north-westerly orientation. There are
several C20 properties on the lane between
Foxhouses Road and The Retreat.

Mechlin

Foxhouses Road
With its grand villas, the properties on
Foxhouses Road appear Georgian however
only the properties at its southern end (1920, 22-23 and Meadow House) and Waterloo
Terrace (11-16 inc) are shown on Wood’s
1830 plan. The remainder were largely built
later in the mid C19 despite reflecting similar
architectural characteristics. In 1822 Sir
William Lowther of Sivillington inherited the
Lowther estate and immediately began selling
off plots on Foxhouses Road.

Glennard

1-3 The Retreat

The pair of two storey Georgian cottages at
22-23 and 19-20 Foxhouses Road are modest
and reflect a simple vernacular style with
plain stone painted window surrounds and
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

17

doorways. They front straight onto the road
at the back of pavement line. Meadow House
is gable end on to the street and is altogether
far more prestigious with its porchway and
arched hall light. Together, they form a group
that would not be out of place in a rural setting,
which is hardly surprising as this area would
have been quite rural when the properties
were built.

Page 138

By contrast the six properties of Waterloo
Terrace are self-consciously designed to
impress. Mostly four storied, they have curved
staircases with metal railings leading up to the
entrance level with impressive doorways. The
central two properties command the symmetry
of the terrace with their shared portico and
pediment at roof level. Most windows are 8/8
sashes that have commanding views south
westwards over the Pow Beck Valley. They still
have their long rear gardens leading right up to
Inkerman Terrace as well as their front gardens
on the other side of the road. The detached
property at number 10 in the Gothic style is
thought to have originally been a coach house.

Meadow House, Foxhouses Road

22-23 Foxhouses Road
18

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Page 139

19-20 Foxhouses Road

Waterloo Terrace, Foxhouses Road

17-18 Foxhouses Road

10 Foxhouses Road

Waterloo Terrace, Foxhouses Road

8-9 Foxhouses Road

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

19

No 3 is a large early Victorian double-fronted
villa with its bay windows that contrast with
the classical Georgian style. Numbers 8-9
are also Victorian and are the only properties
in the road to use ashlar block sandstone as
a decorative detail in the design of its bay
windows.

Page 140

At the northern end of the street numbers
1-2 provide quite a delightful contrast to the
ostentatious villas. They are a pair of early
Gothic revival cottages with crenelated
portico doorways and drip moulds around the
windows although marred by inappropriate roof
dormers.
Numbers 1-10 have back gardens leading up
to Inkerman Terrace and small front forecourts,
but, unlike Waterloo Terrace, they do not have
gardens on the opposite side of Foxhouses
Road. Originally there were fields on the
western side, then later allotments before
the land was finally developed post war as a
housing estate.

3.1.2

Materials

Given the underlying geology of the pale
brownish grey carboniferous Whitehaven
sandstone, it is hardly surprising that many
of the older buildings are constructed of this
material. Most of the Georgian and Victorian
buildings were built of random stone and
typically covered with a lime render and
lime washed to make them more weather
resistant. Today many of the rendered houses
are brightly painted that adds liveliness to
the area’s character. By contrast the door
and window surrounds were often of dressed
sandstone although most have been painted
over the years. Plaster stucco and render is
the predominant external building material
that makes a strong contribution to the
Conservation Area’s character.
A few Victorian buildings on Inkerman Terrace
and Foxhouses Road have used sandstone
as a contrasting material and the late C19
Bethany House and Laurel Bank are of
sandstone. The one radical exception to
this are the group of properties to the east
of Back Corkickle – the late C19 Shrubland
and the Dellcroft/Glenfield/Moss Bank terrace
that are constructed of brick and decorative
architectural faience.
Local and Welsh slate roofs are common
throughout the area as are chimneys and cast
iron railings and rain water goods.

20

1-2 Foxhouses Road

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

cast iron rain water goods

3.2

Public Realm
(see Plan 4 on page 35)

Page 141

3.2.1 Views/Vistas/Glimpses
Most of the houses have been built to take
advantage of long vistas, mainly to the
south west. Inkerman Terrace is a gateway
entrance to Whitehaven and the panoramic
views coming down the hill towards the sea
and Pow Beck Valley create a strong visual
impression. This is enhanced by the lack of
development on the western side of the road,
which is largely the back gardens of houses

Views north westwards from The Retreat

on Foxhouses Road below and a field. There
are also good views out from Foxhouses
Road across the valley, in part due to gardens
opposite numbers 12-16, but mainly because
the later development on the western side of
the road is set down from road level due to the
sloping topography of the area.
Being built on a hillside, there is a graduated
order of the roads that creates a layering effect
with the roofs of Foxhouses Road properties
being seen against the base of Inkerman
Terrace houses. The buildings on these

streets and Front/Back Corkickle are visible
from outside of the Conservation Area, which
is a significant factor. Nowhere is this truer
than of 1-12 Inkerman Terrace which, as has
already been noted, has a powerful presence.
These properties are clearly visible from a long
distance, seeming to march up the hillside.
This sense is quite literally heightened due to
their vertical emphasis and the steeply sloping
projecting front gables, painted barge boards
and tall chimneys. Tower House is also easily
identifiable from outside of the Conservation
Area.

View towards Whitehaven harbour from Inkerman Terrace A5094
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

21

Page 142

Views within the Conservation Area are
not only about grand vistas. Once past the
landmark of Bethany House at the apex of
Front and Back Corkickle, views from the
main A5094 road become slightly oppressive
as they are tunnelled down Back Corkickle
with the rear of properties to the west and
high stone boundary walls to the east and
no obvious focal point other than the Esso
garage. Once past this point, the views then
open out towards Whitehaven Castle and the
town centre.
Views from Front Corkickle are both long
distance towards the town centre and the sea.
At the same time, they are also more intimate
because the narrow road and gardens create
their own distinctive micro environment and
sense of place. This is also true to a lesser
extent in The Retreat and the narrow stone
steps leading down to Foxhouses Road.
Here the contrast between panoramic vistas
and glimpses invite exploration. The scale
of the villas on Foxhouses Road and their
rear gardens allows for many glimpses up to
Inkerman Terrace.

3.2.2

The main A5094 road into Whitehaven runs
down Inkerman Terrace and Back Corkickle,
which is the primary public transport route.
It is heavily trafficked, which makes it an
unattractive pedestrian route and detracts
from an appreciation of the built environment
at street level. The tunnelling effect on Back
Corkickle is rather oppressive. The junction
with the Loop Road South is utilitarian and
creates a poor gateway into Whitehaven
although there is scope for improvement on
the north side of the junction adjacent to 32
Inkerman Terrace.
Glimpse of Inkerman Terrace from Foxhouses Road

Glimpse down The Retreat
22

Roads and Paths

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Road surfaces are mostly tarmacked except
for Front Corkickle which is paved with setts.
The path between The Retreat and Foxhouses
Road is constructed of stone with brick setts by
way of surfacing. Stone kerb edgings and setts
help define and differentiate the streetscape,
giving it more of a sense of place.

Page 143

Paved road setts - Front Corkickle

Junction of A5094 and Loop Road South

East boundary wall - Back Corkickle

A5094
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

23

3.2.3

Boundaries

Page 144

It is not only building materials that contribute
to the character of the Conservation Area.
Boundaries, whether they be stone walls or
cast iron railings, have a strong role to play in
adding richness to the historic environment.
Traditional stone boundary walls are a
common and distinctive feature varying in
heights from the high walls on the east side
of Back Corkickle to lower front garden walls

often topped with railings as on Foxhouses
Road. On either side of Inkerman Terrace
stone boundary walls channel the road and
separate the houses, which are at a higher
level, from the street itself. These stone
boundaries are not only practical retaining
walls to aid development on slopes, but also
serve to create a demarcation between the
public and private environments.

The Retreat - Stone steps

The Retreat - Brick surface
24

Railings - Front Corkickle

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Boundary walls - east side of Back Corkickle

3.3
3.3.1

Natural Environment
Open Spaces

Page 145

There are few open spaces in the
Conservation Area as it is characterised by
large houses set in gardens. Two managed
areas of greenery, mature trees and planting
are opposite each other where Foxhouses
Road meets Inkerman Terrace. They help
create a sense of space in the centre of the
Conservation Area, which is otherwise quite
linear in nature.

Managed open space opposite Tower House

3.3.2

Trees

Except for the trees in the two managed open
spaces, there are no street trees, however
there are a large number in private gardens.
Being mostly deciduous, the changing leaves
of the trees underscores the passage of
the seasons and offers different views and
glimpses over the year.

Development on western side of Inkerman Terrace
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

25

4 Key Characteristics

5 Summary of Issues

• Predominantly private houses developed
over the hundred years between the late
C18 and C19 as a suburb of Whitehaven.

• Very high number of pre-1919 properties
that contribute to the historic and
architectural character of the Conservation
Area. Unsympathetic alterations and
materials over time have undermined this,
which is particularly an issue for listed
buildings.

• Linear nature of historic ribbon
development on east side of roads, often
with gardens on western side. No defined
centre.

Page 146

• Very high number of listed buildings.
• Range of architectural styles and periods,
mostly spanning Georgian, Regency and
Victorian architecture.
• Large, prestigious properties set back from
the road often behind sandstone walls or
forecourts.
• Coloured painted rendered elevations add
liveliness to streetscape.
• Significant views into and out of the
Conservation Area, some of strategic
importance (Plan 4 on page 35).
• Sandstone boundary walls .

26

• Any potential development on the western
side of Inkerman Terrace could adversely
impact the Conservation Area unless
carefully designed.
• Poor gateway to Whitehaven at junction of
A5094 and the Loop Road South. Scope
for improvements on land adjacent to 32
Inkerman Terrace.
• Weak northern gateway to the
Conservation Area at the corner of Back
Corkickle and Coach Road.
• Need to ensure that long distance vistas
into and out of the Conservation Area are
maintained.
• Guidance on paint colours for rendered
buildings and the potential need for listed
building consent.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

We are keen to protect the heritage that we
share. To that end, we have commissioned
a Conservation Area Design Guide that is
intended to help property owners, designers
and developers achieve good, respectful
design. This is anticipated to be adopted as
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
in winter 2017/18. We will use the SPD, this
appraisal and any funding opportunities that
might present themselves in the future to
work in partnership to enhance and celebrate
Corkickle Conservation Area.

Appendices

Page 147
Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

27

Appendix 1 Gazetteer of Statutory Listed Buildings and Features

Page 148
28

List entry
number

Building name/
Location
number

Grade

Date of
listing

Date of
construction

1336014

1 – 3 inc

Retreat

II

13/09/1972

Late Georgian

1086756

17,18

Inkerman Terrace

II

13/09/1972

Mid C19

Nos 13 to 18 (inc) form a group.

1086755

15,16

Inkerman Terrace

II

13/09/1972

Mid C19

Nos 13 to 18 (inc) form a group.

1086754

13,14

Inkerman Terrace

II

13/09/1972

Mid C19

Nos 13 to 18 (inc) form a group.

1086753

1, 2

Inkerman Terrace

II

13/09/1972

Mid C19

1335980

1 - 6 inc

Hamilton Terrace

II

13/09/1972

Late Georgian

1086785

22,23

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

Late Georgian

1279650

Meadow House

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

Late C18

1207576

19, 20, 20a

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

C18 ?

Nos 1 to 2OA (consec), Nos 21 and 23 form a group.

1335958

17, 18

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

Victorian

Nos 1 to 20A (consec). Nos 22 and 23 form a group.

1086784

11-16

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

C18

1207556

10

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

1335997

8, 9

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

Built as a single composition, in a terrace Nos 1 to
20A (consec). Nos 22 and 23 form a group.
Probably once a coach-house Gothic style.
Nos 1 to 20A (consec), Nos 22 and 23 form a group.
Nos 1 to 20A (consec), Nos 22 and 23 form a group.

1086783

6, 7

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

c1790

1207526

4, 5

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

c1790

Semi-detached villas Nos 1 to 20A (consec), Nos 22
and 23 form a group.
Semi-detached villas Nos 1 to 20A (consec), Nos 22
and 23 form a group.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Notes

Late Georgian cottages, built as a pair.

Page 149

List entry
number

Building name/
Location
number

Grade

Date of
listing

Date of
construction

1086782

3

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

c1840

1279704

1, 2

Foxhouses Road

II

13/09/1972

c1800

1336004

1-3

Victoria Terrace

II

13/09/1972

c1830 ?

1279618

15-19

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

1st half of C19.

1086788

12

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

mid C18

1335960

9-11

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

Late Georgian.

1086787

8

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

1207695

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

1366075

Railings and
small iron gate
at front of No 8
7

Late Georgianearly Victorian.
Late Georgianearly Victorian.

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

1874

1086786

5, 6

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

Late Georgian.

1335959

1-4

Front Corkickle

II

13/09/1972

Late Georgian.

Notes
Large early Victorian double-fronted villa, Nos 1 to
20A (consec), Nos 22 and 23 form a group.
Semi-detached villas Nos 1 to 20A (consec), Nos 22
and 23 form a group.
Stuccoed terrace of 3 larger houses
A terrace, but not identical houses. Nos 1 to 12
(consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec) form a group.
Nos 1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec)
form a group.
Nos 1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec)
form a group
Nos 1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec)
form a group
Nos 1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec)
form a group
Dated 1874, in a terrace of earlier C19 houses Nos
1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec) form a
group.
Identical pair of late Georgian houses in terrace.Nos
1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec) form a
group.
Nos 1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec)
form a group.
Nos 1 to 12 (consec) and Nos 15 to 19 (consec)
form a group.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

29

Appendix 2

Planning Policy Context

The general thrust of national and local
planning policy is that the historic environment
is a precious resource that should be
conserved. Once lost, it is gone forever. Policy
recognises, however, that historic buildings
and areas are, and always have been, subject
to alteration and adaption over time and that
the greater the significance of an historic asset,
the more it should be conserved.

Page 150
30

To manage change effectively local planning
authorities, like the Council, need to
understand what is important about a building,
structure or area. A character appraisal helps
us appreciate what is significant about a
conservation area so that we can assess
the impact of a development proposal on
that significance. This appraisal will be used
as background material when considering
planning applications and appeals.

National planning policy regarding
conservation areas can be found in:

Policy ENV4 – Heritage Assets

• Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (s 69-76)

The Council’s policy is to maximise the
value of the Borough’s heritage assets by:

• National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (2012) paras 126 -141 and

A Protecting listed buildings, conservation
areas and other townscape and rural
features considered to be of historic,
archaeological or cultural value

• National Planning Policy Guidance
(NPPG) – Conserving and enhancing the
historic environment (2014).
This is reflected at a local level in:
• Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028:
Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2013)
Local Plan Policies ENV4 Heritage Assets
and DM27 Built Heritage and Archaeology
are of direct relevance to the Conservation
Area. The Council has also commissioned
a Conservation Area Design Guide that is
intended to help property owners, designers
and developers achieve good, respectful
design. This is anticipated to be adopted as
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in
winter 2017/18.

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

B Supporting proposals for heritage led
regeneration, ensuring that any listed
buildings or other heritage assets
are put to an appropriate, viable and
sustainable use
C Strengthening the distinctive character
of the Borough’s settlements, through
the application of high quality urban
design and architecture that respects
this character and enhances the
settings of listed buildings
Policy DM27 supports this policy, setting out
the Council’s approach to development which
affects built heritage and archaeology.

Policy DM27 – Built Heritage and
Archaeology

A Development proposals which protect,
conserve and where possible enhance
the historic, cultural and architectural
character of the Borough’s historic sites
and their settings will be supported.
This will be particularly relevant in the
case of:
i) Scheduled Ancient Monuments

Page 151

ii) Conservation Areas
iii) Listed Buildings and structures
iv) Non-listed buildings and structures
or landscape features of local heritage
and archaeological value
v) Surface and below ground
archaeological deposits
B Development proposals which have
a significant adverse effect on a
Scheduled Ancient Monument or
its wider site or setting will not be
permitted
C Development within Conservation
Areas will only be permitted where it
preserves or enhances the character
or appearance of the area and, where

appropriate, views in and out of the
area. The Council will pay particular
attention to:
i) How new development respects the
character of existing architecture and
any historical associations, landscape
features, open spaces, trees, walls and
quality of townscape
ii) The impact of any proposed works
to trees with regard to policy DM28
iii) The design of any proposals for new
or altered shopfronts and / or signage,
which should be an integral part of the
design and avoid the use of internally
illuminated signage
D Development which affects Listed
Buildings or their setting will only be
permitted where it:
i) Respects the architectural and
historic character of the building
ii) Avoids any substantial or total
demolition, or any demolition that is
not related to proposed development
affecting the building

iv) Involves a change of use to all or part
of the listed building which contributes
to the conservation and overall
economic viability of the building, and
where the use can be implemented
without any adverse alterations to the
building
E Any development proposal which
is considered to affect an existing
or potential site of archaeological
importance will be required to be
accompanied by an archaeological
assessment. Where archaeological
deposits are evident, below ground or
on the surface, evidence should be
recorded and where possible preserved
in-situ. Proposals for development
where archaeological interest has been
established will not be approved until
evidence has been provided that the
risk of archaeological disturbance has
been adequately investigated and has
been minimised. Planning permission
will not be granted if the impact on
potential archaeology is unacceptable.

iii) Does not have a significant adverse
effect on the setting or important views
of the building

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

31

Appendix 3

Bibliography

Copeland Borough Council

Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028: Adopted Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (2013)
Whitehaven: Seeing the History in the View (2012)

Historic England

Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)
Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (2016)
Advice Note 7: Local Heritage Listing (2016)

Page 152
32

Pesvner N

The Buildings of England: Cumberland and Westmorland (1967)

RCHM England

Whitehaven 1660 – 1800 (1991)

Websites used
Heritage Gateway

http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/

Historic England Archive

http://archive.historicengland.org.uk/default.aspx

Historic England Pastscape

http://www.pastscape.org.uk/default.aspx

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Appendix 4

Contacts

For any further information please contact:
Copeland Borough Council
Market Hall
Market Street
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

Tel:

01946 598 300

Page 153

Email: info@copeland.gov.uk
Twitter: @copelandbc
Web:

www.copeland.gov.uk

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

33

Plan 3 - Building Quality

Key
Conservation Area
boundary
Positive townscape
quality
Listed Building

Page 154
34

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Plan 4 - Landscape Analysis

Key
Conservation Area
boundary
Important spaces
Urban green spaces
Visible from long
distance
Bad Gateways
Landmark

Page 155

Long vistas
Deflected views
Glimpses
Views

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

35

Page 156

Corkickle Conservation Area Character Appraisal
August 2017

Copeland Borough Council
Market Hall
Market Street
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG
Tel:
01946 598 300
Email: info@copeland.gov.uk
Twitter: @copelandbc
www.copeland.gov.uk

Page 157

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area
Review of South Whitehaven
August 2017

Contents

1

Introduction

4

Appendix 1
Appendix 2

2

Location and Landscape Setting

4

3

Historical Development

6

4

Character Analysis

8

Plan 1

5

Summary of Issues and Threats

20

Plan 2

Appendix 3

Page 158

Plan 3
Plan 4

Planning Policy Context
Bibliography and Sources of Further
Information
Contacts

22
24

South Whitehaven Study Area
Boundary
Location of South Whitehaven within
Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation
Area
Building Quality
Townscape Analysis

3

25

5

26
27

Acknowledgements
We are grateful to the staff at the Cumbria Archives
& Local Studies Centre (Whitehaven) who permitted
the reproduction of several of the plans within this
document.

This document has been prepared by:

2

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Plan 1 - South Whitehaven Study Area Boundary
Key
Whitehaven Town
Centre Conservation
Area Boundary
South Whitehaven
Study Area

Page 159
Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

3

1

Page 160
4

Introduction

As part of the Whitehaven Town Centre
Heritage and Design series a Conservation
Area Character Appraisal was produced
in 2009. Due to changes that have taken
place since that time and in view of potential
development to the south of the Conservation
Area, we have commissioned a review of an
area, described as South Whitehaven (Plan 1,
page 3), as an addendum to the Whitehaven
Town Centre Conservation Area Character
Appraisal (see Appendix 2 Bibliography on
page 24).
The purpose of this review is to look in detail
at an area that is partially covered by the
character areas described in the Whitehaven
Town Centre Conservation Area Character
Appraisal as “Old Town” (pages 25-29),
“Georgian Grid-Iron” (pages 30-37) and “The
Flatt” (pages 38-40). It is not the intention
of the review to reiterate the context and
background to South Whitehaven as that
is already well covered in the Character
Appraisal. Rather, its aim is to examine the
character of this sub-area as it is now in
2017. This is so that we can protect South
Whitehaven from development that may harm
its historical or architectural character, which
national legislation and guidance requires
us to do. Whilst the primary legislation has
remained the same since 2009, there have
been changes in planning policy with the

introduction of the National Planning Policy
Framework 2010 and, at local level, with the
Copeland Local Development Framework
2013 and its supporting Supplementary
Planning Documents (SPDs), particularly the
Whitehaven Town Centre and Harbourside
SPD 2012. Appendix 1 outlines the current
conservation area policy context.
This appraisal has been prepared following
a detailed assessment of the area using
Historic England’s guidance (2016) on the
production of conservation area character
appraisals. It analyses South Whitehaven’s
special architectural and historic interest and
should be read in conjunction with the plans at
the back showing an assessment of building
quality (Plan 3, page 26) and a townscape
assessment (Plan 4, page 27). Whilst every
effort has been made to highlight those
features that contribute towards the special
character, it is not possible, or desirable, in
a document like this to record everything.
Where buildings, views or open space are
not specifically mentioned it should not be
assumed that they are of no visual or historic
interest.

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Queen Street

2

Location and Landscape Setting

As the name suggests, South Whitehaven is
the most southerly area within Whitehaven
Town Centre Conservation Area (Plan 2) and
is bounded by Whitehaven Castle in the east,
Swingpump Lane/Preston Street in the west,
Queen Street in the north and Pow Beck Valley
to the south. The primary routes are Lowther
Street/Flatt Walks in the east and the B 5345
Swingpump Lane/Preston Street in the west,
with Irish Street being a very well used one
way east/west vehicular route.

Plan 2 - Location of South Whitehaven within Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area

Page 161

Like the wider Conservation Area, South
Whitehaven is relatively flat and lies within Pow
Beck Valley and is bounded by wooded hills to
east and west. This makes for significant views
into, across and out of the study area.

Key
Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area Boundary
South Whitehaven Study Area

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

5

3

Historic Development

Page 162

Whitehaven’s historical development is
outlined in section 4.0 of the Character
Appraisal (pages 8-14). Focussing in on
South Whitehaven’s spatial development it
is immediately apparent that this has long
been an area of very mixed uses and falls
broadly into two areas – the medieval and later
Georgian planned town and the area beyond
to the south further along Pow Beck Valley.
In terms of street pattern the historic planned
town layout can be seen in the north-east/
south-west orientated Queen and Irish Streets
and the main north-west/south-east route of
Lowther Street. Whitehaven’s medieval street

pattern centred on Market Place and the
Pow Beck and the “new” development had to
interface with old tenancies. In 1665 Sir John
Lowther’s agent, Thomas Tickell, granted a
plot to the south west of the new development
that lay on a lane running alongside the north
side of Hodgson’s Croft, a large and irregular
tenement. Tickell Lane became known as
Queen Street and its alignment seems to have
determined parts of Irish Street. Lowther later
bought Hodgson’s Croft in 1672, but by this
time the angle of the new street line had been
established.

“All land lying near this Town I
am desirous to buy particularly
Hodgson’s Croft.”
Sir John Lowther writing to his agent,
Thomas Tickell in 1666

1st OS edition 1867
6

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Lowther Street linked the town to Whitehaven
Castle and was the main route to Egremont.
A wide, prestigious road some 16 yards wide,
Lowther Street was designed to impress and
construction on it began in 1687. Irish and
Scotch Streets lay alongside the boundary
wall to Whitehaven Castle, or The Flatt is it
is more locally known, that was built in 1696.
At that time, the castle was owned by the
Fletcher family and was subsequently bought
and extended by Sir John Lowther in 1675. In
1769-70 the current Whitehaven Castle was
built by the Lowther family in an early Gothic
Revival style. Despite its name the building

has never operated as a castle, but was
designed as a mansion. It was later used as a
hospital before being converted into its current
form as apartments whilst still maintaining its
architectural character.

Page 163

By 1718 parts of the wall had been breached
to accommodate new development along Irish
Street that took place in the early C18 in a
piecemeal way based on the sale of parcels
of land. Howgill Street running southwards off
Irish Street was in place by 1770 (Hodkinson’s
engraved plan of Whitehaven).

2nd OS edition 1900

The extension of Catherine Street westwards
into the study area however, came much later
and is evident on the 1926 OS plan. Much of
Mill Street and Richmond Terrace are shown
on the 1867 OS plan as is the recreational use
at Castle Meadows. Except for Howgill Street,
Catherine Mill and the residential development
immediately to the south of it around Mill
Street, the area between the south of Irish
Street and the recreation ground has had
varying mixed uses over time with residential
streets sitting next to retail, commercial and
large scale office development and civic
buildings. Preston Street Goods Station and

railway lines once occupied a considerable
amount of land as did Newtown Foundry to
the west of Preston Street. There were several
timber yards, a military barracks, a drill hall as
well as other commercial uses. By 1900 there
was an infirmary to the north of the goods
station. This changing flux of mixed uses in
this southern part of South Whitehaven has
continued right up to present day, now with
Morrisons and Copeland Borough Council’s
offices lying within it. This diversity is part of
the area’s character and the variety of uses
is expressed in a wide range of architectural
design and building scales.

OS edition 1926
Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

7

4

Character Analysis

Page 164

There are eighteen listed entries that
encompass many individual buildings
(see Appendix 1 of the Whitehaven Town
Centre Conservation Area Character
Appraisal 2009). Most unlisted buildings
nevertheless make a positive contribution
to the architectural and historic
significance of the Conservation Area as
shown on Plan 3 on page 26. Identifying
them as making a positive contribution is
not a reflection of them necessarily being
attractive or even in sound structural
condition. A building can make a positive
contribution because of its historical or
architectural interest, even though this
may not be apparent at first sight.

Lowther, Queen, Irish, Roper and Howgill
Streets in the northern, older part of South
Whitehaven have a quite different feel to the
rest of the area and have more in common
with the main town centre. The development
pattern reflects the plots of land that were sold
by the Lowther family in the C17 and C18 for
development. As is noted in the Character
Appraisal (page 10), the development of
Whitehaven is unusual for a planned town
in that the Lowther family did not retain land
ownership. Neither was there a deliberate
attempt to control architectural design, but

Sir John Lowther did introduce a number
of building regulations from 1699 onwards.
They stipulated that buildings had to front the
street, be constructed in terraces and be of
three storeys in height. These regulations give
a sense of cohesion within which there is a
variety of individual architectural expression.
The understated elegance and classical
influences on Georgian architecture are
everywhere to be seen in these streets.

Three buildings have been identified
as making a negative contribution
and consideration should be given
to redeveloping these sites more
sympathetically when the occasion
arises. The Whitehaven Town Centre and
Harbourside SPD 2012 sets out design
principles to guide development. A building
that is described as making neither a
strong positive nor a negative contribution,
i.e. is neutral, should nevertheless
be considered to contribute to the
Conservation Area.
Whitehaven Castle - early Gothic Revival style
8

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Page 165

The central doorway and regular patterns
of sash windows help to unify terraces and
lend a vertical emphasis and rhythm to the
streetscape, even on large buildings such as
the offices of the Whitehaven News on Queen
Street. The wall to window ratio is significantly
lower than the vernacular buildings that
preceded them thanks to technological
developments of the period. The Georgian
multi paned fenestration pattern was typically
six over sash without horns and there still are
numerous buildings with this pattern although
many are replacement windows.

The vertical emphasis and liveliness of these
terraces is also enhanced by the colourful
painting of the render of individual buildings.
Contrasting colours are used to pick out
window and door surrounds and other
architectural features, such as quoins and
cornices. Painting of render is a tradition that
applies equally to Georgian and Victorian
buildings as well as to modern ones.

Queen Street - strong vertical emphasis

Richmond Terrace - multi coloured houses within a single terrace
Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

9

Despite the Lowther family’s attempts at
controlling features of development, there
are nevertheless several properties that are
set back from the back of pavement line,
even within a terrace. They sometimes have
impressive external stairways leading up
from the street level to the main front door
flanked by cast iron railings. The most notable
exception to the regulations is the former
YMCA building, 44-5 Irish Street, which is well

set back with projecting extensions on either
side creating a small forecourt area. There are
also a number of properties that front gable
end on to the street, adding variety. A few
are two storeys in height, but most follow the
three-storey pattern even though the varying
floor to ceiling depths result in differing heights
of buildings. Again, this adds liveliness and
interest. Chimneys are a standard feature on
historic buildings.

Page 166
Queen Street (left) and Howgill Street (right) - properties set
back from common building line
10

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Irish Street - gable end properties enclosing
front facing terrace

new residential development of a pastiche
architectural style. Building restoration in the
town centre shows the evolving nature of
conservation philosophy and practice. There
are still some buildings that suffer from a
lack of maintenance, which is leading to their
decay.

Diversity of detailing within a terrace Irish Street

Ornate Renaissance Italianate style 19/20 Irish Street

Page 167

By the late C20 Whitehaven’s architectural
heritage was in a poor condition. The town has
been able to attract considerable regeneration
funding over the last 30 years and a great
many buildings have been, and continue
to be, repaired and restored. Sometimes,
however, it is not always clear what is a heavily
restored and renovated building and what is

Lack of maintenance resulting in building
decay - Irish Street

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

11

Page 168

The southern part of South Whitehaven’s
built heritage is very diverse reflecting its
mixed uses over time. Catherine Mill (1809),
Mill Street (east side) and most of Richmond
Terrace predate the 1867 1st OS edition map
and form a group of their own. The terraced
dwellings are two storeys in height, except
for the later west side of Mill Street, and are
dwarfed by the powerful presence of the
former mill. Development and its uses have
come and gone in this southern area resulting
in an incoherent sense of place. It is very likely
that this area always did lack a distinct identity

Morrisons car park

12

because much of the land was either in rail,
industrial or commercial uses. What has been
consistent is Whitehaven Castle to the east
and the recreation grounds in Pow Beck Valley
immediately to the south.
Development in the mid/late C20 and early
C21 has been mixed. Some, like the monolithic
Morrisons supermarket set in its sea of car
parking, exhibit little sense of place at all. This
can also be said of some of the buildings on
Preston Street that create a poor gateway
into the town centre (see Plan 4 on page 27).

These areas are referred to in the Whitehaven
Town Centre and Harbourside SPD 2012,
which contains design principles specifically
for these areas. Others, such as the 1969
Civic Hall on Lowther Street, are a conscious
design of their time. More recent development,
however, such as Albion Square, has risen to
the challenge of creating large edge of town
centre buildings whose massing is broken
down and whose design and materials are
sympathetic to their historical setting.

YMCA on Irish Street and Albion Square - modern development
integrating well into the historic environment

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Materials

Page 169

Given the underlying geology of the pale
brownish grey carboniferous Whitehaven
sandstone, it is hardly surprising that many
of the older buildings are constructed of this
material. The nearby St Bees rich red
permo-triassic sandstone is also used on many
traditional buildings. St Bees is a fine grained
and consistently textured sandstone and is
very workable as a building material. When wet
the mica in the stone gives it a sparkling effect
and tends to be used for the more prestigious
buildings.
Civic Hall

Boundary railings - Queen Street

The Copeland Centre terminating the view
along Mill Street

Richmond Terrace

St Bees sandstone – former library Catherine Street

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

13

Page 170
14

Most of the Georgian and Victorian buildings
were built of random stone and typically
covered with a lime render and lime washed
to make them more weather resistant. Today
many of the rendered houses are brightly
painted that adds liveliness to the area’s
character. By contrast the door and window
surrounds were often of dressed sandstone
although most have been painted over the
years. Many houses now have a cementitious
render on them that can make them look
more modern than they are. Traditional roofs

are finished with local Lakeland slate laid in
diminishing courses or regular coursed welsh
slate and are fitted with cast iron rainwater
goods.

Multi coloured painted render - Howgill Street

Damage showing underlying building composition
and inappropriate use of cementitious render Irish Street

It is not only building materials that contribute
to the character of South Whitehaven.
Boundaries, railings, roads and pavements
all have their role to play in adding richness
to the historic environment. Boundary walls in
particular play a large role in the study area.
Traditional stone walls are of varying heights

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

and can be quite high as on Lowther Street
where they help reduce the adverse visual
impact of Morrisons. Stone kerb edgings and
setts define the streetscape and give it a sense
of place.

Cast iron decorative dated rain hopper Roper Street

Page 171
Lowther Street - stone boundary wall and street art

Setts revealed under tarmac

Stone kerb edges

Entrance to rear access lane
Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

15

Views
(see Plan 4 on page 27)

Page 172

As already noted, much of the study area is
relatively flat and low-lying, flanked by hillsides
to both the east and west that permit elevated,
long distance views over South Whitehaven
such as those from Harbour View. In turn
views of these slopes can be seen from many
locations within the study area. Where it exists,
the grid-iron pattern enables numerous views
into and through the area. Lowther Street
formed the central axis of Sir John Lowther’s
design and was intended, as it still does today,

View west from Irish Street towards High Road

Looking across South Whitehaven from Harbour
View towards Whitehaven Castle
16

to visually link Whitehaven Castle with the
harbour – this view is now terminated by the
Crows Nest mast at the end of Lime Tongue.
The significance of the views along Lowther
Street are described in more detail in View 5
of Whitehaven: Seeing the History in the View
2012 document. Elongated and enclosed long
views are also possible along Irish, Queen
and Catherine Streets. The vista north along
Queen Street is dramatically closed by the
elevated church of St James.

View east along Catherine Street towards Crow
Park Wood

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

View from Morrisons car park towards Catherine Mill
and High Road

Whilst the long views are channelled by the
strong building line of the grid iron pattern in
the town centre, this cannot be said of the
area to the south of Catherine Street. The
car parking at Morrisons and near the Sports
Centre make this area visually weak. There are
views south across the recreation ground, but
they are ill defined and unprepossessing.

Page 173

View east up Queen Street with terminating vista of
St James’ Church

Long views northwards down Lowther Street

View south towards recreation ground

Looking east along Queen Street where corner invites exploration
Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

17

The importance of views is not confined to
the dramatic or long distance vistas alone,
but is also to be found in glimpses that invite
exploration. Former coach entrances and
gaps between development, particularly in
the Catherine Street area, create a sense of
intimacy on a human scale that contrasts with
the formal long and wide views.

Open Space and Greenery

Page 174

Although greenery is limited in South
Whitehaven itself, the predominately wooded
hillside to the west of Preston Street and Crow
Park Wood to the east of Whitehaven Castle
gives the area an attractive green backdrop.
There are two large open green spaces Trinity Gardens, located at the junction of
Irish and Roper Streets and Castle Park.
Holy Trinity Church was built in 1714-5 at the
southern end of Roper Street by Sir James
Lowther, however this church was demolished
in 1948 and its site and churchyard were
redeveloped to form a public garden. Whilst
it is arguable that the demolition of the
church significantly altered the built form and
townscape quality of the southern end of
Roper Street, today Trinity Gardens adds a
significant quiet, green space in this part of the
town centre.
Castle Park, to the east, consists of a wide,
open grassed area comprising mature trees,
a bandstand, monuments and ventilation
shafts for the rail tunnel that crosses the park
underground. It provides the setting for the
adjoining listed Whitehaven Castle and blends
into the sloped Crow Park Wood managed by
the Woodland Trust. Together the park and
wood help define the eastern edge of the Pow
Beck Valley.

Former coach entrance, now a pedestrian route - Irish Street and as seen from Catherine Street
18

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Page 175

The legacy of Sir John Lowther’s building
regulations in the northern part of the study
area is that most buildings are located at the
very front of their plots immediately adjacent
to the street. In general, this development
pattern prevented the creation of gardens or
yard space at the front of buildings. Over time
demolition and new development has altered
this historic layout resulting in the creation of
three small areas of public open space that
are largely characterized by hard landscaping
with only minimal greenery. Two are corner
landscaped pockets at the corner of Irish and
Roper Streets and the corner of James and
Irish Street. There is also an L-shaped space
outside the Civic Hall and library extension
on Lowther Street. These public spaces are
well used by pedestrians although few linger
in them. Their irregular form, however, makes
them incongruous features in this Conservation
Area.

Castle Park with Crow Park Wood beyond

Open space - corner of Irish and James

Trinity Gardens

Open space - corner of Roper and Irish Streets

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

19

5

Summary of Issues and Threats

Page 176

Since the main conservation area character
appraisal was produced in 2009, we have been
addressing several issues that were raised in
it and the accompanying management plans.
The Whitehaven Town Centre and Harbourside
SPD (2012) has enabled us to drive up
design standards in the town and the recent
development of Albion Square is a result of this
approach. The Townscape Heritage Initiative
has allowed us to help owners tackle historic
buildings in severe disrepair, such as the
former YMCA building on Irish Street.

• Poor gateways into the town centre in
the Preston Street and Morrisons/south
Lowther Street area
• Negative buildings which erode character
and quality

We are keen to protect the heritage that we
share. To that end, we have commissioned
a Conservation Area Design Guide that is
intended to help property owners, designers
and developers achieve good, respectful
design. This is anticipated to be adopted as
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
in winter 2017/18. We will use the SPD, this
appraisal and any funding opportunities that
might present themselves in the future to
work in partnership to enhance and celebrate
Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area.

There is still much to do and there are several
areas that we are working to address in
conjunction with our partners, namely:
• Gradual erosion of special character due
to incremental loss of traditional materials
and features
• The use of inappropriate modern materials
• Lack of building maintenance and resultant
structural issues
• Underuse of public space
• Loss of historic surface materials
• Underuse and vacancy of historic buildings
• Pastiche modern design

Gap site - James Street
20

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Pastiche modern development - Irish Street

Appendices

Page 177
Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

21

Appendix 1 Planning Policy Context

The general thrust of national and local
planning policy is that the historic environment
is a precious resource that should be
conserved. Once lost, it is gone forever. Policy
recognises, however, that historic buildings
and areas are, and always have been, subject
to alteration and adaptation over time and that
the greater the significance of an historic asset,
the more it should be conserved.

Page 178

To manage change effectively local planning
authorities, like the Council, need to
understand what is important about a building,
structure or area. A character appraisal helps
us appreciate what is significant about a
conservation area so that we can assess the
impact of a development proposal on that
significance. This appraisal will be used when
considering planning applications and appeals.
National planning policy regarding
conservation areas can be found in:

This is reflected a local level in:
• Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028:
Adopted Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2013)
and in documents that underpin it especially:
Whitehaven Town Centre and Habourside
Supplementary Planning Document (2012) and
its background document Whitehaven: Seeing
the History in the View (2012)
Local Plan Policies ENV4 Heritage Assets
and DM27 Built Heritage and Archaeology
are of direct relevance to the Conservation
Area. The Council has also commissioned
a Conservation Area Design Guide that is
intended to help property owners, designers
and developers achieve good, respectful
design. This is anticipated to be adopted as
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in
winter 2017/18.

• Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (s 69-76)
• National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (2012) paras 126 -141 and
• National Planning Policy Guidance
(NPPG) – Conserving and enhancing the
historic environment (2014).

22

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Policy ENV4 – Heritage Assets
The Council’s policy is to maximise the
value of the Borough’s heritage assets by:
A Protecting listed buildings,
conservation areas and other
townscape and rural features
considered to be of historic,
archaeological or cultural value
B Supporting proposals for heritage led
regeneration, ensuring that any listed
buildings or other heritage assets
are put to an appropriate, viable and
sustainable use
C Strengthening the distinctive character
of the Borough’s settlements, through
the application of high quality urban
design and architecture that respects
this character and enhances the
settings of listed buildings

Policy DM27 supports this policy, setting out
the Council’s approach to development which
affects built heritage and archaeology.
Policy DM27 – Built Heritage and
Archaeology

Page 179

A Development proposals which protect,
conserve and where possible enhance
the historic, cultural and architectural
character of the Borough’s historic
sites and their settings will be
supported. This will be particularly
relevant in the case of:
i) Scheduled Ancient Monuments
ii) Conservation Areas
iii) Listed Buildings and structures
iv) Non-listed buildings and structures
or landscape features of local heritage
and archaeological value
v) Surface and below ground
archaeological deposits
B Development proposals which have
a significant adverse effect on a
Scheduled Ancient Monument or
its wider site or setting will not be
permitted

C Development within Conservation
Areas will only be permitted where it
preserves or enhances the character
or appearance of the area and, where
appropriate, views in and out of the
area. The Council will pay particular
attention to:
i) How new development respects the
character of existing architecture and
any historical associations, landscape
features, open spaces, trees, walls
and quality of townscape
ii) The impact of any proposed works
to trees with regard to policy DM28
iii) The design of any proposals for
new or altered shopfronts and / or
signage, which should be an integral
part of the design and avoid the use
of internally illuminated signage
D Development which affects Listed
Buildings or their setting will only be
permitted where it:
i) Respects the architectural and
historic character of the building
ii) Avoids any substantial or total
demolition, or any demolition that is
not related to proposed development
affecting the building

iii) Does not have a significant
adverse effect on the setting or
important views of the building
iv) Involves a change of use to all
or part of the listed building which
contributes to the conservation and
overall economic viability of the
building, and where the use can be
implemented without any adverse
alterations to the building
E Any development proposal which
is considered to affect an existing
or potential site of archaeological
importance will be required to be
accompanied by an archaeological
assessment. Where archaeological
deposits are evident, below ground
or on the surface, evidence should
be recorded and where possible
preserved in-situ. Proposals for
development where archaeological
interest has been established will not
be approved until evidence has been
provided that the risk of archaeological
disturbance has been adequately
investigated and has been minimised.
Planning permission will not be
granted if the impact on potential
archaeology is unacceptable.”

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

23

Appendix 2 Bibliography and Sources of Further Information

Copeland Borough Council

Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028: Adopted Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD (2013)
Whitehaven: Town Centre and Harbourside SPD (2012)
Whitehaven: Seeing the History in the View (2012)
Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)

Page 180

Hay D

Whitehaven An Illustrated History (1987)

Historic England

Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (2016)

Pesvner N

The Buildings of England: Cumberland and Westmorland (1967)

RCHM England

Whitehaven 1660-1800 (1991)

Routledge A

Whitehaven & Around (2016)

Websites used

24

Heritage Gateway

http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/

Historic England Archive

http://archive.historicengland.org.uk/default.aspx

Historic England Pastscape

http://www.pastscape.org.uk/default.aspx

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Appendix 3 Contacts

For any further information please contact:
Copeland Borough Council
Market Hall
Market Street
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

Tel:

01946 598 300

Page 181

Email: info@copeland.gov.uk
Twitter: @copelandbc
Web:

www.copeland.gov.uk

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

25

Plan 3 - Building Quality

Key
Conservation Area boundary
Positive townscape quality
Negative townscape quality
Listed Building

Page 182
26

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

Plan 4 - Townscape Analysis

Key
Conservation Area boundary
Important Spaces
Urban Green Spaces
Public Open Space
Leakage Points
Bad Gateways
Landmark
Long vistas

Page 183

Deflected views
Glimpses
Views

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area © Copeland Borough Council - August 2017

27

Page 184

Addendum to the Whitehaven Town Centre Conservation Area
Review of South Whitehaven
August 2017

Copeland Borough Council
Market Hall
Market Street
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG
Tel:
01946 598 300
Email: info@copeland.gov.uk
Twitter: @copelandbc
www.copeland.gov.uk

